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PGl Profile

Polymer Group, Inc. (PGl) is a global,
technology-driven developer, manufacturer
and marketer of engineered materials. With
sales of over $844 million in 2004, PGl is one
of the world’s leading nonwoven producers.
The company offers the industry’s broadest
range of technologies and operates 21
manufacturing facilities in 10 countries on
four continents.

The world’s leading consumer and industrial
product manufacturers choose PGl to develop
innovative, high-quality engineered materials
for medical, hygiene, wiping, industrial and
specialty uses. PGl employs more than 3,200
individuals, all working to realize the company’s
vision to become the industry leader by providing
customers the best value proposition through
quality production and innovation.
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Manufacturing

© North Little Rock, Arkansas
© Rogers, Arkansas

© Gainesville, Georgia

© Kingman, Kansas

© Guntown, Mississippi

© Landisville, New Jersey

© Benson, North Carolina

© Mooresville, North Carolina
© Clackamas, Oregon '

© Clearfield, Utah

© Waynesboro, Virginia

© Magog, Canada

© North Bay, Canada

© San Luis Potosi, Mexico

© Buenos Aires, Argentina (Partnership)
© Cali, Colombia

© Bailleul, France

© Cuijk, Netherlands

© Neunkirchen, Germany

° Molnlycke, Sweden

© Nanhai, China (Partnership)

Corporate Headquarters
X}North Charleston, South Carolina

Sales by Geographic Area
0O 45% United States

O 24% Europe

O 14% Latin America

0 13% Canada

O 4% Asia
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A Message to Our Shareholders, Customers and Employees

Two years ago, PGl mapped out a multi-faceted
course for long-term success designed to accomplish
stability, improvement and growth. These new
initiatives produced positive results from the start.
Success continued in 2004 bringing broad-based
improvements in every region of the world. We
have huilt a strong foundation and energized the
momentum for growth. Today we are ready to
accelerate our efforts. Now, more than ever, is the
time for PGl to grow.

2004 Highlights
2004 was a time for realizing the results of

our 2003 efforts toward establishing stability and

implementing initiatives to improve our company.

Last year, the business improved significantly. PGl

returned to profitability with annual net income

of $4.7 million, one of many accomplishments in

2004. Other noteworthy achievements include:

a Growing sales by 8.6 percent to $844.7 million.

= Increasing gross profit by 13.4 percent to $153.5
million.

s Boosting operating income to $63.3 million,
$30.7 million higher than 2003.

o Improving sales and profitability consistently
throughout the year with year-over-year
improvements in each of the four quarters of
2004.

= Increasing cash flows from operations to $69.9
million, facilitating a $15.8 million net paydown
of debt and an increase of cash balances to $41.3
million.

= Refinancing our senior secured bank facility which
effectively reduced our annual interest costs by
approximately 50 percent.

= Mitigating a majority of the negative impacts
of significant raw material price increases by
reducing costs, improving the product mix and
increasing prices where necessary.

= Introducing organizational changes to increase
focus on the development of new programs
with new and existing customers, resulting in
expansion of volumes and diversification of our
revenue streams.

A Time to Grow
The market for engineered materials continues

to grow around the world. Nonwoven penetration

rates are increasing in developing regions and
engineered materials are becoming more prevalent
in nontraditional markets. Additionally, within
certain mature markets, demand for our products is
growing in excess of the underlying market as end-
use products evolve and require more nonwovens

per application. Hygiene is a prime example
of an application that requires more nonwoven
components as performance requirements increase.
The global nonwovens market is $14.5 billion,
which is estimated to grow at an annual rate of
approximately 7 percent over the next five years.
The global growth in demand is accompanied by
a requirement for unwavering quality; customers
expect consistent quality from every region of the
world. They also want continuous innovation on a
global basis. PGl has positioned itself to take full
advantage of these trends. This means aligning
our business with the needs of our customers by
delivering world-class quality production along with
targeted innovation. We are well positioned to meet
our customers’ demands for the right product in the
right location at the right price.

Building the Foundation for Growth

In 2004, we took deliberate steps to ensure
our strategies were focused 100 percent on our
customers and our core markets. This focus yielded
significant improvements in relationships with key
customers and our ability to establish strategic
supply relationships with new customers. Because
of these relationships, our business has expanded
organically, incrementally and globally.

Because PGl offers the broadest range of
technologies in the industry, we are able to analyze
our markets and develop solutions based on market
demand without being limited to a specific process
technology. We have been successful matching PGl
capabilities with customer needs, specifically in the
consumer markets where we are the recognized
leader in providing value-added materials for
consumer wipes. To accomplish this, we evaluated
the market need and made distinct adjustments to
Apex® and other technologies, which enabled us to
produce high performance materials at appropriate
cost structures. We made similar adjustments
to serve our industrial and hygiene markets with
expanded coating capacity and custom printing
abilities, among other improvements,

We instituted a disciplined capital investment
program that seeks to maintain the alignment of
product, location, volume and customer. We add
capacity only when there is a defined customer
demand in a given market using technologies where
PGl has a competitive advantage which should
generate an attractive return. To that end, we have
embarked on a significant expansion plan that will
increase our spunmelt capacity to meet hygiene,
medical, and industrial demand. We are adding new
lines in Latin America, Asia and the U.S. in 2005 and




2006. Our capacity expansion in these markets is
strong indicator of growth in both the developing ant
developed/reglons of the world.
—We have chosen to invest in markets consistent
Wlth our strategies. Our most recent success: has ;
come with the installation of the spunmelt linein San-
Luis Potosi, Mexico at the end of 2003. A S|gn|f],cant
amount of the profit growth achieved in 2004-resulted: -
from the successful installation, followed by stepsto
ensure the capacity of the line was committed. As
such, that line is currently running at full capacity and
is expected to contribute to incremental sales and ™
profit growth in 2005.
Conclusion / ;
| am pleased with the broad-based lmprovenrqents
PGl made in 2004. We grew our company’s sales and
improved profitability in each quarter compared to the
prior year. Additionally, we lmplemented a number éf
significant initiatives that we expect will contnbute to
future growth and enable PCl to become ‘the industry
leader. In each phase of our growth, we ensure we
execute on each of PGl’s six core strategies: focusmg -
on our core business, streamlining manufacturmgJ P e
customer-driven innovation, developing‘long- //"/
term partnerships, expanding in key markets and
effectively managing our balance sheet. We have
successfully executed these strategies through our
stabilization and organic improvement phases. We will
continue to build on them to accelerate our growth willis (Billy) C. Moore I
opportunities in the future. Chief Financial Officer
PCl's approximately 3,200 employees continue to
outperform the market, and | am proud of our team’s
capacity for excellence. | want to extend my gratitude
to each of them, as well as to our shareholders, James L. Schaeffer
customers and suppliers for continuing to support 74 Chief Executive Officer
our initiatives. Remarkable things happen when ,{ o
constituents are aligned with the same goal. We; saw
the results of such alignment in 2004, and, ook
forward to continued success in 2005 and beyond

<

Sincerely,

mes-L. Schaeffe
Chief Executive Officer



- developing a variety of products based on its unique technologies toprevide

Growing with Custom

Bt Aligning with industry leaders that have proven
marketing success and distribution channels is a key
component of PGl's strategy. From household names, like
The Proctor & Gamble Co. (P&G), to major segment players,
such as Hanes Industries (Hanes), Donaldson Company, Inc.
and Midwest Filtration Co., PGl believes its success is tied
to the success of its customers.

PGl grows with its customers in two key ways. First,
the company invests strategically to put capacity and technology to work for
customers where they need it most. Second, PGl’'s excellence in quality and
innovation provides these strategic partners with unique value-added products

that enhance their portfolios.

Strategic Invesiments
12004, PGl invested to serve customers in Latin America by installing custom
printing equipment to produce printed backsheet. In Asia, PGl improved the
quality of medical and hygiene products with the installation of an additional
meltblown beam. Additionally, the company made adjustments to technology
to ensure efficient production of high value material for wipes and industrial
applications in the United States and Europe. These are just a few of the examples
of how PGl invests strategically in order to grow with customers.

innovative ,
Keeping a keen eye on marketplace dynamics ar
technologies, PGl grows with customers by delivering 50
highlight PGI's success in partnering with customers for mut ,
Renowned innovator P&G is always looking for ways to make house
faster, easier, and more effective, and state-of-the-art nonwoven cleaning
are central to that mission. PGl helped P&G develop the dry floor cloth fo
award-winning Swiffer® product introduction in 1999. P&GC again turn
2004 to help create its high=performing, next-generation Swiffer® dry floor proe )
with deep cleaning ridges, further erhancing Swiffers® global market leadership.
PCl identified a market need when Californ?i‘n*s%ituted new flame retardant
(FR) regulations for mattresses that went into effect inJa\nuawt began

e
R

high value solutions that meet the requirements of the industry. PGl partnere"
with Hanes, the market leader in supplying nonwovens to the home furnishings
industry, including the mattress sets market. PGl delivered the right material at
the right price to meet the needs of the bedding industry and will continue to work
with Hanes to address new FR standards and to introduce new products for other
bedding and upholstery applications.

“Without courage, there is no growth.”

Abraham Maslow




veloped its award-winning Durapex™ PGI's Aquapex™ filtration product has enabled

marketing partner, Midwest Filtration, to offer its
customers a higher-performing and value-added: § ’
alternative to the traditionally-used medium for

with Donaldson COMMRIg\AR e Welataall:1s pool and spa filtration. This represents the first

supplier of filtration equipmeeig(sNslgelifilacs innovation in this sector in decades.

to produce baghouse filters that not of® Whatever the customer need, PCl is ready with

help to meet EPA's emissions requirements, integrated team of sales, technology, marketing

but produce longer bag life and reduced ans expertise and the institutional

maintenance and energy costs.

vision to make the T e [ILIST T (e} e TTlI 1}



Growi ng Our Ca

Accelerating PGI’'s growth requires increasing its

| capabilities to meet the needs of its customers and to align
' its business priorities with theirs. PGl took a number of steps
in 2004 to accomplish this: expanding in the key areas of
capacity and technology, and introducing new products in
each of the core market segments it serves.

Capacity Expansions
PGl has established itself as a leading world-
producer of spunmelt and has developed proprietary processesto main .
position. Its customers continue to demand more-~volume on a global basis, and, as -
a result, PGl has developed a robust growth plan aimed at meeting customer needs.
PGl's 2004-2006 expansion plans include installing four spunmelt machines around -
the world. The first installation, now complete, was a multiple-beam spunbond line in
Mexico, which went into full production in 2004. Also in 2004, PGl began construction
of a line in Cali, Colombia, which is slated to begin commercial production in the
fourth quarter of 2005. Two additional lines will begin construction in 2005 - one
in Suzhou, China and one in North Carolina, U.S. — and are due to start commercial
production in mid-2006. Each of these lines is capable of producing the highest
qguality material available in the market and utilizing proprietary processes developed
by PGI.

Techrnology Expansions

As a technolog|cal leader, PGl sets the pace in the marketplace by expandmg
its technology offerings through improvements and additions. |
company did both — improving on its patented Apex® technoi"’ - ar
technological capabilities in chemical bonding, printing and coatmg

Recent improvements to Apex® advanced hydroentanglement technology enable
PCI topreduce value-added imaged products for applications such as baby wipes by
increasing the throughput speeds at lighter basis weights.

Advanced chemical bond technology will soon become part of PGl China’s
repertoire with the addition of a n\rhe\m Nanhai that will produce material for the
hygiene and medical markets in Asia. The new line is expected to be fully installed
in the fourth quarter of 2005.

In 2004, PGl installed a flexographic printer in Mexico and began p
hygiene and industrial customers with custom-printed products. The company a
installed a coating line in Argentina that will provide cloth-like backsheet material to
the Mercosur diaper market.

“The object and reward of learning is

continued capacity for growth.”
John Dewey
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%Of imaged baby wipe materiz
using e technology/
\

= Functional and economic flame
material for bedding applicat

= Comfortlace™ feminine hygiene fabrics
offer a customized appearance, greater
absorbency and superior comfort.

ediSoft™ medical fabrics that combine
softness and barrier properties for greater
comfort with a high level of protection.
- Aquapex™, a pleatable polyester filtration _
fabric that provides pool and spa owne

4 blders in
Pereational and

a wide ra k
residential applica
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PGl is one of the world’s leading suppliers of
nonwoven roll goods to the approximately $3 billion
global hygiene market. This market is projected to
expand 5 percent annually over the next five years, with
substantially stronger levels of growth in the world’s
developing regions, such as Asia and Latin America. With
a strong market share in Latin America, North America
and Europe, PGl is well-positioned to take advantage

that growth.

The company’s primary product applications in consimer hygiene include
diapers, feminine care and adult incontinence. Its nonwoven fabrics are key
components of disposable baby diapers, training pants, pantyliners and sanita
napkins.

Diapers B

The approximately $2 billion diaper market is also expected to grow in
excess of 5 percent over the next five years. Growth drivers include increasing
disposable diaper penetration rates and higher nonwoven content per unit as the
diaper continues to evolve in response to consumer performance demands.

PGl participates in this market via several major platforms: top sheet, back
sheet, leg cuff, and sublayer. It supplies most large diaper manufacturers,
including P&G, Kimberly-Clark and Tyco International.

As personal income reaches certain levels, diaper penetration rates increase
exponentially In Mexico, for example, the usage rate for disposable diapers

50 percent. During this same period, PGl’s. Lat rlcan business has grown
from $11.2 million in saies |n 1994‘:to‘ ,m 2004. In Asia, the
penetration rate is und suggestmg this region’s

strong grav\th\petentla

To grow its market shar xpandmg capacity and introducing new,
improved products around the world: “These technology additions and product
improvements will enable PGl to offer customers higher quality hygiene products
and value-added services through expanded capabilities.

“Strength and growth come only through

continuous effort and struggle.”
Napoleon Hill




Aduit Liveonsihence and Feminine Hygiene
\Ov\er/w million people in the U.S. alone are
reported to have some form of incontinence,
and aging baby boomers in the U.S. and graying
populations in Europe and Japan-are providing
additional opportunities for growth.

Bining set of fabrics

"PGls strategy for Q(o he expanding
nsumer hygiene marke 0 continue as a

In the feminine care market, growth is coming ' oadest range of nonwove
primarily from the availability of new products. worklng in- partnershlp with 5 largest customers

In response, PGl introduced Comfortlace™ fabrics, around the world.” \
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Capitalizing on superior technology and close-working
relationships with global consumer products companies, PGl
is the leading producer of nonwoven fabric for the $1.6 billion
global wipes market. This market has exhibited double digit
annual growth historically and is projected to grow in excess
of 5 percent over the next five years, with growth expected to
come primarily in North America and Europe.

PCI primarily competes in the baby, perswgare wipes,d
and household wipes arenas. Additionally, the company markets-d converted line
of wipes under the Chix® brand to industrial, foodservice and janitorial markets.
Selected end products incorporating its materials include consumer, personal care and
cosmetic wipes, clean room and automotive wipés, and home-care wipes.

High-End Position
_Helging shape growth in these markets are the continued demand from converters

“and c@iumers for'value-added product and a shift, particularly in baby wipes, from

older airlaid to /newer spunlace technology. PGl is positioned in both markets as the

high value, high mnovatlon producer, capable of meeting manufacturer and end-user
A/ /
/

-The company is one of the largest producers of spunlace in the world. This position

~ stems from PGl's spunlace technology and from its proprietary Apex® advanced hydro-

entanglement and three-dimensional imaging technologies. Apex® creates wiping
fabrf@ with superior performance characteristics, including better dirt pick-up, loft,
superiog fabric formation, improved thickness to hold chemicals and substrates, and
greateogurabphty and scrubbing power. P&GC’s latest generation of Sw;ffer® ; ‘
deep ridges to enance dirt pick-up, uses PGls Apex® technology.

For continued growth in thIS market PGI mtroduced Sﬁvef‘a{ new wipi

use of advanced chnology. As supply to the: gt@bal Wfﬁes v&fk
has positioned itself in the-value-added market whrch hig
Additionally, PGIs proprleta\:)a/m'ﬁ ek

maintaining key relationships with major European wét=

“There are no great limits to growth
because there are no limits of human

intelligence, imagination and wonder.”
Ronald Reagan
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=i Chicopee units in North America alglel
MMMIMIM rted‘"‘

in t mﬁes(pec"rd t(i,ln
at‘d'actnvenesso ’t&kﬁ' % R

and institutional cleaning market. VI N LS

company maintained its market leadership int=s

European foodservice market and continued to £
grow in other markets, thanks to an outstanding partnerships-agt
relationship with its distributor network. products companies




PGl has large medical market presences in North America
and Europe, where it holds the number two market positions,
and in Asia. The company is a leader in the $1.5 billion global
nonwoven medical supplies market with a long history of high
quality medical production. The market worldwide is expected
to grow approximately 4.5 percent annually over the next five o
years. PGl's customers include Johnson & Johnson, Cardinal

Healthcare, Molnlycke Health Care, andw ~

PGl supplies fabric in this market for such applic@ns«as/disposabie surgical
gowns, isolation gowns, caps, face masks, shoecovers and drapes. Used in hospital
operating rooms, emergency rooms, clinics and doctors’ offices, these end products
both protect healthcare personnel and maintain a sterile environment. The company’s
wound-care fabric is used for gauze, sterile pads and bandages, primarily in healthcare
settings.

PGl is known in this market for its R&D capabilities, breadth of technologies,
extensive knowledge of customer needs and expertise meeting regulatory and other
standards. The company uses a variety of fibers and resins to create thé ¥ meeg
system for medical application.

Growth Trends

Trends impacting this market include increasing demand for local supply in Asia,
as global medical companies continue to shift converting operations there, and the
growing popularity of spunmelt fabric. Spunmelt offers higher fluid barriers than )
traditional spunlace fabric, lighter basis weight and lower cost. It thus meets the o
medical industry’s increasing standards for protection.

PGI\i‘S\i-n\t@orefront of these trends. The company’s medical technologies include
spunmelt in addition to medical grade spunlace and other carded processes. In -
Suzhou, China, the company is starting a new location and line in 2005. Even before ,:"
this startup, PGl is already the largest four-layer spunmelt producer in China. ;

a~
&
&
@

“‘Without continual growth and progress,
such words as improvement, achievement
and success have no meaning.”

Benjamin Franklin
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~—__wear and breathe well. While providing more,

Solving the Spunmelt Paradox

The paradox of spunmelt fabric is that\/‘ applications while exceeding releyant industry
to maximize share it must both serve as a protection standards. Medisoft™ fabrics gfve PGl
protective barrier yet be comfortable - easy to the ability to offer ort and convenignce

of spunlace
Tirotectio\n than spunlace, traditional spunmelt e
fabric tends to feel hot, stiff and uncomfortable, " %' Vgi
particularly after extended use. Applying its i ~
technical know-how to resolve that-paradox, PGl
in 2004 introduced its new Medisoft™ fabfic;
which feels, drapes and breathes more like cloth
while still providing a high level of protection. positioned i M4

Tests show Medisoft™ is 50 percent softer on the management
than standard spunmelt fabrics used in medical
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Growing Our Industris

PGl is pursuing a strategy of expanding through growing
capabilities and new product offerings in the over $8.0 billion
industrial and specialty market for engineered materials.

This market is a composite of industries from agriculture
and automotive to telecommunication and construction for
which PGl makes and supplies unconverted and converted,
nonwoven and woven material. PGl’s products in this
category run the gamut from acoustical headlinern
automotive use to concrete fiber, packaging material, furnitureandfﬁ@is ,
and many more.

In 2004, PGl announced new products, product applications, and allian
several niche markets, including:
= A new industrial air filter line for bag houses using PGl's award-winning

nonwoven fabrics, and a new high performance alternative filter medium,

Aquapex™, for the pool and spa cartridge market. Cartridge filters are rapidly
replacing sand and diatomaceous earth as the filter of choice.

s A new family of moldable polyester fabrics for use as backing material - PGl’s
response to growing demand from luxury car manufacturers for technical fabric
coverings used in automotive headliner and other interior trim applications.

o A family of flame-retardant fabrics that meet California fire codes, for use in home
furnishings such as mattresses, bedding accessories and upholstery. The fabrics,
made with PGl's Apex ® hydroentangling technology, meet California’s new open-
flame mattress standard.

During 2004, PCI focused on building and construction in North and Latin American
markets. The concrete fiber market was a significant source of growth for PGl’s
industrial business in 2004. The result was increased production and expanded
distribution_and sales networks. The company introduced its own QC™ technology
and automated delivery system to the market and continued to expand production of
its Genesis™ SF fibers and Strux™ through a relationship with W.R. Grace.

New product introductions were a key to.growth in construction and roofing
membranes. In addition, PGl's housewrap product lines experienced strong volume

growth throughout Canada, the U.S., and Mexico, continuing to-gain overall market share
In Europe, PGl's Geca-Tapes unit, whose products include staine

water blocking tapes and yarns, and separating tapes, focused on developing closer

relationships with key players. Leveraging strong customer relationships, this unit

“The key to growth is the introduction of
higher dimensions of consciousness into
our awareness.”

Lao Tzuw




introduced a number of né¥ cts, leading | piQugs. ~anekthese markets fhave contributed
directly to a strengthened m2¥g@ position. In N sigrificantly & the company’s ggerall volume

T—___2005, its focus will be on extendifMroduct T O RGBSR R T
PGl is focused-en growing

range. N -
In Latin America, the company has developed s %0 XugE I I [CR e o1 el CR S
its agricultural markets with its proprietary RS gcally tied ,gether‘-’*\'ﬁ'ﬁl underlying
Agribon® and Agriban® crop covers targeted Pnality: t 0 pportunity for growth
to Latin American growers. These products through new and innoVaMe(elslla s
allow improved crop vyields without the need é\ﬁf_:jiﬁt'ered to fill specific customer nedt

for pesticides. They have gained increasing throughout the world
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING THIS FORM 10-K

Readers should consider the following information as they review this Form 10-K:

Fresh Start Accounting

In connection with the Company’s Chapter 11 reorganization, the Company has applied fresh start
reporting to its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 1, 2003 in accordance with Statement of
Position No. 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code” as
promulgated by the AICPA (Reference ltem 1 in the Business section for additional information regarding
the Company’s Chapter 11 reorganization). Under fresh start reporting, a new reporting entity is consid-
ered to be created and the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities are adjusted to reflect their
estimated fair values at the date fresh start reporting is applied. On March 5, 2003, the Company
emerged from Chapter 11. For financial reporting purposes, March 1, 2003 is considered the emergence
date and the effects of the reorganization have been reflected in the accompanying financial statements
as if the emergence occurred on that date. As a result of the application of fresh start reporting, the
financial statements of the Successor Company (as defined herein) are not comparable to the Predeces-
sor Company’s (as defined herein) financial statements.

Safe Harbor-Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time, the Company may publish forward-looking statements relative to matters such
as, including, without limitation, anticipated financial performance, business prospects, technological
developments, new product introductions, cost savings, research and development activities and simi-
lar matters. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements are generally accompanied by words such as “esti-
mate,” “project,” “predict,” “‘believe,” “expect,” “anticipate’ or other words that convey the uncertainty
of future events or outcomes.

[T [T

Various statements contained in this report, including those that express a belief, expectation or
intention, as well as those that are not statements of historical fact are, or may be deemed to be, forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements speak only as of
the date of this report. Unless required by law, the Company does not undertake any obligation to
update these statements and cautions against any undue reliance on them. These forward-looking
statements are based on current expectations and assumptions about future events. While management
considers these expectations and assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently subject to signifi-
cant business, economic, competitive, regulatory and other risks, contingencies and uncertainties, most
of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the Company’s control. There can be no
assurance that these events will occur or that the Company’s results will be as estimated.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in such
forward-looking statements include:

* general economic factors including, but not limited to, changes in interest rates, foreign currency
translation rates, consumer confidence, trends in disposable income, changes in consumer
. demand for goods produced, and cyclical or other downturns;

substantial debt levels and potential inability to maintain sufficient liquidity to finance the Com-
pany’s operations and make necessary capital expenditures;

inability to meet existing debt covenants;

information and technological advances;

changes in environmental laws and regulations;



* cost and availability of raw materials, labor and natural and other resources and the inability to
pass raw material cost increases along to customers;

* domestic and foreign competition;

* reliance on major customers and suppliers; and

risks related to operations in foreign jurisdictions.

Fiscal Year-End

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31. Fiscal 2004 ended
January 1, 2005 and included the results of operations for a fifty-two week period. Fiscal 2003 ended
January 3, 2004 and included the results of operations for a fifty-three week period, which as described
in tem 1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K is comprised of a two month period ended March 1, 2003
(9 weeks) and a ten month period ended January 3, 2004 (44 weeks). Fiscal 2002 ended on Decem-
ber 28, 2002 and included the results of operations for a fifty-two week period. References herein to
“2004,” “2003,” and “2002" generally refer to fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, unless the context
indicates otherwise. ’




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Polymer Group, Inc. (the “Company” or “Polymer Group”) was originally incorporated in the State
of Delaware on June 16, 1994 and is a global manufacturer and marketer of nonwoven and oriented
polyolefin products.

The Company and each of its domestic subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for Chapter 11 reorgan-
ization under the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of
South Carolina (the “Bankruptcy Court”) on May 11, 2002 (April 25, 2002 as to Bonlam (S.C.), Inc.).
Upon having its Modified Pian (as defined) approved by the Bankruptcy Court on January 16, 2003, the
Company emerged from the Chapter 11 process effective March 5, 2003 (the “Effective Date”). For
accounting purposes the Company recognized the emergence on March 1, 2003 and adopted “fresh-
start accounting” as of that date. The Company’'s emergence from Chapter 11 resulted in a new
reporting entity, with the reorganization value of the Company allocated to the underlying assets and
liabilities based on their respective fair values at the date of emergence. The initial allocation was based
on preliminary estimates and has been revised as more recent information was received, as deemed
appropriate, under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The revisions are
reflected in the amounts included herein. References to “Predecessor” refer to the old Polymer Group
and its subsidiaries on and prior to March 1, 2003 and references to “Successor” refer to Polymer Group
and its subsidiaries on or after March 2, 2003, after giving effect to the implementation of fresh start
reporting.

Recent Developments

The Company has taken major steps in the last two years to strengthen its balance sheet and
reaffirm its global leadership position in the industry. These items are discussed in more detail through-
out this report, with highlights presented below to assist the reader:

* emerging from the Chapter 11 process effective March 5, 2003 and adopting fresh start
accounting;

* refinancing its long-term debt on April 27, 2004, resulting in greater financial flexibility and
significant interest cost savings;

» completing the exchange during fiscal 2004 of the Company’s originally issued Convertible
Subordinated Notes due 2007 (the “Junior Notes™) for newly authorized 16% Series A Converti-
ble Pay-in-kind Preferred Shares (the “PIK Preferred Shares”) and Class A Common Stock;

* continuing to expand its business in 2004 as it moved to full productive utilization of its new
state-of-the-art spunbond line in San Luis Potosi, Mexico in the second quarter of 2004 and
initiating construction in September 2004 of a new line in Cali, Colombia and announcing,
effective March 22, 2005, that it will install a new spunmelt line in the United States;

* settling arbitration issues on June 28, 2004 with a major customer, and receiving a settlement of
$17.0 million. After providing for $3.9 million of costs and expenses associated with the arbitra-
tion, the net settlement proceeds were $13.1 million; and

» continuing its efforts to shed non-essential costs from its operations, completing the European
restructuring effort that began near the end of 2003 and curtailing some additional lines in the
Canadian operation of the Oriented Polymers Division.




General

The Company is one of the largest producers of spunmelt and spunlace products in the world, and
employs the most extensive range of nonwovens technologies that allow it to supply products tailored to
customers’ needs at competitive prices. Nonwovens provide certain qualities similar to those of textiles
at a significantly lower cost.

The Company supplies engineered materials to a number of the largest consumer and industrial
product manufacturers in the world. The Company has a global presence with an established customer
base in both developed and emerging markets. The Company’s product offerings are sold principally to
converters that manufacture a wide range of end-use products.

The Company operates twenty-one manufacturing facilities (including its joint venture/partnership-
type operations in Argentina and China) iocated in ten countries. The Company believes that the quality
of its manufacturing operations and the breadth of its nonwovens process technologies give it a
competitive advantage in meeting the needs of its customers and in leading the development of an
expanded range of applications. The Company has invested in advanced technologies in order to
increase capacity, improve quality and develop new high-value fabric structures. Working as a develop-
mental partner with its major customers, the Company utilizes its technological capabilities and depth of
research and development resources to develop and manufacture new products to specifically meet
their needs.

The Company has been built through a series of capital expansions and business acquisitions that
have broadened the Company’s technology base, increased its product lines and expanded its global
presence. Moreover, the Company’s worldwide resources have enabled it to better meet the needs of
* existing customers, to serve emerging geographic markets, and to exploit niche market opportunities
through customer-driven product development.

Industry Overview

The Company competes primarily in the worldwide nonwovens market, which is approximately a
$14.5 billion market with an average annual sales growth rate of 7% expected over each of the next five
years, according to certain industry sources. The nonwovens industry began in the 1950’s when paper,
textile and chemical technologies were combined to produce new fabrics and products with the attrib-
utes of textiles but at a significantly lower cost. Today, nonwovens are used in a wide variety of consumer
and industrial products as a result of their superior functionality and relatively low cost.

The nonwovens industry has benefited from substantial improvements in technology over the past
several years, which have increased the number of new applications for nonwovens and, therefore,
increased demand. The Company believes, based on certain industry sources, that demand in the
developed markets of North America, Western Europe and Japan will increase at an average rate of 6%
in each of the next five years, while the emerging markets are forecasted to grow at an average rate of
8.5% per annum. In the developed markets, growth will be driven primarily by new applications for
nonwovens and higher amounts of nonwovens used per application for such products as diapers, while
growth in the emerging markets will be driven primarily by increased penetration of disposable products
as per capita income rises. According to certain industry sources, worldwide consumption of
nonwovens has grown an average of 7% per year over the last ten years. The Company believes that
future growth will depend upon the continuation of improvements in raw materials and technology,
which should result in the development of high-performance nonwovens, leading to new uses and
markets at a lower cost than afternative materials. Additionally, the Company’s growth rate may differ
from the industry averages depending upon the regions the Company chooses to operate in and the
technology available to the Company.




Nonwovens are categorized as either disposable (approximately 57% of worldwide industry sales
with an average annual growth rate of 7.5%, according to industry sources) or durable (approximately
43% of worldwide industry sales and an average annual growth rate of 6.5%, according to industry
sources). The Company primarily competes in disposable products. The largest end uses for disposable
nonwovens are for applications that include disposable diapers, feminine sanitary protection, baby
wipes, adult incontinence products, and healthcare applications, including surgical gowns, drapes and
wound care sponges and dressings. Other disposable end uses include wipes, filtration media, protec-
tive apparel and fabric softener sheets. Durabie end uses include apparel interlinings, furniture and
bedding, construction sheeting, cable wrap, electrical insulation, automotive components, geotextiles,
roofing membranes, carpet backing, agricultural fabrics, and coated and laminated structures for wall
coverings and upholstery.

The Company also competes in the North American market for oriented polyolefin products.
Chemical polyolefin products include woven, slit-film fabrics produced by weaving narrow tapes of slit
film and are characterized by high strength-to-weight ratios, and also include twisted slit film or monofila-
ment strands. While the broad uncoated oriented polyolefin market is primarily focused on carpet
backing fabric and, to a lesser extent, geotextiles and bags, the markets in which the Company primarily
competes are made up of a large number of specialized products manufactured for niche applications.
These markets include industrial packaging applications such as lumberwrap, steel wrap and fiberglass
packaging, as well as high-strength protective coverings and specialized components that are inte-
grated into a variety of industrial and consumer products. The Company also produces structural
concrete reinforcement fiber using monofilament technology.

Business Strategy

The Company’s goals are to grow its core businesses while developing new technologies to
capitalize on new product opportunities and expanded geographic markets. The Company strives to be
a leading supplier in its chosen markets by delivering high-quality products and services at competitive
prices. The Company is committed to continuous improvements throughout its business to increase
product value by incorporating new materials and operating capabilities that enhance or maintain
performance specifications. The Company seeks to expand its capabilities to take advantage of the
penetration and growth of its core products internationally, particularly in emerging countries. Over the
past ten years, the Company's sales from manufacturing facilities outside the United States have
increased from approximately $28.0 million in 1993 to $463.3 million in 2004.

The Company develops, manufactures and sells a broad array of products. Sales are focused in two
operating divisions: “Nonwovens” and “Oriented Polymers” that provide opportunities to leverage the
Company’s advanced technology and substantial capacity. For financial information by business seg-
ment and geographic area, see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Nonwovens Division

The Nonwovens segment develops and sells products in various consumer and industrial markets.
Major markets served by this division include the hygiene, industrial, medical and wiping. Sales of
products in the Nonwovens division represented approximately 80%, 80% and 81%, or $672.6 million,
$624.1 million and $608.2 million, of the Company’s consolidated net sales for fiscal 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

The Company produces a variety of nonwoven materials for use in diapers, training pants, feminine
sanitary protection, adult incontinence, baby wipes and consumer wiping products. The Company’s
broad product offerings provide customers with a full range of specialized components for unique or




distinctive products, including top sheet, transfer layer, backsheet fabric, leg cuff fabric, sanitary protec-
tive facings, absorbent pads for incontinence guard, panty shield, and absorbent core applications. In
addition, the Company’s medical products are used in wound care sponges and dressings, disposable
surgical packs, apparel such as operating room gowns and drapes, face masks and shoe covers.

Among the industrial applications of the product offerings are electrical insulation, housewrap,
filtration, cable wrap, furniture and bedding applications and automotive. Wiping applications include
products for the consumer as well as institutional and janitorial applications.

The Company has significant relationships with several large consumer product companies and
supplies a full range of products to these customers on a global basis. The Company’s marketing and
research and development teams work closely with these customers in the development of next genera-
tion products. The Company believes that this technical support helps to ensure that the Company’s
products will continue to be incorporated into such customers’ future product designs.

Oriented Polymers Division

The Oriented Polymers Division provides flexible packaging products that utilize coated and
uncoated oriented polyolefin fabrics. These include concrete fiber, housewrap, lumberwrap, fiberglass
packaging tubes, balewrap for synthetic cotton and fibers, steel and aluminum wrap, and coated bags
for specialty chemicals and, mineral fibers. Sales of products in the Oriented Polymers Division repre-
sented approximately 20%, 20% and 19%, or $172.5 miltion, $154.2 million and $146.2 million, of the
Company’s consolidated net sales for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Marketing and Sales

The Company sells to customers in the domestic and international marketplace. Approximately
45%, 23%, 15%, 13% and 4% of the Company’s 2004 net sales were from manufacturing facilities in the
United States, Europe, Latin America, Canada and Asia, respectively. The Procter & Gamble Company,
which is the Company’s largest customer, accounted for 12%, 13% and 12% of the Company’s net sales
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales to the Company’s top 20 customers represented approxi-
mately 45%, 47% and 47% of the Company’s net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company employs direct sales representatives who are active in the Company’s new product
development efforts and are strategically located in the major geographic regions in which the Com-
pany’'s products are utilized. The oriented polyolefin products are sold primarily through a
well-established network of converters and distributors. Converters add incremental value to the Com-
pany’s products and distributors service the small order size requirements typical of many end users.

Manufacturing Processes

General. The Company’s competitive strengths include high-quality manufacturing processes
and a broad range of process technologies, which allow the Company to offer its customers the
best-suited product for each respective application. Additionally, the Company has made significant
capital investments in modern technology and has developed proprietary equipment processes and
manufacturing techniques. The Company believes that it exceeds industry standards in productivity,
reduction of variability and delivery lead-time. The Company has a wide range of manufacturing capabili-
ties that allow it to produce specialized products that, in certain cases, cannot be reproduced in the
market. Substantially all of the Company’s manufacturing sites have plant-wide real time control and
monitoring systems that constantly monitor key process variables using a sophisticated closed loop
system of computers, sensors and custom software.

Nonwovens. The Company believes that it has a comprehensive array of nonwoven manufactur-
ing technologies that encompass capabilities spanning the entire spectrum of nonwoven technologies.




Nonwoven rollgoods typically have three process steps: web formation, web consolidation or bonding,
and finishing. Web formation is the process by which previously prepared fibers, filaments or films are
arranged into loosely held networks called webs, batts or sheets. In each process, the fiber material is
laid onto a forming or conveying surface, which may be dry or molten. The dry-laid process utilizes fiber
processing equipment, called “cards,” that have been specifically designed for high-capacity nonwoven
production. The carding process converts bales of entangled fibers into uniform oriented webs that then
feed into the bonding process. In a molten polymer-laid process, extrusion technology is used to
transform polymer pellets into filaments, which are laid on a conveying screen and interlocked by
thermal fusion. In this process, the fiber formation, web formation and web consolidation are generally
performed as a continuous simultaneous operation, making this method very efficient from a manufac-
turing and cost perspective.

Web consolidation is the process by which fiber or film are bonded together using mechanical,
thermal, chemical or solvent means. The bonding method greatly influences the end products’ strength,
softness, loft and utility. The principal bonding processes are thermal bond, resin or adhesive bond,
hydroentanglement or spunlace, binder fiber or through-air bond, calender, spunbond, meitblown, SMS
{spunbond-meltblown-spunbond), ultrasonic bond and neediepunch. Thermal bond utilizes heated
calender rolls with embossed patterns to point bond or fuse the fibers together. In the resin bond
process, an adhesive, typically latex, is pad rolled onto the web to achieve a bond. Spunlace, or
hydroentanglement, uses high pressure water jets to mechanically entangle the fibers. Through-air
bonding takes place through the fusion of bi-component fibers in a blown hot air drum. Spunbond and
meltblown take advantage of the melt properties of the resins and may use thermal fusion with the aid of
calender rolls. SMS and SMMS (spunbond-meltblown-meltblown-spunbond) are integrated processes
of combining spunbond and meltblown sheets in a laminated structure, creating very strong, lightweight
and uniform fabrics. Ultrasonic bonding utilizes high-frequency sound waves that heat the bonding sites.
Needlepunch is a mechanical process in which beds of needles are punched through the web, entan-
gling the fibers.

Special Films and Composite Structures. The Company has a proprietary continuous process for
manufacturing unique reticulated films. These highly engineered films have unique capabilities due to
the way precision holes are imparted during the process of forming the film. Since these films can be
composed of two or more layers of different polymers, the functionality can be different on one side
versus the other. These films are typically customized for each customer and are especially popular in
Asia as a component for premium feminine hygiene products. The Company also manufactures com-
posites which are combinations of different nonwoven and/or film structures where each structure lends
its properties or attributes to the end product. An example is house wrap. House wrap is the result of
mating an especially strong spunbond fabric with a highly engineered film. The resulting fabric is very
strong, economical, and has excellent wind barrier properties while allowing humidity to pass through
the fabric.

Finishing, or post-treatment, adds value and functionality to the product and typically includes
surface treatments for fluid repeliency, aperturing, embossing, laminating, printing and slitting. Spuniace
and resin bond systems also have a post-treatment drying or curing step. Certain products also go
through an aperturing process in which holes are opened in the fabric, improving absorbency.

Oriented Polyolefins. The oriented/film process begins with plastic resin, which is extruded into a
thin plastic film or into monofilament strands. The film is slit into narrow tapes. The slit tapes or
monofilament strands are then stretched or “oriented,” the process through which it derives its high
strength. The tapes are wound onto spools that feed weaving machines or twisters. In the finishing
process, the product is coated for water or chemical resistance, ultraviolet stabilization and protection,
flame retardancy, color and other specialized characteristics. In the twisting process, either oriented slit
tapes or monofilament strands are twisted and packaged on tightly spooled balls for distribution as
agricultural and commercial twine. The Company operates coating lines that have been equipped with



the latest technology for gauge control, print treating, lamination, anti-slip finishes and perforation. The
Company also laminates oriented products to paper and has the additional capability of printing multiple
colors on a wide-width printing press located in North America.

Competition

The Company’'s primary competitors in its nonwoven product markets are E.I. du Pont
de Nemours & Co., Freudenberg Nonwovens L.P, BBA Group plc, Avgol LTD. and First Quality Enter-
prises, Inc; and Intertape Polymer Group Inc. and Amoco Fabrics and Fibers Co. for oriented polymer
products. Generally, product innovation and performance, quality, service, distribution and cost are the
primary competitive factors, with technical support being highly valued by the largest customers.

Raw Materials

The primary raw materials used to manufacture most of the Company’s products are polypropylene
resin, polyester fiber, polyethylene resin and, to a lesser extent, rayon, tissue paper and cotton. These
primary raw materials are available from multiple sources and the Company purchases such materials
from a variety of global suppliers. The prices of polypropylene, polyethylene and polyester are a function
of, among other things, manufacturing capacity, demand and the price of crude oil and natural gas
liquids. Historically, the prices of polypropylene and polyethylene resins and polyester fibers have
fluctuated. The Company has historically been able to pass along at least a portion of raw material price
increases to some of its customers, particularly those with contracts containing raw material price
escalation clauses, although often with a delay between the time the Company is required to pay the
increased raw material price and the time the Company is able to pass the increase on to its customers.
To the extent the Company is not able to pass along all or a portion of such increased prices of raw
materials, the Company’s cost of goods sold would increase and its operating income would corre-
spondingly decrease. By way of example, if the price of polypropylene were to rise $.01 per pound, and
the Company was not able to pass along any of such increase to its customers, the Company would
realize a decrease of approximately $2.9 million on an annualized basis in its reported pre-tax operating
income. There can be no assurance that the prices of polypropylene, polyethylene and polyester will not
increase in the future or that the Company will be able to pass on any increases to its customers not
covered by contiracts with price escalation clauses. Material increases in raw material prices that cannot
be passed on to.customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations
and financial condition. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” included in item 7 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and “Raw Material and Commodity
Risks” included in ltem 7A to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion of the impact of
raw material costs on the Company’s operations in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

' The Company believes that the loss of any one or more of its suppliers would not have a long-term
material adverse effect on the Company because other manufacturers with whom the Company con-
ducts business would be able to fulfill the Company’s requirements. However, the loss of certain of the
Company’s suppliers could, in the short term, adversely affect the Company’s business until alternative
supply arrangements were secured or alternative suppliers were qualified with customers. The Com-
pany has not experienced, and does not expect, any significant disruptions in supply as a result of
shortages in raw materials.

Environmental

The Company is subject to a broad range of federal, foreign, state and local laws and regulations
relating to the pollution and protection of the environment. Among the many environmental require-
ments applicable to the Company are laws relating to air emissions, wastewater discharges and the
handling, disposal and release of solid and hazardous substances and wastes. Based on continuing
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internal review, the Company believes that it is currently in substantial compliance with applicable
environmental requirements.

The Company is also subject to laws, such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), that may impose liability retroactively and without fautt for
releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances at on-site or off-site locations. The Company is
not aware of any releases for which it may be liable under CERCLA or any analogous provision.

Actions by federal, state and local governments in the United States and abroad concerning
environmental matters could result in laws or regulations that could increase the cost of producing the
products manufactured by the Company or otherwise adversely affect demand for its products. For
example, certain local governments have adopted ordinances prohibiting or restricting the use or
disposal of certain plastic products, such as certain of the plastic wrapping materials, which are
produced by the Company. Widespread adoption of such prohibitions or restrictions could adversely
affect demand for the Company’s products and thereby have a material adverse effect upon the
Company. In addition, a decline in consumer preference for plastic products due to environmental
considerations could have a material adverse effect upon the Company.

The Company does not currently anticipate any material adverse effect on its operations, financial
or competitive position as a result of its efforts to comply with environmental requirements. Some risk of
environmental liability is inherent, however, in the nature of the Company’s business, and there can be
no assurance that material environmental liabilities will not arise. it is also possible that future develop-
ments in environmental regulation could lead to material environmental compliance or cleanup costs.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company considers its patents and trademarks, in the aggregate, to be important to its
business and seeks to protect this proprietary know-how in part through United States and foreign
patent and trademark registrations. The Company maintains over 176 registered trademarks and over
128 patents in the United States. We also have approximately 440 patents under application worldwide.
in addition, the Company maintains certain trade secrets for which, in order to maintain the confidential-
ity of such trade secrets, it has not sought patent protection.

Inventory and Backlogs

Inventories at January 1, 2005 were $106.3 million, an increase of $9.8 million from inventories of
$96.5 million at January 3, 2004. The Company had approximately 54 days of inventory on hand at
January 1, 2005 versus 59 days of inventory on hand at January 3, 2004, a decrease of approximately
10%. Unfilled orders as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 amounted to approximately $49.8 million
and $43.4 million, respectively. The level of unfilled orders is affected by many factors, including the
timing of orders and the delivery time for the specific products. Consequently, the Company does not
consider the amount of unfilled orders a meaningful indicator of levels of future sales.

Research and Development

The Company’s investment in research and development approximated $11.2 million, $12.4 million
and $16.3 million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Seasonality

Use and consumption of the Company’s products does not fluctuate significantly due to
seasonality.
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Employees

As of January 1, 2005, the Company had approximately 3,233 employees. Of this total, approxi-
mately 1,399 employees are represented by labor unions or trade councils that have entered into
separate collective bargaining agreements with the Company. Approximately 29% of the Company’s
labor force is covered by collective bargaining agreements that will expire within one year. During 2004
there were no known unionizing attempts. The Company believes that it generally has good relation-
ships with both its union and non-union employees.

Business Restructuring

The Company initiated a comprehensive business restructuring in the latter half of 2001, involving
manufacturing initiatives and workforce reductions which have continued into 2002, 2003 and 2004. In
2004, the restructuring efforts included the completion of the line curtailment and headcount reduction in
Europe that had been announced in 2003 and the initiation of a new restructuring effort in the Canadian
operations of the Oriented Polymers Division to better balance plant capacity with market demands. in
Canada, the Company eliminated several lines and sold certain equipment. Total headcount was
reduced by approximately 160 employees. The total pre-tax charge for both programs in 2004 was
approximately $1.9 million.

In 2003, the Company'’s restructuring efforts resulted in headcount reductions of approximately 170
employees, primarily within the U.S. and European operations of the Nonwovens Division and resulted in
a pre-tax charge of approximately $6.8 million. In 2002, such restructurings included reductions in
headcount of approximately 54 employees and facility closing costs in the U.S. as business processes
were rationalized in the Oriented Polymers Division and resulted in a pre-tax charge of approximately
$1.1 million.

Cash outlays associated with the Company’s business restructuring approximated $5.9 million,
$4.3 million and $6.4 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Recapitalization and Refinancing

On April 27, 2004, the Company refinanced the then outstanding bank debt with a new Senior
Secured Bank Facility (the “Bank Facility”). In addition, the Company, in a series of transactions,
exchanged the Junior Notes for PIK Preferred Shares and Class A Common Stock.

The Bank Facility consists of a $50.0 million secured revolving credit facility, a $300.0 million senior
secured first lien term loan and a $125.0 million senior secured second lien term loan. The proceeds
therefrom were used to fully repay indebtedness under the Company’s previous Restructured Credit
Facility and pay related fees and expenses.

All borrowings under the Bank Facility are U.S. dollar denominated and are guaranteed, on a joint
and several basis, by each and all of the direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries of the Company and
supported by the pledge of stock of certain non-domestic subsidiaries of the Company. The Bank
Facility and the related guarantees are secured by (i) a lien on substantially all of the assets of the
Company, its domestic subsidiaries and certain of its non-domestic subsidiaries, (ii) a pledge of all or a
portion of the stock of the domestic subsidiaries of the Company and of certain non-domestic subsidiar-
ies of the Company, and (jii) a pledge of certain secured intercompany notes. Commitment fees under
the Bank Facility are equal to 0.50% of the daily unused amount of the revolving credit commitment. The
Bank Facility contains covenants and events of default customary for financings of this type, including
leverage and interest expense coverage covenants. At January 1, 2005, the Company was in compli-
ance with all such covenants and expects to remain in compliance through fiscal 2005. The Bank Facility
requires the Company to apply a percentage of proceeds from excess cash flows, as defined by the
Bank Facility and determined based on year-end results, to reduce its then outstanding balances under
the Bank Facility. Through January 1, 2005, the Company had made mandatory debt repayments of
$1.5 million and optional repayments on the first lien term loan of $17.0 million, which amount was
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considered in the calculation of excess cash flow. Due to the optional repaymentis made during fiscal
2004 and an amendment made to the Bank Facility subsequent to January 1, 2005, no additional
payments related to fiscal 2004 are due to be paid within ten days after the required filing date of the
Company’s annual financial statements.

The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the Bank Facility is based on three-month LIBOR
plus a specified margin. The applicable margin for borrowings under the revolving credit facility is 300
basis points, the margin for the first lien term loan is 325 basis points and the margin for the second lien
term loan is 625 basis points. Although not anticipated, the Company may elect to use an alternate base
rate for its borrowings under the revolving credit facility ranging from 2.25% to 6.25% with such alternate
base rates including a margin based on the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company had no
outstanding borrowings at January 1, 2005 under the revolving credit facility. Average borrowings under
the revolving credit facility for the period from April 28, 2004 to January 1, 2005 were $4.0 million at an
average rate of 5.80%. The revolving portion of the credit facility matures on April 27, 2009. The first lien
term loan and the second lien term loan mature on April 27, 2010 and April 27, 2011, respectively.

In accordance with the terms of the Bank Facility, the Company entered a cash flow hedge
agreement, effectively converting $212.5 million of notional principal amount of debt from a variable
LIBOR rate to a fixed LIBOR rate of 3.383%. The cash flow hedge agreement terminates on May 8, 2007
and is described more fully in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements inciuded in ltem 8 to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Subject to certain terms and conditions, a maximum of $20.0 million of the Bank Facility may be
used for revolving letters of credit. As of January 1, 2005, the Company had $12.5 million of standby
letters of credit outstanding under this facility. Approximately $7.1 million was related to the requirements
of the short-term borrowing arrangements of the Company’s China-based majority owned subsidiary
(“Nanhai”). Other letters of credit are in place to provide added assurance for certain raw material
vendors and administrative service providers. None of these letters of credit have been drawn on at
January 1, 2005.

In conjunction with the Company’s refinancing in April 2004 of the Restructured Credit Facility, the
Company’s majority shareholder exchanged approximately $42.6 million in aggregate principal amount
of the Junior Notes it controlled for 42,633 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares. Also, during
2004, $10.1 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s Junior Notes were exchanged for
10,083 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares.

The dividends on the PIK Preferred Shares accrue at an annual rate of 16% and are payable
semi-annually in arrears on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2004, and are payable at the
option of the Company, (i) through the issuance of additional shares of PIK Preferred Stock; (i} in cash;
or (iii) in a combination thereof. Dividends are cumulative and accrue from the most recent dividend
payment date to which dividends have been paid or, if no dividends have been paid, from the date of
original issuance.

On June 30, 2012, the Company must redeem all of the PIK Preferred Shares then outstanding at a
price equal to $1,000 per share plus $1,000 per share for all unpaid dividends thereon whether or not
declared, which amount will be payable by the Company ('mandatory redemption price”), at the option
ofthe Company, (i) in cash; (i) through the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock; or (ijii) through
a combination thereof. If paad in stock, the number of shares to be delivered by the Company will be the
mandatory redemption price (as defined earlier) divided by the then market price of a share of Class A
Common Stock.

At any time prior to June 30, 2012, the holders of the PIK Preferred Shares may elect to convert any
or all of their PIK Preferred Shares into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at a conversion
price equal to $7.29 per share. Also, at any time prior to June 30, 2012, provided certain conditions have
been met, the Company may elect to redeem the shares, which redemption price may be paid by the
Company, at the option of the Company, (i) in cash; (ii) through the issuance of shares of Class A
Common Stock; or (iii} through a combination thereof. If paid in stock, the number of shares to be
delivered by the Company will be the optional redemption price (as defined by the preferred stock
agreement) divided by the then market price of a share of Class A Common Stock. In January 2005, the
Company declared a dividend of approximately $5.6 million, payable in the form of additional PIK
Preferred Shares to holders of record as of May 15, 2004 and December 15, 2004. Accordingly, the
accrued dividends at January 1, 2005 are included as a component of the Company’s PIK Preferred
Shares in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Additional details of the Company’s Chapter 11 process and recapitalization can be found in
Notes 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company and its subsidiaries operate the following principal manufacturing plants and other
facilities, all of which are owned, except as noted. All of the Company’s owned properties are subject to
liens in favor of the lenders under the Company’s Bank Facility. The Company believes that its facilities
are generally well-maintained, in good condition and adequate for its current needs.

Location

Nonwovens U.S.

North Little Rock, Arkansas .. .....
Rogers, Arkansas .. ............
Gainesville, Georgia(1) ..........
Landisville, New Jersey . . ... ... ..

Benson, North Carolina. . ........

Raleigh, North Carolina{1) ........
Mooresville, North Carolina .. ... ..
Mooresville, North Carolina(1) . .. ..
Mooresville, North Carolina .. ... ..
Waynesboro, Virginia . ..........

Waynesboro, Virginia(1) .........

Nonwovens Europe
Bailleul, France. . .. ............

Neunkirchen, Germany ..........
Cuijk, The Netherlands . .........

Molnlycke, Sweden(1} . .. ... ... ..

Nonwovens Latin America

Buenos Aires, Argentina(2) .......
Guadalajara, Mexico(1) . .........
Cali, Colombia . ...............
Monterrey, Mexico(1). ... ........
Mexico City, Mexico(1) ..........
San Luis Potosi, Mexico .........

Nonwovens Asia
Nanhai, China(3) ..............

Oriented Polymers Division

Kingman, Kansas ..............
Guntown, Mississippi{1) .........
Portland (Clackamas}, Oregon . . . ..
Clearfield, Utah(1) . . . ... ...... ..
Mississauga, Ontario(1) . . ... ... ..
North Bay, Ontario . ............
Magog, Quebec . ..............
Montreal, Quebec(1) .. .. ... ... ..

Corporate Offices

Dayton, New Jersey(1) ..........
North Charleston, South Carolina(1) .

Principal Function

Manufacturing and Warehousing

Manufacturing and Warehousing

Manufacturing and Warehousing

Manufacturing, Sales, Marketing and Research and
Development

Manufacturing, Sales, Marketing, Warehousing and
Research and Development

Administration

Manufacturing and Research and Development

Administration, Sales and Marketing

Administration and Warehousing

Manufacturing, Warehousing, Marketing and Research and
Development

Warehousing

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing, Research and
Development and Administration

Manufacturing and Warehousing

Manufacturing, Sales, Marketing, Warehousing and
Research and Development

Manufacturing

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration
Sales, Marketing and Warehousing

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration
Sales, Marketing and Warehousing

Sales, Marketing and Warehousing

Manufacturing, Warehousing and Marketing

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration
Warehousing and Converting

Manufacturing

Manufacturing, Marketing and Warehousing

Sales and Marketing

Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration
Manufacturing, Marketing, Warehousing and Administration
Sales, Marketing and Administration

Administration
Corporate
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(1) Leased.

(2) 60% interest in a joint venture/partnership-type arrangement (Dominion Nonwovens Sudamer-
ica S.A.) with Sauler Group. ‘

(38) 80% interest in a joint venture/partnership-type arrangement (Nanhai Nanxin Non-Woven Co. Ltd.)
with Nanhai Chemical Fiber Enterprises Co.

Capacity utilization during 2004 varied by geographic locations and manufacturing capabilities.
However, it can be generally stated that the facilities operated moderately below capacity.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On August 18, 2003 an affiliate (“Affiliate”) of the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company filed
a claim in the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit for the State of South Carolina,
seeking damages associated with a lease agreement and an alleged services agreement, between the
Company and the Affiliate, associated with the lease by the Company of its former corporate headquar-
ters and the provision of shared administrative services. The damages sought in the complaint total
$7.7 million, plus attorney’s fees. The claim is currently in the discovery phase and the Company intends
to vigorously defend this action and believes that the uitimate outcome will not have a material adverse
effect on its financial position or results of operations.

On April 23, 2002, the Company filed a demand for arbitration against Johnson & Johnson (“J&J”).
The primary issue in the arbitration is the Company’s assertion that J&J breached a supply agreement
when J&J and certain of its affiliates failed to purchase certain products from the Company and to allow
the Company a reasonable opportunity to compete for certain sales. On June 28, 2004, the Company
entered into a new supply agreement with a subsidiary of J&J. The Company also ended the arbitration
and received approximately $17.0 million from J&J as settlement of the arbitration issues. Net settlement
proceeds of $13.1 million, after providing for $3.9 million of costs and expenses associated with the
arbitration, were included in Arbitration settlement, net in the Consoclidated Statement of Operations for
the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005.

The Company is subject to a broad range of federal, foreign, state and local laws and regulations
relating to the pollution and protection of the environment. The Company believes that it is currently in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental requirements and does not currently anticipate
any material adverse effect on its operations, financial or competitive position as a result of its efforts to
comply with environmental requirements. Some risk of environmental liability is inherent, however, in the
nature of the Company’s business and, accordingly, there can be no assurance that material environ-
mental liabilities will not arise.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Since March 5, 2003, the Company’s Class A and Class B common stock has been trading on the
over-the-counter electronic bulletin board {the “OTCBB”) under the symbols “POLGA” and “POLGB,”
respectively. Prior to March 5, 2003, all of the Company’s common stock was in one class. Pursuant to
the Modified Plan, on March 5, 2003, the Company’s common stock was divided into five classes:
Class A, Class B, Class C, Class D and Class E. The Class A and Class B common stock trade on the
OTCBB. No shares of Class D or Class E common stock are outstanding. There is no established trading
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market for the Class C common stock and, as such, no ticker symbol has been assigned to the Class C
common stock. The Class B common stock is convertible to Class A common stock and, accordingly,
the Class B common stock trades on a comparable basis to the Class A common stock. The following
table sets forth for fiscal 2004 and 2003 the high and low market prices of the Company’s Class A
common stock:

Class A common stock:

2004 2003

High Low High Low

FirstQuarter .. .......... ... .. .. $1400 $700 $ — § —
SecondQuarter ...................... 1450 1200 1200 4.00
Third Quarter . ....................... 1350 11.10 7.05 550
Fourth Quarter ............... e 19.30 11.10 8.50 5.00

The Company officially emerged from Chapter 11 on March 5, 2003 and was not traded for several
weeks after emergence. Hence, there is no high and low information for the first quarter of 2003. The
high and low bid prices above reflect inter-dealer prices without markup, markdown or commission and
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

The Company paid no dividends on its common stock during fiscal years 2004 or 2003. The Bank
Facility limits restricted payments, which includes dividends payable in cash, to $5.0 million in the
aggregate since the effective date of the Bank Facility.

As of March 15, 2005, there were seven, 338 and one holders of record of the Company's Class A,
Class B and Class C common stock, respectively.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth certain selected historical consolidated financial information of the
Company for periods both before and after emerging from the Chapter 11 process on March 5, 2003. For
accounting purposes, the financial statements reflect the reorganization as if it was consummated on
March 1, 2003. Therefore, the Consolidated Balance Sheet and related information as of January 1, 2005
and January 3, 2004 and the Consolidated Statement of Operations and related information for the fiscal
year ended January 1, 2005 and the ten months ended January 3, 2004 are referred to as “Successor”
and reflect the effects of the reorganization and the principles of fresh start accounting. Periods
presented prior to March 1, 2003 have been referred to as “Predecessor’’. See Note 4 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements included in [tem 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discus-
sion of fresh start adjustments. The statement of operations data for each of the five years ended
January 1, 2005 and the balance sheet data as of January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, December 28, 2002,
December 29, 2001 and December 30, 2000 have been derived from audited consolidated financial
statements, except for the balance sheet data, statement of operations data, per share data and
operating and other data “‘as restated,” as of, and for the year ended, December 30, 2000 and the
balance sheet data as of March 1, 2003, each of which is unaudited. The table should be read in
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conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions” included in item 7 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Consolidated Financial Statements
of the Company and related notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Predecessor
Successor .
Fiscal Year Ten Months Two Months Fiscal Year Ended
Ended Ended Ended “As Restated"”
January 1, January 3, March 1, December 28, December 29, December 30,
2005 2004(a) 2003(a) 2002(a) 2001(a) 2000(a) (b)
{In Thousands, Except Per Share data)

Statement of Operations:
Netsales . ... ... . ... . . $844,734 $644,893 $132,985 $754,437 $ 815765 $ 862,184
Costofgoodssold . . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... 681,272 531,390 111,110 635,639 676,763 676,684
Grossprofit . . . . .. 153,462 113,503 21,785 118,798 139,002 185,500
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . . . .. ... .. ... . 89,163 78,682 15,955 100,215 111,781 107,737
Assetimpairment . . . . . ... L 2,253 1,207 — 317,898 181,190 —
Plant realignment costs . . . . . .. ... . o e 1,867 6,802 4 1,054 7.441 —
Arbitration settlement,net . . . .. ... o oL (13,112) — — — — —
Financial restructuring expenses . . . . . ... . ... ... ... ..., — — — 3,634 1,850 —
Other retirement costs . . . . . . .. . . .. .. — - —_ 2,608 —_ —
Operating income (I0SS) . . . . . . . . . . . 63,291 26,812 5,826 (306,611) (163,260) 77,763
Other expense (income).

Interest expense, net. . . . .. ... L Lo 40,252 49,036 10,665 71,478 99,408 91,805

investment (gain) loss, net . . .. .. ... .. L — (3) (291) 1,806 5,280 —

Minority interests . . . . . .. ... o 2,597 2,028 441 1,366 (2,694) 604

Foreign currency and other . . . . . . .. .. .. L 7,716 5,808 1,434 14,019 8,102 (55)

Income tax expense (benefity . . . ... ... ... .. ... 7,994 2,928 1,692 (3,290) (25,803) {5,107)
Income (loss) before Chapter 11 reorganization items, extraordinary item

and curnulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . . .. .. 4,732 (32,985) (8,115) (391,990) (247,561) (9,484)

Reorganizationitems . . . . .. . .. . ... ..o o — — 540,479 (14,873) - -—
Extraordinary item, net of tax

........................ —_ — — —_ —_ 741
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, netof tax . . . . . . — — — (12,774) — —
NEtincome (10SS) . « .« v v v v v e e e 4732 (32885) 532,364 (419,637) (247,561) (8,743)
Accrued dividends on PIK Preferred Shares . . . .. . ... ... . ... 5,566 — — — — —
income (loss) applicable to common shareholders . . . . . . ... ... $ (834) $(32,985) $532,364  $(419,637) B (247,561) $ (B,743)
Per Share Data:
Income (loss) before Chapter 11 reorganization items, extraordinary item

and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per common

ShAre—DaSIC . . . . v . e $ (009) $ (381) & (025 $ (1225 $ (774 $ (0.30)
Income (ioss) per share applicable to common shareholders—basic . . $ (0.09) $ (3.81) § 16.63 $ (13.11) % (7.74) $ (0.27)
income (loss) before Chapter 11 reorganization items, extraordinary item

and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per common

share—ailuted . . . . . $ (009) $ (381 $ (028 $ (1225 $ (774 $ (0.30)
Income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders—diluted . . $ (0.09) $ (3.81) § 1663 $ (18.11) (7.74) $ (0.27)
Cagshdividends . . . . . . . . .. .. . e 3 — 8 - 8 - $ — 8 Q.02 $ 0.08
Operating and other data:
Cash provided by (used in) operating activites . . . . . ... ... ... $ 69,896 $ 33213 $(12801) $ 35343 $ 10,488 $ 51,477
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . . . . ... ... .... (23,144)  (33,909) 8,820 (10,554) (21,377) (107,818)
Cash provided by {used in) financing activities . . . . . . . ... .. ... (28,133)  (10,887) (14,669) (15.367) 34,417 46,725
Grossmargin (€) . . . . . ... 18.2% 17.6% 16.4% 15.7% 17.0% 21.5%
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . ... ... ... ... ... $ 53230 $42620 $ 8812 § 71,556 $ 83,164 $ 75,497
Capital expenditures . . . . . . . .. .. 24,791 36,675 3,062 15,379 21,440 86,022
Balance sheet data (at end of period): -
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments . . . . . .., ... $ 41206 $ 21336 $ 31,783 $ 58,147 $ 46453 $ 30,588
Working capital (deficit) . . . . .. ... ... .. o 187,338 119,106 172,501 218,905 (872,336) 192,839
Total @ssets . . . . . . . .. 753,353 719,062 745,221 811,319 1,232,214 1,510,374
Long-term debt, less current portion . . . . . ... ..o L 403,560 440,992 480,050 478,224 9,802 1,023,966
Minority interests . . . . . .. ..o 14,812 14,151 12,123 11,682 9,896 12,591
16% Series A convertible pay-in-kind preferred shares . . . . . .. . .. 58,286 — — — — —
Total shareholders’ equity {deficit) . . . . .. .. .. ... ... ... ... 73,849 59,200 73,390 (465,914) (48,862) 221,815
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Notes to Selected Consolidated Financial Data

(a) The selected Statement of Operations data for the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two
months ended March 1, 2003, the fiscal years ended December 28, 2002, December 29, 2001
and December 30, 2000 have been adjusted to reflect the reclassification of certain immaterial
rebates, promotional incentives and freight billed to customers from Selling, general and
administrative expenses to Net sales.

(b) The selected financial data for the year ended December 30, 2000 was restated in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 3, 2004 to correct the accounting related to a
Joint Development Agreement between the Company and one of its major suppliers. In the
year ended December 30, 2000, the Company entered into a Joint Development Agreement
and a Supply Agreement with a major supplier that were accounted for by the Predecessor
Company as separate arrangements. Payments received of $6.8 million from the Company’s
supplier under the Joint Development Agreement in fiscal 2000 were recorded as a reduction of
previously incurred start-up costs, which were classified within cost of goods sold in the
Predecessor Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

Certain facts came to the attention of the Successor Company in 2004 that would have altered
the accounting for the Joint Development Agreement. Based on the newly discovered facts, the
Company concluded that the Joint Development Agreement and the Supply Agreement should
have been viewed as jointly negotiated, concurrent transactions, rather than independent of
each other. Accordingly, payments received under the Joint Development Agreement in 2000
should not have been recognized in operating income during the year ended December 30,
2000 but should have been deferred, until the earnings process was complete, to correspond
with the accounting employed for the Supply Agreement.

Therefore, the Successor Company has adjusted the unaudited selected financial data for the
year ended December 30, 2000, which appears under the caption “as restated”, to reflect the
proper accounting for the jointly negotiated, concurrent transactions, by increasing cost of
sales by $6.8 million and the benefit for income taxes by $2.4 million, resulting in a net
$4.4 million increase in the previously reported net loss of $4.3 million, which is now restated as
a net loss of $8.7 million.

The impact of accounting for the agreements as jointly negotiated, concurrent transactions
rather than as independent of each other was not material to the Company’s reported financial
results for fiscal years ended December 29, 2001 and December 28, 2002 and, therefore, no
adjustments have been made to those years.

(¢) Gross margin represents gross profit as a percentage of net sales.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant
to an assessment and understanding of the Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial
condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
notes thereto contained in ftem 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In particular, this discussion
should be read in conjunction with Note 3 “Chapter 11 Proceedings and Recapitalization”, Note 4
“Fresh Start Accounting” and Note 5 “Business Restructuring and Asset Impairment,” which describe
the filing by the Company and its domestic subsidiaries of voluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on May 11, 2002 and the financial restructuring and
fresh start accounting associated with the Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 process effective
March 5, 2003.




For accounting purposes, the Company recognized the emergence on March 1, 2003, which was
the end of the February 2003 accounting period. Fresh start accounting has been impiemented as of
March 1, 2003 and, accordingly, at that date, all assets and liabilities were restated to reflect their
respective fair value. See Note 4 of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the fresh start adjustments. For financial reporting
purposes, references to “Predecessor” refer to the Company on and prior to March 1, 2003 and
references to “‘Successor” refer to the Company on and after March 2, 2003, after giving effect to the
implementation of fresh start reporting. Successor consolidated financial statements are not compara-
ble to Predecessor consolidated financial statements. However, for purposes of this discussion of results
of operations, certain of the data for the ten months ended January 3, 2004 (Successor} have been
combined with the two months ended March 1, 2003 (Predecessor) for comparisons with the fiscal years
ended January 1, 2005 (Successor) and December 28, 2002 (Predecessor).

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage relationships to net sales of certain income statement
items for the 2004 periods in comparison to the corresponding 2003 (combined) and 2002 periods.

Successor Combined Successor Predecessor  Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended
2004 2003 January 3,2004 March 1, 2003 2002
Netsales................... 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold:
Material .................. 48.6 46.9 47.0 46.6 449
Labor............. ... ... 9.6 10.1 10.1 10.3 8.9
Overhead ................. 23.6 25.6 25.3 26.7 30.5
81.8 82.6 82.4 83.6 84.3
Grossprofit . ................ 18.2 17.4 17.6 16.4 15.7
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES . ... .. 11.7 12.2 12.2 12.0 13.3
Asset impairment .. . ... ..., ... 0.3 0.1 0.2 — 42.1
Plant realignment costs ........ 0.2 0.9 1.1 — 0.1
Arbitration settlement, net . ... . .. (1.5) — — — —
Financial restructuring expenses
and other retirement costs . . . . . — — — — 0.8
Operating income (loss) . ....... 7.5 4.2 4.1 4.4 (40.6)
Other expense (income);
Interest expense, net. .. ... ... 4.8 7.7 7.6 8.0 9.5
Investment (gain) loss, net. . . .. — — — (0.2) 0.2
Minority interests . . . ......... 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2
Foreign currency and other . . . . 0.9 0.8 0.9 1.1 1.9
6.0 8.9 8.8 9.2 11.8
Income (loss) before
reorganization items, income tax
expense (benefit) and
cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle .. ....... 15 4.7 {4.7) (4.8) (52.4)
Reorganization items, gain (loss) . . — 69.4 — 406.6 (2.0)
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Successor Combined Successor Predecessor Predecessor

Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended
2004 2003 January 3, 2004  March 1, 2003 2002

Income (loss) before income tax

expense (benefit) and

cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle ... ...... 1.5 64.7 4.7) 401.8 (54.4)
Income tax expense (benefit) .. .. 0.9 0.6 0.4 1.3 (0.4)
Income {loss) before cumulative

effect of change in accounting

principle. . ................ 0.6 64.1 (5.1) 400.5 (53.9)
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle, net of tax . — — — — (1.7)
Net income (loss) . .. .......... 0.6 64.1 (5.1) 400.5 (55.6)
Accrued dividends on PIK

preferred shares . . .......... 0.7 — — — —
Income (loss) applicable to

common shareholders . . . .. ... (0.1)% 64.1% (5.1)% 400.5% (55.6)%

Comparison of Successor Year Ended January 1, 2005 and Combined Successor and
Predecessor Year Ended January 3, 2004

The Company's reportable segments consist of its two operating divisions, Nonwovens and Ori-
ented Polymers. For additional information regarding segment data, see Note 18 “Segment Informa-
tion” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The following table sets forth components of the Company’s net sales and operating income (loss) by
operating division for fiscal 2004, the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended
March 1, 2003 and the combined 2003 period and the change from 2003 to 2004 (in millions):

Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended Combined
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2003 Change
Net sales
Nonwovens . .................. $672.6 $515.7 $108.4 $624.1 $48.5
Oriented Polymers . ............. 172.5 129.7 245 154.2 18.3
Eliminations . . ................. (0.4) (0.5) — (0.5) 0.1
$844.7 $644.9 $132.9 $777.8 $66.9
Operating income
Nonwovens ................... $ 604 $ 38.9 $ 78 $ 467 $13.7
Oriented Polymers .. ............ 12.7 8.5 1.5 10.0 27
Unallocated Corporate, net of
eliminations ................. (18.8) (12.6) (3.5) (16.1) 2.7)
54.3 34.8 5.8 40.6 13.7
Asset impairment . ............... (2.2) (1.2) — (1.2 (1.0)
Plant realignmentcosts . . .......... (1.9) (6.8) — (6.8) 4.9
Arbitration settlement, net .......... 13.1 — — — 13.1
$ 63.3 $ 26.8 $ 58 $ 326  $30.7
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Net Sales

Consolidated net sales were $844.7 million in 2004, an increase of $66.9 million or 8.6% over 2003
consolidated net sales of $777.8 million. Net sales for 2004 in the Nonwovens and Oriented Polymers
segments improved over comparable 2003 fiscal year results by 7.8% and 11.9%, respectively. Fiscal
2004 consisted of 52 weeks, whereas the combined 2003 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks. A reconcilia-
tion of the change in net sales between 2003 and 2004 is presented in the following table (in millions):

Net sales—2008 . ... ... i $777.8
Change in sales due to:
VOUMIE . . e e e e 36.3
Foreign curranCy . ... 23.0
PriCe/MIX . . o 17.8
Businesses sold/exited ... .......... ... ... . (10.2)
Net sales—2004 . ... ... . .. e $844.7

The increase in net sales during 2004 was due primarily to volume gains, especially in the United
States and Latin American markets, and the strengthening of foreign currencies versus the U. S. doliar.
Sales dollars were positively impacted in 2004 by the price/mix of sales largely due to increases in sales
price in an effort to pass along raw material cost increases to customers. As raw material costs rose
during the current year, the Company followed the consistent policy of passing raw material prices along
to its customers, where allowable by contract terms and where acceptable based on market conditions.
The aforementioned increases in sales were partially offset by decreases associated with businesses
sold or exited. Overall, the Company continued to build momentum in the marketplace, following its
emergence from the Chapter 11 process on March 5, 2003,

A significant component of the $36.3 million increase in sales due to volume growth was generated
in the Latin American region as the San Luis Potosi, Mexico capacity expansion completed in late 2003
reached full productive capacity in the second quarter of 2004. The Latin America region’s sales
improvement was paced by significant year-over-year increases in hygiene sales. Inthe Company’s U.S.
nonwovens sales business, the hygiene and consumer markets recorded double-digit increases from
2003 as new products were accepted by the markets and the economy improved during 2004.
Nonwoven sales volumes improved slightly in Asia and decreased in Europe.

Foreign currencies, predominantly the Euro and the Canadian dollar, were stronger against the
U.S. dollar during 2004 compared to 2003 resulting in an increase in net sales of $23.0 miliion due to the
favorable foreign currency translation. Further discussion of foreign currency exchange rate risk is
contained in “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” included in ltem 7A to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Operating Income

A reconciliation of the change in operating income between 2003 and 2004 is presented in the
following table (in millions):

Operating income—2003 . . . . ... . .. $32.6
Change in operating income due to: ‘
Price/mixX . . . e 17.8
“ Higher raw material costs . .. ... ... .. . .. . (24.1)
VOIUME . . e e 13.2
Arbitration settiement, net . . . ... ... .. ... .. e 13.1
Lower manufacturing costs . .. ... ... .. o 53
Lower asset impairment charges and piant realignment costs, net . . . .. 3.9
Postretirement benefit plan curtailments and other,net . .. .......... 3.6
FOreign CUITBNCY . . . o v ot e et e e e e N 1.9
Businesses sold/exited . .. .......... ... .. ... .. e 05
Higher depreciation and amortization expense . ... ............... (2.8)
. All other, primarily higher SG&A costs . . ............ . ... ..... _(1.7)
Operating income—2004 . . .. ... .. . . $63.3

Consolidated operating income was $63.3 million in 2004 as compared to $32.6 million in 2003. The
improvement in operating income was positively impacted by volume improvements noted above. The
$17.0 million arbitration settlement, which was received during the second quarter and reported net of
$3.9 million of legal and other associated arbitration costs, also favorably impacted operating income.
Other items contributing to the improvement of operating income were cost savings as a result of
previous business restructuring efforts and lower asset impairment charges, net of a $1.0 million
increase in plant realignment costs. Offsetting these favorable impacts were higher raw material costs
which could not be passed along to customers in the form of price increases, higher depreciation and
amortization charges and higher selling, general and administrative expenses. The increase in raw
material costs was driven by increases in the prices charged by vendors. The expectation for fiscal 2005
is that raw material costs will continue to escalate and the Company will continue its efforts to pass along
such increases to its customers. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was
primarily related to higher sales levels. The increase in depreciation and amortization charges is primar-
ily related to the installation of the new production line in Latin America.

Interest Expense and Other

Net interest expense decreased $19.4 million, from $59.7 million in 2003 to $40.3 million in 2004,
Those totals include $1.8 million and $3.7 million, respectively, of payment in kind in lieu of cash interest
on the Junior Notes. The decrease in net interest expense was primarily due to the lower interest rates
obtained by refinancing the Company’s previous Restructured Credit Facility with the new Bank Facility,
effective April 27, 2004. Additionally, in conjunction with the refinancing, the Company’s majority share-
holder exchanged on April 27, 2004 approximately $42.6 million in aggregate principal amount of the
Junior Notes for 42,633 shares of PIK Preferred Shares, which also contributed to lower interest costs
during the period. Also subsequent to the refinancing, the remaining $10.1 million of Junior Notes were
exchanged for 10,083 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares and 6,719 shares of the Com-
pany’s Class A Common Stock.

Foreign currency and other expense increased $0.5 million, from $7.2 million in fiscal 2003 to
$7.7 million in fiscal 2004. The 2004 amount includes a charge of $5.0 million for the write-off of the loan
acquisition costs related to the refinancing of the Company’s previous Restructured Credit Facility,
whereas 2003 includes $1.1 million of costs related to an aborted refinancing effort.
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Reorganization items

As further described in Note 3 “Chapter 11 Proceedings and Recapitalization”” and Note 4 “Fresh
Start Accounting’”” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Iltem 8 to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, the Company recognized a net gain of $540.5 million in reorganization items upon its
emergence from Chapter 11 in 2003. These reorganization items primarily included gains on cancella-
tion of prepetition indebtedness of $619.9 million offset by fresh start adjustments of $47.5 million and
other costs associated with the reorganization of $31.9 million.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

The Company recorded a net income tax expense of $8.0 million in 2004 on consolidated income
before income taxes of $12.7 million for such period. The effective rate in 2004 was in excess of the
statutory rate primarily due to withholding taxes on intercompany royalties, interest and dividends, for
which the Company is not anticipating the benefit of foreign tax credits, state income taxes in the United
States, and no significant income tax benefit recognized for the losses incurred in the United States and
certain foreign jurisdictions. During 2003, the Company recorded an income tax expense of $4.6 million,
primarily related to taxable income generated by foreign operations. The effective rate in 2003 differed
from the statutory rate primarily as a result of the exclusion from taxable income of the gain from the
cancellation of indebtedness. Additionally, no income tax benefits were attributed to the 2003 operating
losses sustained in the United States and, as a result of its reorganization, all United States tax loss
carryforwards expired as of January 4, 2004,

Net Income
As a result of the above, the Company recognized net income of $4.7 million in fiscal 2004
compared to net income of $499.4 million in 2003.

Accrued Dividends on PIK Preferred Shares

The Company accrued dividends at 16% on its PIK Preferred Shares from the date of their issuance
through January 1, 2005 in the amount of $5.6 million. In January 2005, the Company declared a
dividend of approximately $5.6 million payable in the form of additional PIK Preferred Shares. As a resuit
of the PIK Preferred Shares being initially issued in April 2004, no such dividends were accrued in fiscal
20083.

Income (Loss) Applicable to Common Shareholders

As a result of the above, the Company recognized a loss applicable to common shareholders of
$0.8 million in fiscal 2004 compared to income applicable to common shareholders of $499.4 million in
2003.
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Comparison of Combined Successor and Predecessor Year Ended January 3, 2004 and
Predecessor Year Ended December 28, 2002

The following table sets forth components of the Company’s net sales and operating income (loss)
by operating division for the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003,
the combined 2003 period and the corresponding change from 2002 (in millions):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended Combined
January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2003 2002 Change
Net sales
Nonwovens . ............... $515.7 $108.4 $624.1 $ 608.2 $ 15.9
Oriented Polymers . . ...... ... 129.7 24.5 154.2 146.2 8.0
Eliminations . . .............. (0.5) — (0.5) — (0.5)
$644.9 $132.9 $777.8 $7544 $ 234
Operating income (loss)
Nonwovens ................ $ 389 $ 78 $ 46.7 $ 324 $ 143
Oriented Polymers . . ......... 8.5 1.5 10.0 6.7 3.3
Unallocated Corporate, net of
eliminations . ............. (12.6) (8.5) (16.1) (20.5) 4.4
34.8 5.8 40.6 18.6 22.0
Asset impairment . ............ (1.2) — (1.2) (317.9) 316.7
Plant realignment costs . ... ... .. (6.8) — (6.8) (1.1) (5.7
Financial restructuring and other . . — — — (6.2) 6.2
$ 26.8 $ 58 $ 326 $(306.6) $339.2
Net Sales

Consolidated net sales were $777.8 million in 2003, an increase of $23.4 million or 3.1% over 2002
consolidated net sales of $754.4 million. The combined 2003 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks, whereas
fiscal 2002 consisted of 52 weeks. A reconciliation of the change in net sales between 2002 and 2003 is
presented in the following table (in millions):

Net sales—2002 . . . . . .. $754.4
Change in sales due to:
VOIUME . . e e e (9.7)
Price/mixX . . (9.5)
Foreign CUIreNnCY . . . . . . 42.6
Net sales—2003 . . . ... e $777.8

The increase in net sales during 2003 was due primarily to a strengthening of foreign currencies
versus the U. S. dollar offset by volume declines and an unfavorable price/mix of products sold.
Excluding the favorable effects of foreign currency transiation, economic and business issues continued
to impact both operating divisions during 2003 as the Company’s businesses were unfavorably
impacted by general economic conditions in certain regions of the world-wide economy and by the
effects of the financial restructuring efforts associated with the Company’s Chapter 11 process, includ-
ing, in some instances, lost sales from existing customers. However upon emergence from the Chapter
11 process on March 5, 2003, the Company was successful in stabilizing the business, and the
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combined June, September and December quarters of 2003 reflected sales growth of 3.0% over the
prior year comparable period.

Within the Company’s nonwovens business, lower sales volume in the U.S. hygiene and medical
markets and lower sales volume within the European hygiene and wipes markets were partially offset by
volume gains in Latin America and Asia. The 2003 sales were negatively impacted by lower selling price/
mix versus 2002 which occurred primarily within the U.S. and European consumer markets, driven by
general economic conditions and competitive pricing pressures.

Foreign currencies, predominantly the Euro and the Canadian dollar, were stronger against the U.S.
dollar during 2003 compared to 2002 resulting in an increase in net sales of $42.6 million due to the
favorable foreign currency translation. Further discussion of foreign currency exchange rate risk is
contained in “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” included in ltem 7A to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating Income (Loss)

A reconciliation of the change in operating income (loss) between 2002 and 2003 is presented in the
following table (in millions):

Operating 1085—2002 . . . . . ... e $(306.6)
Change in operating income (loss) due to:

" Asset impairment, plant realignmentand other . ................ 317.2
VOlUME . . e (0.8)
Cost savings and other initiatives related to plant realignment and

business restructuring. . . .. ... . .. 20.6
Lower depreciation and amortization expense . . ................ 15.9
Price/mMIX. . e (9.5)
Raw materials ... ... ... ... . (16.2)
Foreign cumency . . ... ..o 2.8
All other . ... e 9.2

Operating income—2003 . . . . .. ... .. $ 326

Consolidated operating income was $32.6 million in 2003 as compared to a loss of $306.6 million in
2002. The 2002 and 2003 operating income was negatively impacted by charges of $325.2 million and
$8.0 million, respectively, for asset impairment, plant realignment and other restructuring costs, or a
positive impact for 2003 of $317.2 million. Other items contributing to the improvement of operating
income in 2003 were cost savings and other initiatives resulting from plant realignment and business
restructuring of $20.6 million, lower depreciation and amortization of approximately $15.9 million,
primarily resulting from a lower depreciable fixed asset base produced by asset impairment charges in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 and fresh start accounting. Offsetting these favorable impacts were
higher raw material costs of $16.2 million, predominantly in the U.S., Canadian, Latin American and
Asian businesses, and lower selling price/mix of $9.5 million driven primarily by general economic
weakness and competitive pricing pressures in the marketplace.

As part of the Company’s restructuring plan initiated upon emergence from Chapter 11, the Com-
pany undertook a broader business restructuring aimed at reducing operating costs at both the manu-
facturing plant and corporate levels, improved manufacturing productivity and component cost savings
through implementation of a global purchasing initiative and business and asset rationalization. Manu-
facturing and operating cost savings were realized within each business segment in 2003 as a result of
these restructuring initiatives.
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Partially as a result of its cost reduction initiatives, the Company reduced its selling, general and
administrative expenses to $94.6 million in the 2003 fiscal year from $100.2 million in fiscal 2002. This
$5.6 million reduction (comprised of a $9.6 million cost savings offset by a $4.0 million unfavorable
currency impact) in such expenses represented a 5.6% year-over-year improvement.

Asset Impairment, Plant Realignment and Other Charges

As further discussed in Note 5 “Business Restructuring and Asset Impairment” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company continued its
restructuring and realignment efforts in 2003. These involved manufacturing initiatives and workforce
reductions, of approximately 164 employees in the U.S. and Europe. As a result of the restructuring and
realignment, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $8.0 million during 2003. The charges consisted
of personnel, facility closing costs and asset impairment. During fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a
charge of $317.9 million for writedown of production assets and buildings ($234.0 million) and goodwill
and other intangibles ($83.9 million). Additionally, during fiscal 2002 the Company reduced its
headcount by approximately 54 employees recognizing a charge to operating results of $1.1 million.
Also, as part of the Company'’s financial restructuring, the Company recorded other charges in fiscal
2002 of $6.2 million.

Interest Expense and Other

Net interest expense decreased $11.8 million, from $71.5 million in 2002 to $59.7 million in 2003,
which included $3.7 million of accrued interest on the Junior Notes that was a payment in kind in lieu of a
cash payment. The decrease in interest expense is due to significantly lower debt levels in 2003
compared to 2002, although it should be noted that the Company discontinued accruing interest on the
Senior Subordinated Notes as of the Petition Date (May 11, 2002) in accordance with SOP 90-7. The
lower debt balances were partially offset by higher interest rates in 2003 as interest expense under the
Company’s Restructured Credit Facility accrued at 12.0% during 2003.

Reorganization ltems

As further described in Note 3 “Chapter 11 Proceedings and Recapitalization” and Note 4 “Fresh
Start Accounting” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, the Company recognized a net gain of $540.5 million in reorganization items upon its
emergence from Chapter 11. These reorganization items primarily included gains on cancellation of
prepetition indebtedness of $619.9 million offset by fresh start adjustments of $47. 5 million and other
costs associated with the reorganization of $31.9 million.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

The Company recorded a net income tax expense of $4.6 million in 2003 primarily related to taxable
income generated by foreign operations. The effective rate in 2003 differed from the statutory rate
primarily as a result of the exclusion from taxable income of the gain from the cancellation of indebted-
ness. Additionally, no income tax benefits were attributed to the 2003 losses sustained in the U.S. as
such losses could not be carried back to prior periods and, as a result of the reorganization, all U.S. loss
carryforwards expired as of January 4, 2004, During 2002, the Company recorded an income tax benefit
of $3.3 million, representing an effective tax benefit rate of 0.8%.

Net Income (Loss)

As a result of the above, the Company recognized net income of $499.4 million in fiscal 2003
compared to a net loss of $419.6 million in 2002.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity for operations and expansions are funds generated
from operations and borrowing availabilities under the Bank Facility, consisting of a revolving credit
facility with aggregate commitments of up to $50.0 million and senior secured first lien term loan of
$300.0 million and a senior secured second lien term loan of $125.0 million. The revolving portion of the
Bank Facility terminates on April 27, 2009, the first lien term loan is due April 27, 2010 and the second lien
termioan is due April 27, 2011. The Bank Facility contains covenants and events of default customary for
financings of this type, including total leverage and interest expense coverage. At January 1, 2005, the
Company is in compliance with all such covenants. As of January 1, 2005, the Company had no
outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit agreement.

Successor
January 1, January 3,
2005 2004
(In Millions)
Balance sheet data:
Cashandcashequivalents .. .................... $ 413 $ 213
Working capital . . . .. ... 187.3 119.1
Working capital, excluding current portion of long-term
debt . ... ... 190.8 153.1
Totalassets . ......... . 753.4 719.1
Totaldebt......... ... ... . . .. . . 414.0 483.4
PIK Preferred Shares, expected to be settled with shares
ofcommonstock ......... ... .. ... ... ... 58.3 —
Total shareholders’ equity . ...................... 73.8 59.2
Fiscal Year Ended
Successor Combined
January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004
(In Millions)
Cash flow data:
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .. $69.9 $20.3
Net cash used in investing activities . .. ... ... (23.1) (25.1)
Net cash used in financing activities . ... ..... (28.1) (25.6)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $69.9 million during 2004, a $49.6 million increase
from the $20.3 million provided by operating activities during 2003. The Company’s cash generation
from operations in 2004 was positively impacted by improved operating results and by the net arbitration
setftlement proceeds of $13.1 million and a $16.7 million decrease in net interest cash costs, with such
positive impacts being partially offset by increases in working capital, primarily due to the growth in sales
in 2004. :

The Company had working capital of approximately $187.3 million at January 1, 2005 compared
with $119.1 million at January 3, 2004. Excluding the current portion of long-term debt, working capital
was $190.8 million at January 1, 2005, compared to $153.1 million at January 3, 2004. Accounts
receivable on January 1, 2005 was $112.3 as compared to $121.1 million on January 3, 2004, a decrease
of $8.8 million. Accounts receivable represented approximately 46 days of sales outstanding at Janu-
ary 1, 2005, compared to 60 days of sales outstanding at January 3, 2004. The decrease was due to
improved efforts in managing the contract sales terms and refinements to the collection process related
to receivables, including the sale of certain receivables pursuant to factoring agreements. Inventories at
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January 1, 2005 were approximately $106.3 million, an increase of $9.8 million from inventories at
January 3, 2004 of $96.5 million. The Company had inventory representing approximately 54 days of
cost of sales on hand at January 1, 2005 versus 59 days of cost of sales on hand at January 3, 2004.
Accounts payable at January 1, 2005 was $63.8 million as compared to $57.1 million on January 3, 2004,
an increase of $6.7 million. Accounts payable represented 32 days of cost of sales outstanding at
January 1, 2005 as compared to 35 days of cost of sales outstanding at the end of fiscal 2003.

The Company’s 2004 and 2003 restructuring activities are discussed in Note 5 “Business Restruc-
turing and Asset Impairment” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Investing and Financing Activities

Cash used for investing activities amounted to $23.1 million and $25.1 million in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Capital expenditures during 2004 totaled $24.8 million, a decrease of $14.9 million from
capital spending of $39.7 million in 2003. A significant portion of the capital expenditures in 2004 related
to the installation of a state-of-the-art nonwovens production line at the Cali, Colombia manufacturing
site, which is expected to become operational by December 2005. Investing activities during 2004 and
2003 included proceeds from the sale of assets of $1.7 million and $14.6 million, respectively.

Cash used in financing activities amounted to $28.1 million and $25.6 million in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In 2004, the Company repaid, on a net basis, $15.8 million of its debt, whereas the
Company repaid, on a net basis, $23.8 million of its debt during 2003. In addition, the Company paid
loan acquisition and other financing costs of $12.4 million and $1.8 million during 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Dividends

The Board of Directors has not declared a dividend on the Company’'s common stock since the first
quarter in 2001. The Bank Facility limits restricted payments to $5.0 million, including cash dividends, in
the aggregate since the effective date of the Bank Facility. The Company does not anticipate paying
dividends on its common stock in future periods.

In January 2005, the Company's Board of Directors declared a dividend on the PIK Preferred Shares
of approximately $5.6 million, payable in the form of additional PIK Preferred Shares. :

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of January 1, 2005, the Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations

The Company leases certain manufacturing, warehousing and other facilities and equipment under
operating leases. The leases on most of the properties contain renewal provisions. Rent expense (net of
sub-lease income), including incidental leases, approximated $4.0 million, $3.2 million and $5.9 million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis, over the
life of the lease. Rental income approximated $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $1.9 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The Company sold its South Brunswick facility in December 2002. Prior to this
transaction, the Company leased the entire facility to a non-affiliated third party (“Medicia”) and then
sub-leased a portion of the facility back from Medicia for use as administrative office space.
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A schedule of the required payments under existing debt agreements and the amounts due under
operating leases that have initial or non-cancellable lease terms in excess of one year as of January 1,
2005, are presented in tabular form below (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter
Debt, including short-term borrowings . . . . . $414.0 $104 $3.0 $3.0 $3.0 $3.0 33916
Operating leases
Third party/nonaffiliate lease expense ... $ 6.1 $ 25 $1.8 $0.9 $0.6 $04 —
Less: sub-lease income ............. 0.2y (029 — — — — —
$ 59 $23 $18 %09 $06 $04 $ —
Purchase commitments (see below) ... ... $ 51.6 — — — — — —

Additionally, the Company expects to contribute approximately $6.0 million to its pension plans in
2005. Contributions in subsequent years will be dependent upon various factors, including actual return
on plan assets, regulatory requirements and changes in actuarial assumptions such as health care cost
trend rate and discount rate.

As noted in the table above, the Company has approximately $414.0 million of debt outstanding as
of January 1, 2005. The Company has fixed the interest rate on approximately 50% of the total debt
through May 2007 with the use of a cash flow hedge agreement. Assuming the rate of interest remains
unchanged from January 1, 2005, cash interest payments would be approximatety $29.1 million,
$28.9 million, $28.7 million, $28.6 million and $28.4 million for 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 20089,
respectively.

At January 1, 2005, the Company had commitments of approximately $51.6 million related to the
purchase of raw materials, maintenance, converting services and capital projects which are expected to
result in cash payments during 2005. In addition, the Company had outstanding letters of credit,
including the Nanhai letter of credit, at January 1, 2005 of approximately $12.5 million.

Liquidity Summary

As discussed more fully in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, on April 27, 2004, the Company refinanced its existing bank credit
facility and entered a new Bank Facility consisting of a $50.0 million revolving credit facility maturing in
2009, a $300.0 million senior secured first lien term loan that matures in 2010 and a $125.0 million senior
secured second-lien term loan maturing in 2011. The proceeds therefrom were used to fully repay
indebtedness outstanding under the Company'’s previous Restructured Credit Facility and pay related
fees and expenses. The senior secured first lien term loan requires quarterly payments of $750,000
beginning in September 2004 and accrues interest at LIBOR plus 325 basis points. The senior secured
second lien term loan accrues interest at LIBOR plus 625 basis points. The revolving credit facility initially
bears interest at LIBOR plus 300 basis points. The Bank Facility provides the Company with increased
flexibility in terms of cash availability, less stringent requirements for covenant compliance, extended
maturity dates and substantially reduced net cash interest costs.

The Bank Facility contains covenants and events of default customary in financings of this type,
including leverage and interest expense coverage. The Bank Facility requires the Company to use a
percentage of proceeds from excess cash flows, as defined by the Bank Facility, to reduce its debt
balances. Through January 1, 2005, the Company had made the mandatory debt repayments of
$1.5 million and optional repayments on the first lien term loan of $17.0 million, which amount was
considered in the calculation of excess cash flow. Additionally, in accordance with the terms of the Bank
Facility, the Company entered a cash flow hedge agreement, effectively converting $212.5 million of
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notional principal amount of debt from a variable LIBOR rate to a fixed LIBOR rate of 3.383%. The cash
flow hedge agreement terminates on May 8, 2007.

In conjunction with the Company’s refinancing of the Restructured Credit Facility, the Company’s
majority shareholder exchanged approximately $42.6 million in aggregate principal amount of the Junior
Notes it controlled for 42,633 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares. Additionalily, in the third
guarter of 2004, $10.1 million of aggregate principal amount of the Company’s Junior Notes were
exchanged for 10,083 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares and 6,719 shares of the Com-
pany’s Class A Common Stock. The dividends on the PIK Preferred Shares accrue at an annual rate of
16% and are payable semi-annually in arrears on each January 1 and July 1, commencing with July 1,
2004, at the option of the Company, (i} through the issuance of additional PIK Preferred Shares; (i) in
cash; or (iii) in a combination thereof. Dividends are cumulative and accrue from the most recent
dividend payment date to which dividends have been paid or, if no dividends have been paid, from the
date of original issuance.

On June 30, 2012, the Company must redeem ali of the PIK Preferred Shares then outstanding at a
price equal to $1,000 per share plus $1,000 per share for all unpaid dividends thereon whether or not
declared, which amount will be payable by the Company, at the option of the Company, (i) in cash;
(ii) through the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock; or (iii} through a combination thereof. If
paid in stock, the number of shares to be delivered by the Company will be the mandatory redemption

price (as defined earlier) divided by the then market price of a share of Class A Common Stock.

At any time prior to June 30, 2012, the holders of the PIK Preferred Shares may elect to convert any
or all of their PIK Preferred Shares into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at a conversion
price equal to $7.29 per share. Also, at any time prior to June 30, 2012, provided certain conditions have
been met, the Company may elect to redeem the shares, which redemption price may be paid by the
Company, (i) in cash; (i) through the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock; or (i) through a
combination thereof. If paid in stock, the number of shares to be delivered by the Company will be the
optional redemption price (as defined by the preferred stock agreement) divided by the then market
price of a share of Class A Common Stock. The Company currently expects to settle the mandatory or
optional redemption with the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock.

On November 15, 2004, the Company entered into a factoring agreement to sell without recourse,
certain receivables to an unrelated third-party financial institution. Under the terms of the factoring
agreement, the maximum amount available for the purchase of domestic receivables at any one time is
$15.0 million, which limitation is subject to change based on the level of eligible receivables, restrictions
on concentrations of receivables and the historical performance of the receivables sold. The sale of
these receivables accelerates the collection of the Company’s cash, reduces credit exposure and lowers
the Company’s borrowing costs.

As discussed in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, the Company has committed to several major projects to expand its worldwide
capacity, including the installation of a new line in Cali, Colombia, an adhesive bond line in Nanhai,
China and line enhancements in Benson, North Carolina. Additionally, the Company announced on
March 22, 2005 that it will install a new spunmelt line in the United States. The financial flexibility needed
for these and other capital projects was provided in an amendment, dated March 16, 2005, 1o the Bank
Facility.

Based on the ability o generate positive cash flows from its operations and the improved financial
flexibility provided by the Bank Facility, as amended, the Company believes that it has the financial
resources necessary to meet its operating needs, fund its capital expenditures and make all necessary
contributions to its retirement plans. Additionally, based on the refinancing of its debt and the exchange
of its Junior Notes for PIK Preferred Shares and Class A common stock, the Company believes that it has
significantly reduced its cash interest costs, improved its financial flexibility and strengthened its finan-
cial position.




Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Effect of Inflation

Inflation generally affects the Company by increasing the costs of labor, overhead, and equipment.
The impact of inflation on the Company’s financial position and results of operations has been minimai
during 2004, 2003 and 2002.

New Accounting Standards

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46”), and amended it by issuing FIN 46R in December 2003. This interpretation provides
guidance on how to identify variable interest entities (“VIEs”) and how an enterprise should assess its
interest in a VIE in order to determine whether the entity should be consolidated. This interpretation
requires existing unconsolidated VIEs to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do
not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. VIEs that effectively disperse risks will not be
consolidated unless a single party holds an interest or combination of interest that effectively recom-
bines risks that were previously dispersed. In December 2003, the FASB completed deliberations of
proposed modifications to FIN 46 and issued revised interpretations resulting in multiple effective dates
based on the nature, as well as the creation date, of the VIE. VIEs created after January 31, 2003, but
prior to January 1, 2004, may be accounted for based on either interpretation. VIEs created after
January 1, 2004 must be accounted for under the revised interpretations. Special Purpose Entities
(“SPEs”) created prior to February 1, 2003 may be accounted for based on either interpretation.
Non-SPEs created prior to February 1, 2003 should be accounted for under the revised interpretation’s
provisions. The Company has determined that it does not have any relationships or contracts that
constitute a variable interest.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Require-
ments Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
(“FSP 106-2"). FSP 106-2 permits a sponsor of a postretirement health care plan that provides a
prescription drug benefit to make a one-time election to defer accounting for the effects of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“'the Act”), which was signed into law
on December 8, 2003. The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare and federal
subsidies to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially
equivalent to that of Medicare. As permitted under FSP 106-2, the Company made a one-time election to
defer accounting for the effect of the Act and as more fully explained in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, in December 2004 the Company approved plan amendments curtailing or eliminat-
ing various postretirement benefits in the U.S. As a result, the amounts included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements related to the Company’s postretirement benefit plans do not reflect the effects of
the Act.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs” (“SFAS No. 151”). This
statement amends earlier guidance to require that abnormal freight, handling and spoilage costs be
recognized as current-period charges rather than capitalized as an inventory cost. In addition, SFAS
No. 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overhead costs be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is currently analyzing the new guidance and does not
expect it to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies And Other Matters

The Company’s analysis and discussion of its financial position and results of operations are based
upon its consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with accounting
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principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the appropriate application of certain accounting policies,
many of which require management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that may
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities. Since future events and their impact cannot be determined with certainty, the
actual results will inevitably differ from the estimates. The Company evaluates these estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis, including but not limited to those related to fresh start accounting,
revenue recognition sales returns and allowances and credit risks, inventories, income taxes, and
impairment of long-lived assets. Estimates and assumptions are based on historical and other factors
believed to be reascnable under the circumstances. The impact and any associated risks related to
estimates, assumptions, and accounting policies are discussed within “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Operations and Financial Condition,” as well as in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, if applicable, where such estimates, assumptions, and accounting policies affect the Com-
pany’s reported and expected results.

The Company believes the following accounting policies are critical to its business operations and
the understanding of results of operations and affect the more significant judgments and estimates used
in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements:

Fresh Start Accounting: In connection with the Company’s Chapter 11 reorganization, the Com-
pany has applied Fresh Start Accounting (as defined herein) to its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
March 1, 2003 in accordance with Statement of Position No. 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code” as promulgated by the AICPA. Under Fresh Start Report-
ing, a new reporting entity is considered to be created and the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities
are adjusted to reflect their estimated fair values at the date Fresh Start Accounting is applied. On
March 5, 2003, the Company emerged from bankruptcy. For financial reporting purposes, March 1, 2003
is considered the emergence date and the effects of the reorganization have been reflected in the
accompanying financial statements as if the emergence occurred on that date.

The reorganization value of the Company’s new common equity at March 1, 2003 of approximately
$73.4 million was determined based on an independent valuation by financial specialists after consider-
ation of multiple factors and by using various valuation methodologies and evaluating other relevant
industry information. The reorganization value of the Company was allocated to the various assets and
liabilities based on their respective fair values pursuant to Fresh Start Accounting principles. The
calculated reorganization value of the Company was based on a variety of estimates and assumptions
about future circumstances and events. Such estimates and assumptions are inherently subject to
significant economic uncertainties.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from product sales is recognized when title and risks of owner-
ship pass to the customer. This is generally on the date of shipment to the customer, or upon deliveryto a
place named by the customer, dependent upon contract terms and when collectibility is reasonably
assured and pricing is fixed or determinable. Revenue includes amounts billed to customers for shipping
and handling. Provision for rebates, promotions, product returns and discounts to customers is
recorded as a reduction in determining revenue in the same period that the revenue is recognized.
Management bases its estimate of the expense to be recorded each period on historical returns and
allowance levels. Management does not believe the likelihood is significant that materially higher
deduction levels will result based on prior experience.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risks: Accounts receivable potentially expose
the Company to a concentration of credit risk, as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards No. 105, “Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk and
Financial Instruments with Concentration of Credit Risk.” The Company provides credit in the normal
course of business and performs ongoing credit evaluations on its customers’ financial condition as
deemed necessary, but generally does not require collateral to support such receivables. The Company
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also establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of
specific customers, historical trends and other information. Also, in an effort to reduce its credit exposure
to certain customers, as well as accelerate its cash flows, in 2004 the Company sold, on a non-recourse
basis, certain of its receivables pursuant to a factoring agreement. At January 1, 2005, a reserve of
$10.9 million has been recorded as an allowance against trade accounts receivable. Management
believes that the allowance is adequate to cover potential losses resulting from uncollectible accounts
receivable and deductions resulting from sales returns and allowances.

Inventory Reserves: The Company maintains reserves for inventories valued using the first in, first
out (FIFO) method. Such reserves for inventories can be specific to certain inventory or general based
on judgments about the overall condition of the inventory. General reserves are established based on
percentage write-downs applied to inventories aged for certain time periods. Specific reserves are
established based on a determination of the obsolescence of the inventory and whether the inventory
value exceeds amounts to be recovered through expected sales price, less selling costs. Estimating
Sales prices, establishing markdown percentages and evaluating the condition of the inventories require
judgments and estimates, which may impact the inventory valuation and gross margins. Management
believes based on its prior experience of managing and evaluating the recoverability of its stow moving
or obsolete inventory that such established reserves are materially adequate.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For assets held
and used, an impairment may occur if projected undiscounted cash flows are not adequate to cover the
carrying value of the assets. In such cases, additional analysis is conducted to determine the amount of
the loss to be recognized. The impairment loss is determined by the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the fair value measured by future discounted cash flows. The analysis, when
conducted, requires estimates of the amount and timing of projected cash flows and, where applicable,
judgments associated with, among other factors, the appropriate discount rate. Such estimates are
critical in determining whether any impairment charge should be recorded and the amount of such
charge if an impairment loss is deemed to be necessary. In addition, future events impacting cash fiows
for existing assets could render a writedown necessary that previously required no writedown.,

For assets held for disposal, an impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of the assets
exceeds the fair value less costs to sell. Estimates are required of fair value, disposal costs and the time
period to dispose of the assets. Such estimates are critical in determining whether any impairment
charge should be recorded and the amount of such charge if an impairment loss is deemed to be
necessary. Actual cash flows received or paid could differ from those used in estimating the impairment
loss, which would impact the impairment charge ultimately recognized and the Company’s cash flows.

iIncome Taxes: The Company records an income tax valuation allowance when the realization of
certain deferred tax assets, including net operating losses and capital loss carry forwards is not likely.
These deferred tax items represent expenses recognized for financial reporting purposes, which will
result in tax deductions over varying future periods. The Company has not provided U.S. income taxes
for undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are considered to be retained indefinitely for
reinvestment. Certain judgments, assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of the
valuation allowance and deferred income tax expense in the Company’'s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Environmental

The Company is subject to a broad range of federal, foreign, state and local laws and regulations
relating to the pollution and protection of the environment. The Company believes that it is currently in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental requirements and does not currently anticipate
any material adverse effect on its operations, financial or competitive position as a result of its efforts to
comply with environmental requirements. Some risk of environmental liability is inherent, however, in the
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nature of the Company’s business and, accordingly, there can be no assurance that material environ-
mental liabilities will not arise.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company is exposed to market risks for changes in foreign currency rates and interest rates
and has exposure to commodity price risks, including prices of its primary raw materials. The overall
objective of the Company’s financial risk management program is to seek a reduction in the potential
negative earnings impact of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange and raw material pricing arising
in our business activities. The Company manages these financial exposures, where possible, through
operational means and by using various financial instruments. These practices may change as eco-
nomic conditions change.

Long-Term Debt and Interest Rate Market Risk

The Company's long-term borrowings are variable interest rate debt. As such, the Company’s
interest expense will increase as interest rates rise and decrease as interest rates fall. it is the Company’s
policy to enter into interest rate derivative transactions only to meet its stated overall objective. The
Company does not enter into these transactions for speculative purposes. To that end, as further
described in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract to effectively convert $212.5 mil-
lion of its variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt. Hypothetically, a 1% change in the interest rate affecting all
of the Company’s financial instruments not protected by the interest rate swap contract would change
interest expense by approximately $2.0 miilion.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt at January 1, 2005 was approximately $421.5 mil-
lion, which approximated its carrying value. Fair market values were determined from estimates made by
investment bankers.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company manufactures, markets and distributes certain of its products in Europe, Canada,
Latin America and Asia. As a result, the Company’s financial statements could be significantly affected
by factors such as changes in foreign currency rates in the foreign markets in which the Company
maintains a manufacturing or distribution presence. However, such currency fluctuations have much
less effect on local operating resuits because the Company, to a significant extent, sells its products
within the countries in which they are manufactured. During 2004 and 2003, certain currencies of
countries in which the Company conducts foreign currency denominated business strengthened
against the U.S. dollar and had a significant impact on sales and operating income. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ included in ltem 7 to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has not historically hedged its exposure to foreign currency risk, although it has
mitigated its risk of currency losses on foreign monetary assets by sometimes borrowing in foreign
currencies as a natural hedge. The Company is also subject to political risk in certain of its foreign
operations.

Raw Material and Commodity Risks

The primary raw materials used in the manufacture of most of the Company’s products are
polypropylene resin, polyester fiber, polyethylene resin, and, to a lesser extent, rayon, tissue paper and
cotton. The prices of polypropylene, polyethylene and polyester are a function of, among other things,
manufacturing capacity, demand and the price of crude oil and natural gas liquids. The Company has
not historically hedged its exposure to raw material increases, but has attempted to move more cus-
tomer programs to contracts, which would allow the Company to pass-through any cost increases in raw
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materials. Raw material prices as a percentage of sales have increased from 46.9% in 2003 to 48.6% for
2004.

To the extent the Company is not able to pass along price increases of raw materials, or to the extent
any such price increases are delayed, the Company’s cost of goods sold would increase and its
operating profit would correspondingly decrease. By way of example, if the price of polypropylene were
to rise $.01 per pound, and the Company was not able to pass along any of such increase to its
customers, the Company would realize a decrease of approximately $2.9 million, on an annualized
basis, in its reported operating income. Material increases in raw material prices that cannot be passed
on to customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and
financial condition. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” included in item 7 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Polymer Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Polymer Group, Inc. as of
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
shareholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the fiscal year ended
January 1, 2005, the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003
(Predecessor Company and date of reorganization for accounting purposes) and the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2002 (Predecessor Company). Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-
ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Polymer Group, Inc. at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005,
the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 (date of reorganization for
accounting purposes) and the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective March 5, 2003,
the Company emerged from protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Court pursuant to a
Modified Reorganization Plan that was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on January 16, 2003. In
accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, the Company adopted “fresh start” accounting
whereby its assets, liabilities and new capital structure were adjusted to reflect estimated fair value at
March 1, 2003 {the date of reorganization for accounting purposes). As a result, the consolidated
financial statements for the period subsequent to March 1, 2003 reflect the Successor Company’s new
basis of accounting and are not comparable to the Predecessor Company’s pre-reorganization consoli-
dated financial statements.

Additionally, as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in 2002, the Company
changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Greenville, South Carolina
March 23, 2005
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POLYMER GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In Thousands, Except Share Data)

January 1, January 3,

2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents . . ........ .. i i, $ 41,296 $ 21,336
Accounts receivable, net. . . .. ... L 112,286 121,146
0 3Y7= ] €0 1T 106,349 96,513
Deferred incCome taxes . . . . . .. . oo i e e 226 143
Other current assets . ... .. ... .. e 37,140 20,554
Total current @ssets. . . . . v . e e e 297,297 259,692
Property, plant and equipment, net . . . . ... ... .. ... 402,603 416,508
Intangibles and loan acquisition costs, net . . ........ ... .. ... .. .. oL 48,819 33,560
Deferred incCome taxes . . .. .. . i e 1,489 2,335
Other assets . . . . ... e e 3,145 6,967
Total @SSBES . . . . e e e e e $753,353 $719,062
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term bormowWINgS . . . . . e e $ 6,981 $ 8,454
Accounts payable . . .. .. .. . e 63,773 57,091
Accrued liabilities . . . . . e e e 33,365 39,850
Income taxes payable . ... .. ... .. . . .. 2,427 1,190
Current portion of long-termdebt. . . .. ... .. ... ... .. .. .. 3,413 34,001
Total current liabilities . .. .. ... ... . . e 109,959 140,586
Longtermdebt . ... ... . .. . e 403,560 440,992
Deferred iINCOME taXES . . . . v o v i e e 65,468 28,711
Other noncurrent liabilities . . . .. ... . ... ... ... . e 27,319 35,422
Total liabilities . . . . ... 606,306 645,711
Minority interests . . . . .. ... e 14,912 14,151
16% Series A convertible pay-in-kind preferred shares — 52,716 shares issued and
outstanding at January 1, 2005 . . .. ... ... . .. e 58,286 —
Shareholders’ equity:
Class A common stock—10,130,477 and 8,228,425 shares issued and outstanding
at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively . ... ............... 101 82
Class B common stock—193,390 and 389,977 shares issued and outstanding at
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively ... ... ............... 2 4
Class C common stock—54,194 and 34,892 shares issued and outstanding at
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively ... .................. 1 —
Class D common stock—O0 shares issued and outstanding ................. — —
Class E common stock—O0 shares issued and outstanding ... .............. — —
Additional paid-in capital . .. ... .. ... .. 77,219 73,304
Retained earnings (deficit) . ....... ... .. . . .. .. . (83,819) (32,985)
Accumulated other comprehensiveincome . .. ....... .. ... .. .. .. 30,345 18,795
Total shareholders’ equity .. .. .. .. ... .. .. . ... . . . . e 73,849 59,200
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . . ......... ... ... ... .. ..... $753,353  $719,062

See accompanying notes, including Note 2 describing the Successor and Predecessor companies.
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POLYMER GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Successor Predecessor
Fiscal Ten Months Two Months Fiscal
Year Ended Ended Ended Year Ended
January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 December 28, 2002

Netsales. . ......... ... ... ...... $844,734 $644,893 $132,895 $ 754,437
Costof goodssold . ............... 691,272 531,390 111,110 635,639
Grossprofit ... ... ... ... ... . ... 153,462 113,503 21,785 118,798
Selling, general and administrative expenses . 99,163 78,682 15,956 100,215
Asset impairment . .. ... ... ... .. ... 2,253 1,207 — 317,898
Plant realignmentcosts . . . ........ ... 1,867 6,802 4 1,054
Arbitration settlement, net. . . .. ... ... .. (13,112) — — —
Financial restructuring expenses . . ... ... — — — 3,634
Other retirementcosts . . . . . ..... ... .. — — — 2,608
Operating income (loss) .. ........... 63,291 26,812 5,826 (306,611)

Other expense (income):
Interest expense, net (contractual interest of
$20,306 for the two months ended
March 1, 2003 and $110,052 for the
period from May 11, 2002 through

December 28,2002) ... ........... 40,252 49,036 10,665 71,478
Investment (gain) loss, net . . . .. ... ... — (3) (291) 1,806
Minority interests . . . .. ... ... .. .. 2,597 2,028 441 1,366
Foreign currency and other . . . . . ... .. 7,716 5,808 1,434 14,018

50,565 56,869 12,249 88,669

Income (loss) before reorganization items,

income tax expense (benefit) and

cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle . . ... ... ... L. 12,726 (30,057) (6,423) (395,280)
Reorganization items, (gain) loss:

Gain on cancellation of prepetition

indebtedness . . . .............. — — (619,913) —_
Fresh start adjustments . . . .. ... .. ... — 47,460 —
Chapter 11 reorganization expenses . . . . . — — 12,579 14,873
Other. .. ..... ... ... .. ....... — — 19,395 —
— — (540,479) 14,873
Income (loss) before income tax expense
(benefit) and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle . . . . ... .. ... ... 12,726 (30,057) 534,056 (410,153)
Income tax expense (benefity ... ... .... 7,994 2,928 1,692 (3,290)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle . . . .. . .. 4,732 (82,985) 532,364 (406,863)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, netoftax . . . ..... .. ... ... — — —_ 12,774
Netincome (loss) . . ........ ....... 4,732 (32,985) 532,364 (419,637)
Accrued dividends on PIK preferred shares . . 5,566 — — —
Income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders . . ... ... ........... $ (834) $ (32,985) $532,364 $(419,637)
Income (loss) per common share—Basic: ‘
Average common shares outstanding . . . . 9,840 8,650 32,004 32,004
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle . . . . . . . $ (0.09) $ (3.81) $ 16.63 $ (12.71)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, netoftax . . ... .. ....... : — — — (0.40)
Income (loss) per common share . .. ... . $ (0.09) $ (3.81) $ 1663 $ (13.11)
Income (loss) per common share—Diluted:
Average common shares outstanding . . . . 9,840 8,650 32,004 32,004
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle . . . . . . . $ (0.09) $ (3.81) $ 16.63 $ (12.71)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, netoftax . . . ..... ... ... — — — (0.40)
Income (loss) per common share . . . . .. $ (0.09) $ (3.81) $ 16.63 $ (13.11)

See accompanying notes, including Note 2 describing the Successor and Predecessor companies.
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POLYMER GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the Fiscal Year Ended January 1, 2005, the Ten Months Ended January 3, 2004,
the Two Months Ended March 1, 2003 and the Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 2002
(In Thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Retained Com or:ehheernslve
mCommon Stock Paid-in  Earnings lgcome Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) (Loss) Total Income (Loss)

Predecessor:
Balance—December 29, 2001 . . . .. 32,004 $ 320 $243,722 $(241,935) § (50,969) $ (48,862)
Netloss . ............... ... —_ -— (419,637) — (419,637) $(419,637)
Currency translation adjustments,

including income tax adjustments

of $12,000 . . ... ... ... .. — — — 9,329 9,329 9,329
Unrealized holding ‘gain on

marketable securities . .. ... ... — — — 655 655 655
Minimum pension liability, net of tax . — — — (7,399) (7,399) (7,399)
Balance—December 28, 2002 . . . . . 32,004 320 243,722 (661,572) (48,384) (465,914) $(417,052)
Net loss, excluding effects of

reorganizationitems . . . ... .. .. — — (8,115) — (8,115) (8,115)
Currency translation adjustments . . . — — — 6,784 6,784 6,784
Unrealized hoiding loss on

marketable securities . .. ... ... — — — (655) (655) (655)
Minimum pension liability . . ... ... — — — (460) (460) (460)
Effect of reorganization items:

Cancellation of Predecessor stock . (32,004) (320) (243,722) — — (244,042) (244,042)

Issuance of Successor stock . ... 8,644 86 73,304 73,390 73,390

Other fresh start adjustments . . . . — — 669,687 42,715 712,402 712,402
Successor:
Balance—March 1, 2003 .. ...... 8,644 86 73,304 — — 73,390 $ 539,304
Netloss ................... — —  (32,985) — (32,985) (32,985)
Issuance of Successor stock . . . . . ., 9 — — — — — —
Currency translation adjustments . . . — — — 18,795 18,795 18,795
Balance—January 3,2004 ..... .. 8,653 86 73,304  (32,985) 18,795 59,200 $ (14,190)
Netincome . .. .............. — — 4,732 — 4,732 4,732
Accrued dividends on PIK preferred

shares .. .............. ... — — (6,566) — (5,566) —
Cash flow hedge adjustment, net of

reclassification adjustment . . . . .. —_ — — 320 320 320
Compensation recognized on stock

options and restricted stock grants — 1,177 — — 1,177 —
Class A and Class C common stock :

issued under order of United States

Bankruptcy Court. . . .. ... . ... 1,347 14 (14) — — — —
Conversion of junior notes to Class A

commonstock ............. 378 4 2,752 — — 2,756 —
Minimum pension liability, net of tax . — — — 472 472 472
Currency translation adjustments, net

oftax ... ... L. — — — 10,758 10,758 10,758
Balance—January 1,2005 . ...... 10,378 $ 104 $ 77,219 $ (33,819) $ 30,345 $ 73,849 $ 16,282

See accompanying notes, including Note 2 describing the Successor and Predecessor companies.
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POLYMER GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities:
Netincome (loss) . . .. ...........
Adjustments to reconcile net income
(loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle, net of tax . .
Asset impairment . .. ... .. ... .
investrent and other gains (losses)
Cancellation of prepetition
indebtedness . . . ..........
Postretirement benefit curtailments
andother,met . .. ....... ...
Deferred income taxes . . . ... ...
Fresh start adjustments . . . ... ..
Loan acquisition cost write-off . . . .
Depreciation and amortization . . . .
Noncash interest and compensation
Changes in operating assets and
Habilities, net of effect of
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net . . . . ..
Inventories . . . ... .........
Current and other assets . . . . . .
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities . . .............
Other, net

Net cash provided by {used in)
operating activities. . .. ... ... ...

Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and
equipment . . ... ... ... ... .. ..
Proceeds from sale of marketable
securities. . . . ... ... ...
Proceeds from sale of assets
Other,net. ... ................

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities . ... .. ... ... ..

Financing activities:
Proceeds fram issuance of debt
Repaymentofdebt. ... ... .......
Loan acquisition costs and other . . . . .

Net cash used in financing activities . . .
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash . . .

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents . . .. ....... ... .. ...

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period . . ...

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
period . . . .. ...

(In Thousands)

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Fiscal Year Ended Ended Ended Fiscal Year Ended
January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004 March 1, 20038 December 28, 2002

$ 4,732 $ (32,985) $ 532,364 $(419,637)
— — — 12,774

2,253 1,207 — 317,898

(50) 3) (291 1,806

— — (619,913) —

(3,558) — — -
2,397 2,928 3,010 (7,259)

— — 47,460 —

5,022 — 10,217 —
53,230 42,620 8,812 71,556
2,936 3,717 — —
5136 2,752 (8,195) 8,229
(6,954) 17,703 (887) 257
4,155 11,997 6,675 4,562

440 (17,561) 13,027 28,166

157 838 (5,180) 16,991
69,896 33,213 (12,801) 35,343
(24,791) (36,675) (3,082) (15,379)
_ — 11,867 4,830

1,660 2,766 — —
(13} — 15 (5)
(23,144) (33,909) 8,820 (10,554)
486,396 16,718 535,310 660
(502,158) (26,773) (549,031) (8,291)
(12,371) (832) (948) (7,736)
(28,133) (10,887) (14,669) (15,367)
1,341 1,136 4,632 8,248
19,960 (10,447) (14,118) 17,670
21,336 31,783 45,901 28,231

$ 41,206 $ 21,338 $ 31,783

$ 45,901

See accompanying notes, including Note 2 describing the Successor and Predecessor companies.
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Note 1. Principles of Consolidation

Polymer Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is a publicly-traded, multinational manufacturer, marketer
and seller of nonwoven and oriented polyolefin products. The Company’s main sources of revenue are
the sales of primary and intermediate products to the medical, hygiene, wipes, industrial and specialty
markets.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Polymer Group, Inc.
and afl majority-owned subsidiaries after elimination of all significant intercompany accounts and trans-
actions. The accounts of all foreign subsidiaries have been included on the basis of fiscal periods ended
three months or less prior to the dates of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. All amounts are presented in
U.S. dollars, unless otherwise noted. Investments in 20% to 50% owned affiliates where the Company is
able to exercise significant influence, but not control, are accounted for by the equity method and,
accordingly, the consolidated results of operations include the Company’s share of the affiliates’ income
or loss.

Note 2. Accounting Policies and Financial Statement Information
Basis of Presentation

The Company emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings effective March 5, 2003 (the
“Effective Date”’). For accounting purposes the Company recognized the emergence on March 1, 2003,
which was the end of the February 2003 accounting period. The Company adopted “fresh-start account-
ing” as of March 1, 2003, and the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 resulted in a new reporting
entity. The reorganization value of the Company has been allocated to the underlying assets and
liabilities based on their respective fair values at the date of emergence. References tc “Predecessor”
refer to the old Polymer Group and its subsidiaries on and prior to March 1, 2003 and references fo
“Successor” refer to Polymer Group and its subsidiaries as of and subsequent to March 2, 2003 after
giving effect to the implementation of fresh start accounting. Accordingly, in accordance with financial
reporting requirements for companies emerging from Chapter 11, financial information for the twelve
months ended January 3, 2004 is not presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements since such
information would combine the results of the Predecessor and Successor.

In accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 80-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorgani-
zation under the Bankruptcy Code,” (*SOP 90-7"), prior to the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceedings, revenues, expenses, realized gains and losses, and provisions for costs
resulting from the reorganization are repotted separately as reorganization items in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31. Fiscal 2004 ended
January 1, 2005 and included the results of operations for a fifty-two week period. Fiscal 2003 ended
January 3, 2004 and included the results of operations for a fifty-three week period, which is comprised
of a two month Predecessor period ended March 1, 2003 (9 weeks) and a ten month Successor period
ended January 3, 2004 (44 weeks). Fiscal 2002 ended December 28, 2002 and included the results of
operations for a fifty-two week period.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts previously presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements for prior periods
have been reclassified to conform with the current year classification, including the reclassification of
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certain immaterial rebates, promotional incentives and freight bilied to customers from Selling, general
and administrative expenses to Net sales in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established by the Company based upon factors surrounding
the credit risk of specific customers, historical trends and other information. Management believes that
the allowance is adequate to cover potential losses resulting from uncollectible accounts. Additionally,
sales returns and allowances, a component of net sales, are recorded in the period in which the related
sales are recorded. Management bases its estimate of the expense to be recorded each period on
historical return and allowance levels.

The Company maintains reserves for inventories valued primarily using the firstin, first out (“FIFO”)
method. Such reserves for inventories can be specific to certain inventory or general based on judg-
ments about the overall condition of the inventory. General reserves are established based on percent-
age write-downs applied to inventories aged for certain time periods. Specific reserves are established
based on a determination of the obsolescence of the inventory and whether the inventory value exceeds
amounts to be recovered through expected sales price, less selling costs. Estimating sales prices,
establishing write-down percentages and evaluating the condition of the inventories require judgments
and estimates, which may impact the inventory valuation and gross profits.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For assets held and used, an impairment
may occur if projected undiscounted cash flows are not adequate to cover the carrying value of the
assets. In such cases, additional analysis is conducted to determine the amount of the loss to be
recognized. The impairment loss is determined by the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset and the fair value measured by future discounted cash flows. The analysis, when conducted,
requires estimates of the amount and timing of projected cash flows and, where applicable, judgments
associated with, among other factors, the appropriate discount rate. Such estimates are critical in
determining whether any impairment charge should be recorded and the amount of such charge if an
impairment loss is deemed to be necessary. In addition, future events impacting cash flows for existing
assets could render a writedown necessary that previously required no writedown.

For assets held for disposal, an impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of the assets
exceeds the fair value less costs to sell. Estimates are required of fair value, disposal costs and the time
period to dispose of the assets. Such estimates are critical in determining whether any impairment
charge should be recorded and the amount of such charge if an impairment loss is deemed to be
necessary. Actual cash flows received could differ from those used in estimating the impairment loss,
which would impact the impairment charge ultimately recognized.

The Company has estimated the fair values of financial instruments as required by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“*SFAS”) No. 107, "‘Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instru-
ments”, using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, consid-
erable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value for non-traded
financial instruments. Accordingly, such estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the
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Company would realize in a current market exchange. The carrying amount of cash and cash equiva-
lents, accounts receivable, inventaries, other current assets and accounts payable and accrued liabili-
ties are reasonable estimates of their fair values. Fair value of the Company’s debt was estimated using
interest rates at those dates for issuance of such financial instruments with similar terms and credit
ratings and remaining maturities and other independent valuation methodologies. The estimated fair
value of debt, based on appropriate valuation methodologies, at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
was $421.5 million and $483.4 million, respectively.

The reorganization value of the Company’s new common equity of approximately $73.4 million at
March 1, 2003 was determined based on an independent valuation by financial specialists after consid-
eration of muitiple factors and by using various valuation methodologies and evaluating other relevant
industry information. The reorganization value of the Company was allocated to the various assets and
liabilities based on their respective fair values pursuant to fresh start accounting principles. The calcu-
lated reorganization value of the Company was based on a variety of estimates and assumptions about
future circumstances and events. Such estimates and assumptions are inherently subject to significant
economic uncertainties.

The Company has pension and post retirement costs and obligations which are dependent on
assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. These assumptions include discount rates,
inflation rates, salary growth percentages, long-term return on plan assets, retirement rates, mortality
rates and other factors. While the Company believes that the assumptions used are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions would affect its
pension and postretirement costs and obligations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized when title and risks of ownership pass to the customer.
This is generally on the date of shipment to the customer, or upon delivery to a place named by the
customer, dependent upon contract terms and when collectibility is reasonably assured and pricing is
fixed or determinable. Revenue includes amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling. Provi-
sion for rebates, promotions, product returns and discounts to customers is recorded as a reduction in
determining revenue in the same period that the revenue is recognized.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term investments having an original maturity of three months
or less. Interest income is presented as a reduction of Interest expense, net in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations and consists primarily of income from highly liquid investment
sources. Interest income approximated $0.2 million, $0.7 million and $2.6 million during 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Short-Term Investments

The Company accounts for its investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” which requires that certain debt and equity securities
be adjusted to market value at the end of each accounting period. Market value gains and losses are
charged to earnings if the securities are traded for short-term profit. Otherwise, such gains and losses
are charged or credited to the comprehensive income component of shareholders’ equity. During 2002,
the Company recognized losses of $2.2 million in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Topic
D-44 “Recognition of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment upon the Planned Sale of a Security Whose
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Cost Exceeds Fair Value.” Such losses were previously classified as a component of Other Comprehen-
sive Income (Loss) in the equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Management determines
the proper classifications of investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such designation as of
each balance sheet date. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments, as determined on a specific
identification basis, are included in the determination of net income.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risks

Accounts receivable potentially expose the Company to a concentration of credit risk, as defined by
SFAS No. 105, “Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk and
Financial Instruments with Concentration of Credit Risk.” The Company provides credit in the normal
course of business and performs ongoing credit evaluations on its customers’ financiai condition, as
deemed necessary, but generally does not require collateral to support such receivables. Customer
balances are considered past due based on contractual terms and the Company does not accrue
interest on the past due balances. Also, in an effort to reduce its credit exposure to certain customers, as
well as accelerate its cash flows, in 2004, the Company sold on a non-recourse basis, certain of its
receivables pursuant to a factoring agreement. The provision for losses on uncollectible accounts is
determined principally on the basis of past collection experience applied to ongoing evaluations of our
receivables and evaluations of the risk of repayment. The allowance for doubtful accounts was approxi-
mately $10.9 million and $13.6 million at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively, which
management believes is adequate to provide for credit loss in the normal course of business, as well as
losses for customers who have filed for protection under bankruptcy laws. Once management deter-
mines that the receivables are not recoverable, the amounts are removed from the financial records
along with the corresponding reserve balance. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, The Procter & Gamble Company
("P&G”) accounted for 12%, 13% and 12%, respectively, of the Company’s sales.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market primarily using the FIFO method of accounting.

Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
computed for financial reporting purposes on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets. The estimated useful lives established for building and improvements range from 18
to 31 years, and the estimated useful lives established for machinery, equipment and other fixed assets
range from 5 to 15 years. Costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Costs of
the construction of certain long-term assets include capitalized interest that is amortized over the
estimated useful life of the related asset. The Company capitalized approximately $0.4 million, $0.8 mil-
lion and $0.4 million of interest costs during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142") provides that amortization of
goodwill and indefinite-lived assets is no longer permitted. SFAS No. 142 requires that these assets be
reviewed for impairment upon adoption and annually thereafter, unless special circumstances indicate
that a more timely review is warranted. Pursuant to its adoption of SFAS No. 142 in fiscal 2002, the
Company recognized a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax, related to
goodwill, of approximately $12.8 million during 2002.
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Derivatives

. The Company records all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at
their fair value, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and
Hedging Activities”, as amended, (“SFAS No. 133"). Changes in the fair value of a derivative are
recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether a
derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction ang, if it is, depending on the type of hedge
transaction. Ineffective portions, if any, of all hedges are recognized in current period earnings.

As more fully described in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company, in the
normal course of business, enters into derivative financia! instruments, principally swaps and forward
option contracts, with high-quality counterparties as part of its risk management strategy. These financial
instruments are limited to non-trading purposes and are used principally to manage market risks and
reduce the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency and interest rates. Most interest rate
swaps and foreign exchange contracts are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges of variable rate
debt obligations or foreign currency-denominated transactions.

The Company documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as the risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions and the
methodologies that will be used for measuring effectiveness and ineffectiveness. This process includes
linking all derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the
balance sheet or to specific firm commitments. The Company then assesses, both at the hedge’s
inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are
expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. Such
assessments are conducted in accordance with the originally documented risk management strategy
and methodology for that particular hedging relationship.

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of recognized derivative gains and losses reclassified
from other comprehensive income is classified consistent with the classification of the hedged item. For
example, derivative gains and losses associated with hedges of interest rate payments are recognized in
Interest expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Additionally, the Company has certain foreign exchange contracts that are considered immaterial
and not designated as hedges. These contracts are accounted for by adjusting the carrying amount to
market and recognizing any gain or loss in Other expense (income), net in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes and corresponding balance sheet accounts is determined in accor-
dance with the fiability method. Tax provisions and credits are recorded at statutory rates for taxable
items included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations regardless of the period for which such
items are reported for tax purposes. Additionally, federal income taxes are provided on that portion of the
income of foreign subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the United States (“U.S.”) and be
taxable. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based upon temporary differences between
the basis of certain assets and liabilities for income tax and financial reporting purposes. A valuation
allowance is established when it is more likely than not that some portion of a deferred tax asset will not
be realized in the future. Valuation allowances are reviewed each period on a tax jurisdiction by
jurisdiction basis to analyze whether a change in circumstances has occurred to provide enough
evidence to support a change in the judgment about the realization of the related deferred tax asset in
future years.
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Implementation of the Modified Plan, described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
resulted in the Company recognizing cancellation of indebtedness income (*CODI"). All of the CODI is
excluded from taxable income. However, at January 4, 2004 the Company has reduced certain of its tax
attributes by an amount not exceeding the CODI it realized. In general, tax attributes have been reduced
at the close of the 2003 tax year in the following order: (i) net operating loss carryforwards; (ii) general
business credits and capital loss carryforwards; and (iii) tax basis in assets.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to account for stock-based compensation related to its employee stock
option plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Empioyees” (“APB No. 25”). For options awarded at
fair market value and that vest based on the passage of time, no compensation cost is recognized. For
options that vest based on the achievement of certain performance criteria, compensation cost is
measured as the amount by which the quoted market value of the shares of the Company’s stock
covered by the grant exceeds the option price that the employee must pay to acquire the stock and such
compensation cost is charged to expense over the period of employee service.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” The revision, entitled SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” is effective for all
awards granted, modified, repurchased or canceled after June 15, 2005 and requires a public entity to
initially measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the grant-date fair value of the award and to remeasure the fair value of that award subse-
quently at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value during the requisite service period will be
recognized as compensation cost over that period. The grant date fair value is to be estimated using
option-pricing models adjusted for the unique characteristics of those instruments. In calculating the
impact for options granted, the Company has estimated the fair value of each option grant by using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Assumptions are evaluated and revised, as necessary, io reflect
market conditions and experience and included the following: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of
20%; risk-free interest rate of 5%; and weighted average expected lives of five years. Had compensation
cost been determined based on the fair value-based method, the Company’s net income (loss), income
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(loss) applicable to common shareholders and income (loss) per share would have changed to the pro
forma amounts indicated below (in thousands, except per share data):

Successor Predecessor

Two Months
Ten Months Ended Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Net income (loss):

Asreported(ad) ... ... $ 4,732 $(32,985) $532,364  $(419,637)

Pro forma adjustments . . .......... ... ... . ... 3) — —_— (1,202)

Proforma ... ........ .. ... . $ 4,729 $(32,985) $532,364  $(420,839)
Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders:

Asreported(ad) . . . . ... $ (834) $(32,985) $532,364  $(419,637)

Pro forma adjustments ... . ........ ... .. ... .. (3) — — (1,202)

Proforma . ....... ... ... i $ (837) $(32,985) $532,364  $(420,839)

Income (loss) per share applicable to common
shareholders—basic:
Asreported . ... ... .. ... $ (0.09) $ (3.81 $ 1663 $ (13.11)
Proforma .. ....... .. .. . . . . .. (0.09) (3.81) 16.63 (13.15)
Income (loss) per share applicable to common
shareholders—diiuted:

~—

Asreported . .. ... ... e $ (0.09) $ (3.81) $ 1663 $ (13.11)
Proforma . ...... .. ... . . ... (0.09) (3.81) 16.63 (13.15)
Weighted average fair value per option granted . .. .. .. N/A $ 6.00 3 — % —

(@) Includes stock-based compensation of $0.6 million in 2004 and none in 2002 and 2003.

The initial vesting period for stock options issued under the 2003 Stock Option Plan started
January 4, 2004; accordingly, no pro forma compensation expense has been reflected with respect to
fiscal 2003. All stock options previously awarded under the stock option plans of the Predecessor were
canceled as part of the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11.

Research and Development Costs

The cost of research and development is charged to expense as incurred and is included in Selling,
general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company
incurred approximately $11.2 million, $9.9 million, $2.5 million and $16.3 million of research and devel-
opment expense during the fiscal year 2004, the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months
ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year 2002, respectively.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs include costs to store goods prior to shipment, prepare goods for
shipment and physically move goods from the Company’s sites to the customers’ premises. The cost of
shipping and handling is charged to expense as incurred and is included in Selling, general and
administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company incurred $23.4 mil-
lion, $17.3 million, $3.7 million and $21.5 million of shipping and handling costs during the fiscal year
2004, the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year
2002, respectively.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The Company accounts for, and reports, translation of foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” All
assets and liabilities in the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than
the U.S. dollar are translated at period-end exchange rates. Translation gains and losses are not
included in determining net income, but are presented as a separate component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). However, subsidiaries considered to be operating in highly inflationary
countries use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency and translation gains and losses are included in
the determination of net income (loss). In addition, foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
included in the determination of net income (loss).

The Company has a majority-owned subsidiary located in Argentina. The Argentine peso, which
serves as the functional currency of this subsidiary, has devalued significantly against the U.S. dollar
since the end of fiscal 2001 due primarily to the economic uncertainty within this geographic region. For
a brief period of time between the latter part of December 2001 and the first part of January 2002, trading
in the Argentine peso was suspended. Thus, the AICPA International Task Force agreed that Emerging
Issues Task Force No. 12, “Foreign Currency Translation—Selection of Exchange Rate When Trading is
Temporarily Suspended” (“EITF D-12") applies to the financial statement translation. EITF D-12 notes
that in instances where there is a temporary suspension in trading of a foreign currency, the rate in effect
when trading is resumed should be utilized. For reporting purposes in early 2002, the January 11, 2002
market exchange rate (the floating rate) was used to translate transactions. January 11, 2002 repre-
sented the date on which trading in this currency resumed. Foreign currency losses related to the
Argentine peso, net of minority interest adjustments, were $1.9 million, $3.6 million and $3.0 million in
fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is reported in accordance with the SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Com-
prehensive Income” (“SFAS No. 130”). SFAS No. 130 requires unrealized gains or losses on the
Company’s available for sale securities, foreign currency translation adjustments and minimum pension
liabilities which, prior to its adoption, were reported separately in shareholders’ equity, to be included in
other comprehensive income. Accumulated other comprehensive income of $30.3 million at January 1,
2005 consisted of $29.5 million of currency translation gains, $0.3 million in cash flow hedge gains and
$0.5 million in minimum pension liability gains, all net of tax.

income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share exclude any dilutive effects of options, warrants and convertible securities
and are computed by dividing income (loss) applicable to common shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the
potential dilution from common shares potentially issuable through stock options, warrants, convertible
notes and PIK Preferred Shares and is computed by dividing income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders, as adjusted for the effects of the conversion to common stock, by the weighted-average
number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding for the period. Shares under option
represent common equivalent shares if the average market price for the reporting period exceeds the
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strike price of the option. A reconciliation of the amounts included in the computation of income (loss)
per share for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 is presented in the following table (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended

2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Income (loss):
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle . . . . .. e $ 4,732 $(32,985) $ 532,364 $(406,863)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of

BX . — — — (12,774)
Less: dividends on PIK Preferred Shares . ........... 5,566 — — —
Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders . . . . .. (834) (32,985) 532,364 (419,637)

Effect of dilutive' securities—convertible notes, PIK
Preferred Shares and stock options . .. ........... — — —

Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders with
assumed CONVErSIONS . . . . . .o v v $ (834) $(32,985) $ 532,364 $(419,637)

Outstanding shares:
Weighted average common shares outstanding . . . .. . .. 9,840 8,650 32,004 32,004

Effect of dilutive securities—convertible notes, PIK
Preferred Shares and stock options . .. . .......... — — —

Weighted average common shares outstanding—assuming
dilution .. ... .. 9,840 8,650 32,004 32,004

For the fiscal year 2004 and the ten months ended January 3, 2004, the effect of potentially dilutive
securities such as convertible notes, PIK Preferred Shares and stock options are not considered in the
above table as the effects are anti-dilutive. As of January 1, 2005, the potential dilutive effect related to
the exchange or conversion of stock options and PIK Preferred Shares to common stock of the
Company would amount to 153,405 shares and 7,995,336 shares, respectively.
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Other Accounting Standards

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (“FIN 46”), and amended it by issuing FIN 46R in December 2003. This interpretation provides
guidance on how to identify variable interest entities (“VIEs”) and how an enterprise should assess its
interest in a VIE in order to determine whether the entity should be consolidated. This interpretation
requires existing unconsolidated VIEs to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do
not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. VIEs that effectively disperse risks will not be
consolidated unless a single party holds an interest or combination of interest that effectively recom-
bines risks that were previously dispersed. In December 2003, the FASB completed deliberations of
proposed modifications to FIN 46 and issued revised interpretations resulting in multiple effective dates
based on the nature, as well as the creation date, of the VIE. VIEs created after January 31, 2003, but
prior to January 1, 2004, may be accounted for based on either interpretation. VIEs created after
January 1, 2004 must be accounted for under the revised interpretations. Special Purpose Entities
(“SPEs”) created prior to February 1, 2003 may be accounted for based on either interpretation.
Non-SPEs created prior to February 1, 2003 should be accounted for under the revised interpretation’s
provisions. The Company has determined that it does not have any relationships or contracts that
constitute a variable interest.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Require-
ments Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
(“FSP 106-2”). FSP 106-2 permits a sponsor of a postretirement health care plan that provides a
prescription drug benefit to make a one-time election to defer accounting for the effects of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 ("‘the Act”), which was signed into law
on December 8, 2003. The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare and federal
subsidies to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially
equivalent to that of Medicare. As permitted under FSP 106-2, the Company made a one-time election to
defer accounting for the effect of the Act and as more fully explained in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, in December 2004 the Company approved plan amendments curtailing or eliminat-
ing various postretirement benefits in the U.S. As a result, the amounts included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements related to the Company’s postretirement benefit plans do not reflect the effects of
the Act.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs” (“SFAS No. 151”). This
statement amends earlier guidance to require that abnormal freight, handling and spoilage costs be
recognized as current-period charges rather than capitalized as an inventory cost. In addition, SFAS
No. 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overhead costs be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is currently analyzing the new guidance and does not
expect it to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

Note 3. Chapter 11 Proceedings and Recapitalization
Description of Chapter 11 Proceedings and Financial Restructuring

Due to the financial impact of economic and business factors upon the Company’s business, the
inability to complete asset dispositions on acceptable terms and the expiration of the waiver with respect
to the failure to meet the leverage covenant, the Company was in default under the Prepetition Credit
Facility (as defined herein) as of December 29, 2001. Because of this default, the lenders under the
Prepetition Credit Facility (the “Senior Secured Lenders”) exercised their right to block the payment of
interest due on January 2, 2002 to the holders of the 9% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2007. These
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Lenders subsequently blocked the interest payment due on March 1, 2002 to the holders of 8%:% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2008. On December 30, 2001, the Company and certain subsidiaries entered
into a Forbearance Agreement with the Senior Secured Lenders (the “Forbearance Agreement”). The
Senior Secured Lenders agreed not to exercise certain remedies available to them under the Prepetition
Credit Facility as a result of the existing covenant defaults during the forbearance period. If certain events
were to occur, the Senior Secured Lenders would have been able to exercise their remedies available to
them, which included the right to declare all amounts outstanding under the Prepetition Credit Facility
immediately due and payable. The Forbearance Agreement, as extended on March 15, 2002, was
scheduled to end on May 15, 2002 and prevented the Company from making any additional borrowings
in excess of the amounts outstanding under the revolving portion of the Prepetition Credit Facility as of
December 30, 2001. With the Company unable to reduce amounts outstanding under the prepetition
credit facility through asset dispositions on acceptable terms, the Company ultimately entered into a
recapitalization transaction with MatlinPatterson Globa! Opportunities Partners L.P. (f/lk/a CSFB Global
Opportunities Investment Partners, L.P) (“GOF”), the holder of approximately 67% of the outstanding
Senior Subordinated Notes (as defined herein) and executed a term sheet with GOF on March 15, 2002,
setting forth the proposed terms of a recapitalization plan, including a financial restructuring.

The material elements of the financial restructuring included: (i) GOF contributing $50 million in
cash and $394.4 million of the Senior Subordinated Notes then owned by GOF (including accrued, but
unpaid interest) and agreeing to provide a $25 million letter of credit in favor of the Senior Secured
Lenders under an amended credit facility, all in exchange for approximately 22.4 million newly issued
shares of common stock of the Company (after taking into account a 1-for-10 reverse common stock
split), representing 87.5% ownership of the Company; (ii) the holders of at least 95% of the aggregate
principal amount of the Senior Subordinated Notes not owned by GOF exchanging their notes for either
new senior subordinated notes or new senior subordinated discount notes; and (i) the Company
entering into an amended credit facility with its Senior Secured Lenders (collectively, the “Exchange
Offer”).

On March 25, 2002, during the pendency of the Exchange Offer, without any prior notice, a group of
creditors (the “Petitioning Creditors’’) holding approximately $41.3 million of the Company’s outstand-
ing Senior Subordinated Notes filed an involuntary bankruptcy petition (the “Involuntary Petition)
against the Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina (the “South
Carolina Bankruptcy Court™). On April 2, 2002, the Company reached an agreement (the “Dismissal
Agreement’’) with the Petitioning Creditors, which provided for the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court to
dismiss the involuntary petition (the “Dismissal Order”) subject to a twenty-day period during which
parties-in-interest could object to that dismissal. The twenty-day period commenced on April 5, 2002, the
day on which notice of the dismissal was published in the national edition of the Wall Street Journal. On
April 26, 2002, the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court entered the Dismissal Order.

The Dismissal Agreement also provided that the Company would seek an amendment of the
Prepetition Credit Facility to permit it to file a voluntary petition for one of its wholly owned, South
Carolina-registered subsidiaries in the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court. Pursuant to Amendment No. 7,
dated as of April 4, 2002, the Senior Secured Lenders agreed to amend the Prepetition Credit Facility to
permit this filing. On April 23, 2002, the Debtors filed a voluntary petition for Bonlam (S.C.), Inc. (“Bonlam
(8.C.)"), in the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court. The Dismissal Agreement further provided that the
Company would extend the expiration of the Exchange Offer through May 15, 2002. The Company and
GOF also agreed to forbear through, and including, May 15, 2002, from implementing any modifications
to the Senior Subordinated Notes and the indentures governing them. The Petitioning Creditors agreed
to forbear through and including, May 12, 2002 (the “Forbearance Period”), from exercising any and all
remedies under the applicable indentures, the Senior Subordinated Notes or any applicable law,
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including any filing of an involuntary petition against any of the Debtors. During the Forbearance Period,
the Company agreed (i} not to file a voluntary petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code in a
jurisdiction other than Columbia, South Carolina, and (i) to contest any involuntary petition under the
Bankruptcy Code filed in any such other jurisdiction, in each case, without the prior written consent of
the Petitioning Creditors. GOF and the Petitioning Creditors agreed not to file an involuntary petition
against the Company in any venue other than the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court.

The Company, GOF and the Petitioning Creditors intended that the Dismissal Agreement would
provide a framework for the Company and other parties, including the Petitioning Creditors, to continue
to negotiate the terms of a potential restructuring of the Company through May 12, 2002. Given that
negotiations were not reaching an agreement and given the fact that the uncertainty created by the
Involuntary Petition was causing further deterioration in the Company’s businesses, the Company
determined that it was in the best interest of its creditors and other constituencies to seek the protections
afforded by filing voluntary petitions for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Code (the
“Bankruptcy Code”). Accordingly, on May 11, 2002 (the “Filing Date” or “Petition Date”), the Company
and each of its domestic subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Debtors”) filed voluntary
petitions for “pre-negotiated” reorganization (the “"Chapter 11 Filings” or the "Filings”) under the
Bankruptcy Code in the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court. The Chapter 11 Filings were being jointly
administered for procedural purposes only. The Company'’s direct and indirect foreign subsidiaries and
foreign joint venture entities did not file petitions under Chapter 11 and were not the subject of any
bankruptcy proceedings. To facilitate stabilizing operations during the Chapter 11 Filings, the Debtors
secured a $125 million commitment (the “Commitment”) for debtor-in-possession financing (the "DIP
Facility”) from a group of financial institutions, some of which were Senior Secured Lenders (the “DIP
Lenders”) that provided the Debtors sufficient liquidity to operate during the Chapter 11 Filings. With the
requisite approval from a substantial majority of the Senior Lenders {the “Supporting Senior Lenders”)
to restructure the Prepetition Credit Facility and the execution of the Support Agreement, dated as of
May 10, 2002, with GOF, pursuant to which GOF agreed to support a joint plan of reorganization, the
Debtors agreed to file by May 24, 2002, a Chapter 11 plan of rearganization ({the “Plan”) and disclosure
staternent that were consistent with the term sheets agreed upon with each of the Supporting Senior
Secured Lenders and GOF, Beginning on May 23, 2002 and on other subsequent dates, GOF agreed to
extend the deadline for filing such Plan and disclosure statement until June 14, 2002.

On June 14, 2002, the Company filed the Plan with the South Carolina Bankruptcy Court. The Plan
generally proposed (i) the restructuring of the Prepetition Credit Facility, including a $50 million principal
reduction, (i) the retirement of in excess of $591.5 million of the Debtors’ obligations under the Senior
Subordinated Notes, in exchange for the right of the holders of such Notes to receive either (x) their pro
rata share of 100% of the newly issued Class A Common Stock of the reorganized Company prior to the
conversion of the preferred stock or new senior notes, each referred to below (which would be diluted by
any conversion of the New Preferred Stock), {y) for each $1,000 in principal of Senior Subordinated
Notes held, $120 in principal of new Junior Subordinated Notes bearing interest at 11% payable in cash
or (2) for each $1,000 in principal amount of existing Senior Subordinated Notes held, $150 in principal
amount of New Junior Subordinated PIK Notes, with interest at 7.5% payable in kind (“PIK”) and 3.5%
payable in cash, (iii) no impairment of the Debtors’ other unsecured creditors, (iv) a $50 million invest-
ment by GOF and eligible electing holders of Senior Subordinated Notes in exchange for convertible
preferred stock convertible into 44% of the newly issued common stock of the reorganized Company
(after giving effect to the conversion thereof and excluding PIK dividends thereon) (the “New Preferred
Stock’™), {v) the issuance by GOF and eligible electing holders of Senior Subordinated Notes of a
$25 miilion letter of credit to secure the Debtors’ proposed amortization payments to the Senior Lenders
{(which if drawn, would be evidenced by New Senior Subordinated Notes) and (vi} the retention by
existing shareholders of 100% of the newly issued Class B Common Stock (which would not be diluted

53



POLYMER GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

by any conversion of the New Preferred Stock) and certain warrants for up to an additional 9.5% of the
reorganized Company's common stock, as of the effective date of reorganization (which would be
subject to dilution by conversion of the New Preferred Stock), exercisable at specified value targets for
the Company. In connection with the new investment, GOF had agreed to act as a standby purchaser to
ensure that all of the shares of New Preferred Stock offered by the Company were purchased and that
the new investment generated gross proceeds of $50.0 million in cash and resulted in $25.0 miilion of
exit letters of credit in place. The Company was to pay GOF a fee of $0.5 million for acting as standby
purchaser in connection with the new investment.

At a hearing, which took place on August 15, 2002, and concluded on August 20, 2002, the South
Carolina Bankruptcy Court approved the Company’s Disclosure Statement relating to a Plan of Reor-
ganization, as amended, and filed on August 21, 2002. Because the committee of unsecured creditors
objected to the Plan, the Plan was not contirmed and thus the Company filed the Modified Plan as more
fully disclosed in “Description of Modified Plan,” below.

Description of Modified Plan

On November 27, 2002, the Company filed the Joint Amended Modified Plan of Recrganization (the
*Modified Plan”). The Mcdified Plan consisted of: (i) the restructuring of the Prepetition Credit Facility,
including a payment (the **Secured Lender Payment”) of $50.0 miliion an the Effective Date to the agent
tfor the benefit of the Senior Secured Lenders under the Prepetition Credit Facility, which Secured Lender
Payment was exclusive of the proceeds (the “Chicopee Sale Proceeds™) of the sale of the South
Brunswick facility owned by Chicopee, Inc., (ii) payment of 100% of the Chicopee Sale Proceeds to the
agent for the benefit of the Senior Secured Lenders, (iii) a minimum $5.0 million additional prepayment
out of existing cash-on-hand, (iv) the retirement of $587.4 million of the Debtors’ obligations under the
Senior Subordinated Notes, wherein each Holder of the Senior Subordinated Notes and other general
unsecured creditors (other than claims of certain vendors who supplied goods and services to the
Debtors during the bankruptcy and with whom the Debtors intended to do business after emerging from
bankruptcy (“Critical Vendor Claims”) and claims held by non-debtor subsidiaries of the Company
(“Intercompany Claims”) (together constituting the “Class 4 Claims”) had the right to receive on, or as
soon as practicable after the Effective Date, (x) its pro rata share of Class A Common Stock in exchange
for each $1,000 of its allowed claim or (y) at the election of each hoider who was a Qualified Institutional
Buyer (as defined in the Modified Plan and the 1933 Securities Act), its pro rata share of Class C
Common Stock, (v) the Critical Vendor Claims and Intercompany Claims were not impaired, (vi) each
holder of an allowed Class 4 Claim that elected to receive Class A Common Stock was given the option
to take part in the new investment in the Convertible Notes (the “New Investment”) by choosing to
exercise its subscription rights (the “Subscription Rights”) thereto, which New Investment of $50 million
was made in exchange for 10% subordinated convertible notes due 2006 (the “Convertible Notes”),
(vii) GOF issued, or caused to be issued, letters of credit in the aggregated amount of $25 million (the
“Exit Letters of Credit”’) in favor of the agent under the Restructured Credit Facilities pursuant to a bank
term sheet, for which GOF was entitled to 10% senior subordinated notes due 2007 (the “New Senior
Subordinated Notes”) equal to the amount (if any) drawn against the Exit Letters of Credit (plus any
advances made by GOF solely in lieu of drawings under the Exit Letters of Credit), (viii) holders of the
Company’s existing common stock (*Old Polymer Common Stock”) received 100% of the Class B
Common Stock (which will not be diluted by any conversions of the Convertible Notes) in exchange for
their Old Polymer Common Stock interests; such Holders also received pro rata shares of the new
Series A and Series B Warrants (as discussed below).

Under the Modified Plan, all common stock of the reorganized Company (the “New Polymer
Common Stock’’) was the same class (the “Class A Common Stock”’), with the exception of (i} separate
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classes (the “Class D Common Stock” and “Class E Common Stock”) to be issued upon exercise of the
Series A and Series B Warrants (as defined below), (ii) the 4% of New Polymer Common Stock
designated as ““‘Class B Common Stock” issued to the holders of Old Polymer Common Stock, and (iii} a
small percentage (the “Class C Common Stock”) issued to holders of Class 4 Claims, who contributed
such stock to the SPE. The Class C Common Stock shall pay a dividend payable equal to the lesser of
(i) 1% per annum of the principal amount of the promissory notes issued by the SPE or (ii) $1.0 million
per annum. Shares of New Polymer Common Stock (other than Class A Common Stock) are convertibie
into shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis.

The holders of Old Polymer Common Stock received two series of warrants, the Series A Warrants
and Series B Warrants, which have (i) customary adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, and
consolidations, (ii) specified anti-dilution protection for sales of securities by the reorganized Company
(*New Polymer”) at a price below the fair market value of such securities if offered to all New Polymer
common stock holders and (iii} specified anti-dilution protection for sales of securities by New Polymer
at a discount that exceeds 25% of the fair market value of such securities and which will not terminate
upon a transaction with GOF or an affiliate of GOF. Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, the
Series A and Series B Warrants do not have anti-dilution provisions. In addition, the cash dividend
payment by New Polymer described above in connection with the Class C Common Stock is excluded
from the calculation of cumulative distributions for all purposes relating to the Series A Warrants, the
Series B Warrants, the Class D Common Stock and the Class E Common Stock. The New Polymer
Common Stock received by the holders of Class 4 Claims and the Holders of Old Polymer Common
Stock and which will be issued upon conversion of the Convertible Notes is subject to dilution upon the
exercise of the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants.

The Modified Plan aiso provided that, on the Effective Date, in consideration of GOF acting as the
standby purchaser for the New investment, and in consideration of GOF's role in facilitating a consen-
sual resolution of the disputes among the parties involved in the negotiation of the Modified Plan, New
Polymer paid GOF a Standby Purchaser fee of $2.0 million, an arrangement and plan facilitation fee of
$2.0 million and a posting fee of $0.5 million.

In order to facilitate the issuance of a new senior subordinated note (“New Senior Subordinated
Note”) in the amount of any drawing under the Exit Letter of Credit, MatlinPatterson Global Partners LLC,
("*Matlin Global Partners’) a limited liability company organized under the laws of Delaware, the Com-
pany and its domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, entered into a Senior Subordinated Note Purchase
Agreement (the “Senior Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement”), dated as of March 5, 2003, and
pursuant thereto, the Company issued to Matlin Global Partners a New Senior Subordinated Note.

The Senior Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement and Senior Subordinated Note provided that
upon any drawing under the Exit Letter of Credit, the principal amount due under the New Senior
Subordinated Note would automatically increase by the amount of such drawing. The Company was
required to pay interest on any amount outstanding under the New Senior Subordinated Note
semi-annually in arrears on January 1 and June 1 of each year, commencing on June 1, 2003, at a rate of
10% per annum. The Company’s obligations under the Senior Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement
and Senior Subordinated Note were guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries. Both the
Company’s obligations under the Senior Subordinated Note and the guarantees thereof were
subordinate to the indebtedness outstanding under the Company’s Restructured Credit Facility. The
Senior Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement and the Senior Subordinated Note Purchase contained
customary representations and warranties, standard default terms and affirmative and negative cove-
nants of the Company similar to those found in most such agreements. See Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements for additional information on the provisions included in the Restructured Credit
Facility and Convertible Subordinated Notes.
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Note 4. Fresh Start Accounting

The Company officially emerged from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy process on March 5, 2003, but for
accounting purposes the Company recognized the emergence on March 1, 2003, which was the end of
the February 2003 accounting period. In accordance with SOP 90-7, the Company adopted fresh-start
accounting as of March 1, 2003, and the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 resulted in a new
reporting entity.

Fresh-start accounting requires that the reorganization value of the Company be allocated to its
assets and liabilities in conformity with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”. Such allocations have
been reflected in the amounts included herein. Based on the consideration of many factors and various
valuation methods, the Company and its financial advisors determined the reorganization value of the
Company as described in the Modified Plan. As part of the Modified Plan, the Company’s common stock
was divided into five classes: Class A, Class B, Class C, Class D and Class E. As of the Effective Date,
8,125,869 shares of Class A, 399,978 shares of Class B and 118,449 shares of Class C common stock
were outstanding. An additional 1,327,177 shares of Class A common stock and 19,359 shares of
Class C common stock were reserved at the emergence date and were subsequently issued on May 11,
2004 in accordance with a ruling by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina
in satisfaction of certain claims against the Company in connection with the Modified Plan. No shares of
Class D or Class E common stock were outstanding as of the Effective Date. The following table reflects
the reorganization adjustments to old Polymer Group’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 1, 2003
(in thousands):

Modified Plan of Fresh Start

Predecessor  Reorganization Adjustments Successor
Assets
Currentassets .................... $306,438 $ — $ (9,722)(g) $296,716
Property, plant and equipment . . . ... ... 431,384 (36,372) () 4,231 (g) 399,243
Intangibles and loan acquisition costs, net 38,261 (26,341)(e)(f) 27,352 (h) 39,272
Otherassets . ..................... 13,295 — (3,305)(g) 9,990
Totalassets . . ................... $ 789,378 $ (62,713) $ 18,556 $745,221
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
(Deficit)
Liabilities not subject to compromise
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities
and other current liabilities .. ...... $ 94,355 $ 7,069() $13,019(g) $114,443
Short-term borrowings . . ........... 223 — — 223
Long-term debt—Prepetition Credit
Facility . . ....... ... ... ..... 484,877 (484,877)(b) — —
Long-term debt—Restructured Credit
Facility and Other . ... ........... 18,165 421,434 (c) — 439,599
Long term debt—Junior Notes .. ... .. — 50,000 (d) — 50,000
Noncurrent fiabilities. . .. ........... 48,133 — 19,433 (g) 67,566
Total liabilities not subject to
COMPIOMISe . . ..........ovun. 645,753 (6,374) 32,452 671,831
Liabilities Subject to Compromise. . . . ... 637,122 (637,122)(e) — —
Total liabilites . .................. 1,282,875 (643,496) 32,452 671,831
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) ... ....... (493,497) 580,783 (f) (13,896)(i) 73,390
Total liabilities and shareholders’ (deficity $ 789,378 $ (62,713) $ 18,556 $745,221
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(a) To record certain prepetition liabilities to be settled in cash.
(b) To record the elimination of the Prepetition Credit Facility.
(c) To record the Restructured Credit Facility.

To record the Junior Notes.

)
(e) To record the elimination of pre-petition liabilites that were cancelled, which include the old senior
subordinated notes, accrued interest, and loan acquisition costs.

{fi To record the issuance of securities, the cancellation of prepetition liabilities and reorganization
value.

(g) To reflect assets and liabilities at fair value.
(h) To write-off goodwill and adjust certain intangibles to fair value.

—
=

To write-off Predecessor’s securities, accumulated deficit and accumulated other comprehensive
loss.

Additionally, as more fully described in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in
January 2005 the Company completed a tax basis study, as of the Effective Date, related to its invest-
ment in subsidiaries and the effects of the cancellation of indebtedness on the tax basis of such
investments. Based on the tax basis study and further reviews of the carrying values of certain foreign
investments, as of the Effective Date, the Company adjusted net deferred tax liabilities and goodwill from
the amounts previously recorded at March 1, 2003 by $19.1 million.

Note 5. Business Restructuring and Asset Impairment

The Company continued its restructuring initiatives in 2004 by curtailing production of certain of its
European assets and eliminating several production lines in the Canadian operations of its Oriented
Polymers Division. The European and Canadian restructuring efforts in 2004 included the reduction of
approximately 160 positions, resulting in a charge of approximately $1.9 million for severance and other
plant realignment costs.

fn 2003, the Company implemented a business restructuring initiative intended to yield a reduction
in working capital levels and operating cost reductions through: (i) reducing headcount at both the plant
and corporate levels; (i) improving manufacturing productivity and reducing component costs;
(i) implementing global purchasing initiatives; and (iv) rationalizing certain assets and/or businesses.
Approximately 170 positions were eliminated in fiscal 2003.

The Company’s business restructurings in 2002 included reductions in headcount of approximately
54 employees and facility closing costs in the U.S. as business processes were rationalized in the
Oriented Polymers Division.
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Accrued costs for restructuring efforts are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. A summary of the business restructuring activity during fiscal 2004, 2003
and 2002 is presented in the following table (in thousands}):

Successor Predecessor
2004 2003 2002

Balance accrued at beginning ofyear . .. .................. $4564 $ 893 $6,242
Plant realignment costs:

FirstQuarter ... ... . .. . 584 12 176

Second QUARET . .. ..o i 657 2,408 381

Third QUARET . .. . o 222 1,235 356

Fouth Quarter . ........ ... . i 404 3,151 141

Total(1) .. 1,867 6,806 1,054
Cashpayments . . ... .. .. (5,909) (4,293) (6,403)
Adjustments . ... ... 39 1,158 —
Balance accrued at end of year .. ... .. A $ 561 %4564 § 893

(1) Includes $4 during the two months ended March 1, 2003.

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a non-cash asset impairment charge of $2.3 million, primarily
related to the write-down of machinery and equipment to net realizable value, for production assets in
Canada removed from service and held for sale and the write-off of certain foreign investments.

The Company made the business decision in December 2003 to discontinue production on certain
of its European assets and, accordingly, recognized an asset impairment charge of approximately
$1.2 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, based upon reviews of the Company’s long-lived assets and
considering the continued decline in operating profits over the course of 2002, the Company recorded a
non-cash charge of approximately $317.9 million, consisting of the write-down of goodwill and other
intangibles ($83.9 million) and machinery, equipment and buildings ($234.0 million). This write-down
was related predominantly to production assets within the U.S. and European nonwovens businesses.

A summary of asset impairment charges during fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 is presented in the
following table (in thousands): :

Successor Predecessor
2004 2003 - 2002
Asset impairment charge:
Property, plant and equipment . . ..... ... ... .. ....... $1,719  $1,207 $234,002
Goodwill and contract intangibles . ... .................. — — 83,896
Other ... e 534 — —
Total impairmentcharges . .......... ... ... ... . ... ..., $2253 $1,207 $317,898

Note 6. Accounts Receivable Securitization Agreements

On November 15, 2004, the Company entered into a factoring agreement to sell without recourse,
certain receivables to an unrelated third party financial institution. Under the terms of the factoring
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agreement, the maximum amount of outstanding advances at any one time is $15.0 million, which
limitation is subject to change based on the level of eligibie receivables, restrictions on concentrations of
receivables and the historical performance of the receivables sold. Through January 1, 2005, approxi-
mately $31.0 million of receivables had been sold under the terms of the factoring agreement. The sale
of these receivables accelerated the collection of the Company’s cash, reduced credit exposure and
lowered the Company’s borrowing costs. Sales of accounts receivable are reflected as a reduction of
Accounts receivable, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and a gain or loss is reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations on such sale, as they meet the applicable criteria of SFAS
No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities,”
("SFAS No.140”). The amount due from the factoring company, net of advances received from the
factoring company, was $7.4 million at January 1, 2005 and is shown in Other current assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company pays factoring fees associated with the sale of receivables
based on the dollar value of the receivables sold. Costs related to this program for 2004 were $0.1 million
and are included in Other expense, net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In addition, the Company’s European operations sold $4.5 million of its trade receivables to a
factoring company in fiscal 2004. Such sale of receivables has been accounted for on a basis consistent
with the methodology described in the preceding paragraph.

Note 7. Inventories

_Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

January 1, January 3,

2005 2004
Finished goods . ........ ... . . . . . . . $ 48,801 $47,288
WOrk in proCess . . .. .. .o 15,612 16,579
Raw materials . . ... .. .. 41,846 32,646

$106,349 $96,513

Note 8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

January 1, January 3,

2005 2004
Land ... $ 13,548 $ 13,261
Buildings and land improvements . . . ........ .. ... . L. 98,356 91,610
Machinery, equipmentand other . .. ... ... ... ... .. .. .. .. 356,510 310,013
Construction in pProgress . . .. ..o 18,856 40,082

487,270 454,966
Less accumulated depreciation . . .. ... .. ... oL oL (84,667}  (38,458)

$402,603 $416,508

Depreciation charged to expense was $45.5 million for fiscal year 2004, $36.1 million for the ten
months ended January 3, 2004, $7.2 million for the two months ended March 1, 2003 and $60.8 million
for fiscal year 2002. As discussed more fully in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the
Company recorded impairment charges during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002.
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Note 9. Intangibles and Loan Acquisition Costs

Intangibles and loan acquisition costs consist of the following (in thousands):

January 1, January 3,

. 2005 2004
Cost;
Proprietary technology . . .. ... ... ... $ 26,604 $26,533
Goodwill . ... 15,632 —
Loan acquisition costsand other .. ...................... 18,759 13,534
60,995 40,067
Less accumulated amortization ................ .. .. . ... .. (12,176) (6,507)

$ 48,819 $33,560

As further described in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, during fiscal 2004 the
Company recorded goodwill of $15.6 million related to the allocation of the reorganization value to the
underlying assets and liabilities as of the Effective Date. Such goodwill is not amortizable, but is subject
to the tests of impairment which must be performed at least annually.

In conjunction with the refinancing in April 2004 of the Restructured Credit Facility, the Company
charged the unamortized balance of the loan acquisition costs of $5.0 million related to that debt to
Foreign currency and other in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Additionally, with the issuance
of the new Bank Facility, the Company capitalized approximately $12.1 million of related loan acquisition
costs, which were primarily bank arrangement and legal fees. Such costs are being amortized over the
term of the related debt.

Components of amortization expense are shown in the table below (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended

2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Amortization of:
Intangibles with finite lives, included in
selling, general and administrative

BXPENSE . . v it 5,762 4,935 $ 220 $ 3,496
Loan acquisition costs, included in interest

expense, net . .......... .. ... ... 1,967 1,572 1,425 7,217
Total amortization expense . . . . . ... ... .. $7,729 $6,507 $1,645 $10,713

Aggregate amortization expense for each of the next five years is expected to be as follows: 2005,
$6.1 million; 20086, $6.1 million; 2007, $6.1 million; 2008, $6.2 million; 2009, $6.3 million; and thereatfter,
$2.4 million. Intangibles are amortized over periods ranging from 2 to 7 years. Loan acquisition costs are
amortized over the life of the related debt.

Note 10. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets include salaries, wages and other fringe
benefits of $20.4 million and $15.4 million as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively.
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Note 11. Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following:

January 1,
2005

January 3,
2004

(in thousands)

Senior Secured Bank Facility, interest rates for U.S. borrowings are based
on a specified base plus a specified margin and are subject to certain
terms and conditions:

First Lien Term Loan—interest at 5.78% as of January 1, 2005; due in
mandatory quarterly payments of $750,000 and subject to additional
payments from annual excess cash flows, as defined, with the

balance due April 27,2010 . ... . ... . .. $281,500 $ —
Second Lien Term Loan—interest at 8.78% as of January 1, 2005; due
April 27, 2011 L e e 125,000 —
Restructured Credit Facility, interest rates for U.S. dollar borrowings are
based on a specified base plus a specified margin, and are capped at
12.00%; refinanced on April 27, 2004:

Term Loans—interest at 12.00% . . . . ... .. .. o i i e — 416,834
Junior Notes—interest at 10.00% . . .. ... ... .. i — 53,717
Other . . 473 4,442

406,973 474,993
Less: Current maturities. . . ... ... .. . . e (3,413)  (34,001)
$403,560 $440,992

Scheduled Maturities

The scheduled maturities of long-term debt at January 1, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2005 ... $ 3,413
2006 . ... e e 3,024
2007 . ... e 3,027
2008 ... e 3,009
2000 ... e 3,000
Thereafter .. ... .. ... . . . . e 391,500
Total ... $4086,973

Senior Secured Bank Facility

The Company’s Senior Secured Bank Facility (the “Bank Facility”), which was entered into on
April 27, 2004, consists of a $50.0 million secured revolving credit facility, a $300.0 million senior secured
first lien term loan and a $125.0 million senior secured second lien term loan. The proceeds therefrom
were used to fully repay indebtedness under the Company’s previous Restructured Credit Facility and

pay related fees and expenses.

All borrowings under the Bank Facility are U.S. dollar denominated and are guaranteed, on a joint
and several basis, by each and all of the direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries of the Company and
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supported by the pledge of stock of certain non-domestic subsidiaries of the Company. The Bank
Facility and the related guarantees are secured by (i) a lien on substantially all of the assets of the
Company, its domestic subsidiaries and certain of its non-domestic subsidiaries, (ii) a pledge of all or a
portion of the stock of the domestic subsidiaries of the Company and of certain non-domestic subsidiar-
ies of the Company, and (iii) a pledge of certain secured intercompany notes. Commitment fees under
the Bank Facility are equal to 0.50% of the daily unused amount of the revolving credit commitment. The
Bank Facility limits restricted payments to $5.0 million, including cash dividends, in the aggregate since
the effective date of the Bank Facility. The Bank Facility contains covenants and events of default
customary for financings of this type, including leverage and interest expense coverage covenants. At
January 1, 2005, the Company is in compliance with all such covenants and expects to remain in
compliance through fiscal 2005. The loan requires the Company to apply a percentage of proceeds from
excess cash flows, as defined by the Bank Facility and determined based on year-end results, to reduce
its then outstanding balances under the Bank Facility. Through January 1, 2005, the Company had made
mandatory debt repayments of $1.5 million and optional repayments on the first lien term loan of
$17.0 million, which amount was considered in the calculation of excess cash flow. Due to the optional
repayments made during fiscal 2004 and an amendment to the Bank Facility subsequent to January 1,
2005, no additional payments related to fiscal 2004 are due to be paid within ten days after the required
filing date of the Company’s annual financial statements. The bank amendment is described more fully
in Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Since the amounts of excess cash flows for future
periods is not determinable, only the mandatory payments of $750,000 per quarter were considered in
the fiscal years 2006 through 2009 in the scheduled maturities table.

The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the Bank Facility is based on three-month LIBOR
plus a specified margin. The applicable margin for borrowings under the revolving credit facility is 300
basis points, the margin for the first lien term loan is 325 basis points and the margin for the second-lien
term loan is 625 basis points. Although not anticipated, the Company may elect to use an alternate base
rate for its borrowings under the revolving credit facility ranging from 2.25% to 6.25% with such alternate
base rates including a margin based on the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company had no
outstanding borrowings at January 1, 2005 under the revolving credit facility. Average borrowings under
the revolving credit facility for the period from April 28, 2004 to January 1, 2005 were $4.0 million at an
average rate of 5.80%. The revolving portion of the credit facility matures on April 27, 2009.

In accordance with the terms of the Bank Facility, the Company entered a cash flow hedge
agreement, effectively converting $212.5 miillion of notional principal amount of debt from a variable
LIBOR rate to a fixed LIBOR rate of 3.383%. The cash flow hedge agreement terminates on May 8, 2007
and is described more fully in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Subject to certain terms and conditions, a maximum of $20.0 million of the Bank Facility may be
used for revolving letters of credit. As of January 1, 2005, the Company had $12.5 million of standby
letters of credit outstanding under this facility. Approximately $7.1 million was related to the requirements
of the short-term borrowing arrangements of the Company’s China-based majority owned subsidiary
(“Nanhai”). Other letters of credit are in place to provide added assurance for certain raw material
vendors and administrative service providers. None of these letters of credit have been drawn on at
January 1, 2005.

Restructured Credit Facility

Until it was refinanced on April 27, 2004, the Company’s Restructured Credit Facility consisted of
secured revolving credit borrowings with aggregate commitments of up to $50.0 million and aggregate
term loans and term letters of credit of $435.3 million. All borrowings under the Restructured Credit

62




POLYMER GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

Facility were U.S. dollar denominated and were guaranteed, on a joint and several basis, by each and all
of the direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries of the Company and certain non-domestic subsidiaries
of the Company. The Restructured Credit Facility contained covenants and events of default customary
for financings of this type, including leverage, senior leverage, interest coverage and adjusted interest
coverage. The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the Restructured Credit Facility was based
on a specified base rate or a specified Eurodollar base rate, at the Company’s option, plus a specified
margin. The effective rate on the term loans was 12.00%, which was the cap on the sum of the interest
payable in respect of term loans or term letters of credit plus the senior leverage ratio fee. The Com-
pany's average borrowings under the revolving credit agreement, which had an effective interest rate of
6.75%, were $8.7 million for the period from January 4, 2004 to April 27, 2004.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In connection with the emergence from Chapter 11, the Company issued $50.0 million of 10%
Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007 (the “Junior Notes™) pursuant to an indenture dated as of
March 5, 2003 (the “Junior Indenture”). The Junior Notes were unsecured subordinated indebtedness
of the Company and were subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness of the
Company which was not, by its terms, expressly junior to, or pari passu with, the Junior Notes. Under the
terms of the Junior Notes, the holders could elect to increase the principal amount of the notes in lieu of
receiving semi-annual interest payments in cash. The Junior Notes could be converted into shares of
Class A Common Stock, at an initial conversion price equal to $7.29 per share. The Junior Indenture
contained several covenants, including limitations on: (i) indebtedness; certain restricted payments;
liens; transactions with affiliates; dividend and other payment restrictions affecting certain subsidiaries;
guarantees by certain subsidiaries; certain transactions including merger and asset sales; and
(i) certain restrictions regarding the disposition of proceeds of asset sales.

During fiscal 2004, $55.4 million of the Company’s Junior Notes were converted into approximately
378,219 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and 52,716 shares of the Company’s 16%
Series A Convertible Pay-in-kind Preferred Shares (the “PiK Preferred Shares”). Included in the afore-
mentioned conversions was the exchange, in conjunction with the refinancing of the Company’s
long-term debt in April 2004, by the Company’s majority shareholder of $42.6 million in aggregate
principal amount of the Company’s Junior Notes it controlied for 42,633 shares of the Company’s PIK
Preferred Shares. There were no Junior Notes outstanding as of January 1, 2005. For further discussion
of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares, see Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Subsidiary Indebtedness

Nanhai has a short-term credit facility (denominated in U.S. dollars and Chinese rmb) with a financial
institution in China which is scheduled to mature in June 2005. The amount of outstanding indebtedness
under the facility was $5.8 million (at an annual average rate of approximately 4.49%) and $8.5 million (at
an annual average rate of approximately 5.31%) at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively.
The Nanhai indebtedness is guaranteed 100% by the Company and to support this guarantee, a letter of
credit has been issued by the Company's agent bank in the amount of $7.1 million. In addition, Nanhai
had outstanding bankers’ acceptances totaling $1.2 million at January 1, 2005. These notes, which are
denominated in Chinese rmb, mature by March 20, 2005 and are subject to a 0.5% transaction fee.
These borrowings are shown as Short-term borrowings in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s Argentina-based majority owned subsidiary (“DNS”) has a credit facility denomi-
nated in U.S. dollars totaling approximately $0.4 million (all with current maturities) at January 1, 2005.

63



POLYMER GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

DNS previously had two credit facilities totaling approximately $3.4 million (with current maturities of
approximately $3.1 million) at January 3, 2004.

In order to support working capital requirements at Vateks Tekstil Sayani ve Ticaret AS (*'Vateks”),
an 80% majority owned subsidiary in Istanbul, Turkey, the Company had deposited through the Euro-
pean parent company of Vateks, approximately $6.5 million with a member of its European bank group
who, in turn, had funded an approximate equivalent amount to Vateks. The amount owed by Vateks to

-the bank member was secured by this deposit. This financing arrangement was dissolved in Septem-
ber 2003 with the sale of the Company’s share of the business carried out by Vateks at no material gain
or loss. Proceeds from the sale were used to reduce amounts outstanding under the Restructured Credit
Facility.

Note 12. Income Taxes

The components of income before income taxes and the cumuiative effect of change in accounting
principle are as follows (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
: Ended Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002
Domestic. .. oo e $ (2,701)  $(30,576) $546,740  $(325,496)
Foreign . .....cv i i e 15,427 519 (12,684) (84,657)

$ 12,726 $(30,057) $534,056  $(410,153)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor

Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Current;
Federalandstate ...................... $1,319 $ — $  — $ 907
Foreign ........ ... i 4,278 — (1,318) 3,062
Deferred:
Federalandstate ...................... 520 — — (2,671)
Foreign .......c.. . . i 1,877 2,928 3,010 (4,588)
Income tax expense (benefity ............. .. $7,904 $2,028 $ 1,692 $(3,290)

Provision has been made for U.S. and additional foreign taxes for the anticipated repatriation of
earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries of the Company, primarily Argentina. The Company considers
the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries above the amount already provided to be indefi-
nitely reinvested. These additional foreign earnings could become subject to additional tax if remitted, or
deemed remitted, as a dividend. However the determination of the additional amount of tax that would
be incurred is not practicable because of the complexities associated with its hypathetical calculation. At
January 1, 2005, the unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiaries for which U.S. taxes have not been
provided amounted to approximately $10.2 million. Also, in the event of additional tax, unrecognized tax
credits may be available to reduce some portion of any U.S. income tax liability.
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Income taxes computed at the Company’s U.S. federal statutory rate differed from the provision for
income taxes as follows (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Computed income tax expense (benefit) at

statutory rate ... ........ ... ... .. ... $ 4,454 $(10,520) $186,920  $(143,554)
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit . 858 ‘ — — —
Gain on cancellation of indebtedness ... ... — — (216,970) —
Other reorganization expenses . .......... — — 6,788 —
Goodwill and other, including impairment . . . — — — 33,502
Valuation ailowance . .................. 3,103 10,651 5,699 105,505
Interest . . ....... ... ... .. .. ... ..., — — — (2,221)
Withholding taxes and tax credits ......... 927 — — {349)
Effect of foreign operations, net .......... (1,489) — — 2,180
Chapter 11 reorganization costs . .. ....... — — 4,277 3,057
Fresh start adjustments . ............... - 95 11,336 —
Other,net . .......... ... ... ......... 141 2,702 3,642 (1,410)
Income tax expense (benefit) . ........... $ 7,994 $ 2,928 $ 1692 $ (3,290)

The Company’s financial reorganization, through the Chapter 11 process, caused an ownership
change for federal income tax purposes. As a result, future tax deductions related to certain “built-in
deductions and losses” will be limited by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended
(“Section 382") during the five-year period following the ownership change (the recognition period). The
Company had substantial amounts of such built-in deductions and losses (primarily depreciation deduc-
tions) scheduled to be realized during the recognition period. Under Section 382, such built-in losses will
be subject to an annual usage limitation of approximately $3.4 million during the recognition period.
Additionally, the $72.0 million of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards that existed at January 3,
2004 were reduced to zero at January 4, 2004.

At January 1, 2005, the Company had the following significant net operating loss carryforwards for
income tax purposes (in thousands):

Country Amount Year of Expiration
MexiCo. . ... . i e e $23,789 2005-2014
Canada .. ... i e e e 22,488 2005-2014
Netherlands . . ......... ... .. .. . . . .. 21,354 Indefinite
Germany .. ... e 47,897 Indefinite
France . .. ... ... ... . . . e 8,876 Indefinite
United States . . ........ ... .. .. 12,987 2024

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax
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purposes, as well as net operating loss and other tax credit carryforwards. Significant components of the
Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

January 1, January 3,

2005 2004
Deferred tax assets:
Provisionforbaddebts. .. ............. .. ... .. ... . . .. .. $ 2660 $ 3,846
Inventory capitalization and allowances . ......................... 3,358 2,534
Net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards . . ................. 51,500 38,600
Tax Credits . . . . o e 9,066 8,137
Foreigntaxcredits ... .. ... .. . . 15,169 15,169
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles, net. ... . ............. 37,415 40,613
Other. . . e 11,868 12,067
Total deferred tax assets . . ........ ... 131,036 120,966
Valuation allowance . . ... ... . . (103,854) (100,751)
Net deferred tax assets . ... .. i 27,182 20,215
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles, net. . ... . ............ (31,442) (40,632)
Stock basis of subsidiaries .. .......... ... .. . e (33,780) —
Other, NBt. . oot (25,713)  (5,816)
Total deferred tax liabilities .. .. ........ ... . . . . . (90,935)  (46,448)
Net deferred tax liabilities . . . ... ... ... . .. . $(63,753) $(26,233)

A valuation allowance is recorded when, based on the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than
not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the
deferred tax assets depends on the ability of the Company to generate sufficient taxable income of the
appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. In assessing the real-
izability of the deferred tax assets, management considers, among other factors, the trend of historical
and projected future taxable income with appropriate consideration given to the fact that the Company is
less than two years removed from the Chapter 11 process, the scheduled reversai of deferred tax
liabilities, the carryforward period for net operating losses and tax credits as well as tax planning
strategies available to the Company. After consideration of all the evidence, both positive and negative,
the Company has determined that valuation allowances of $103.9 million and $100.8 million are appro-
priate as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively. If the Company recognizes future tax
benefits through the use of any of the deferred tax assets, for which a valuation allowance is provided,
that existed at the Effective Date, the benefit of such utilization, uniess such utilization resuits from a
change in tax laws or regulations, will be recorded as a reduction of goodwill or other intangible assets
and, thereatfter, as a reduction of income tax expense.

In January 2005, the Company completed a tax basis study, as of the Effective Date, related 1o its
investment in subsidiaries and the effects of the cancellation of indebtedness on the tax basis of such
investments. Based on this tax basis study and a further review of the carrying values of certain foreign
investments as of the Effective Date, the Company has determined that the net deferred tax liability of
$25.7 million, previously recorded with respect to the estimated net tax effect of temporary differences
between the carrying amount of the Company’s investment in subsidiaries for financial reporting pur-
poses and the basis for income taxes purposes, should be decreased to $19.1 million as of January 1,
2005. As such estimate of deferred tax liabilities affects the allocation of the reorganization value to the
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underlying assets and liabilities of the Company as of the Effective Date, the Company has adjusted
goodwill by a corresponding amount in accordance with SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes”
("SFAS No. 109") and EITF 93-7 “Uncertainties Related to Income Taxes in a Business Combination”
(“EITF 93-7"). Any future changes in the net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the Effective Date will
be adjusted to reorganization value and not through income, also in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and
EITF 93-7.

income tax refunds receivable were $15.4 million and $1.6 million at January 1, 2005 and January 3,
2004, respectively and are largely comprised of amounts due from European tax jurisdictions. These
amounts are included in Other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note 13. Pension Benefits and Postretirement Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor multiple defined benefit plans and other postretirement
benefit plans that cover certain employees. Benefits are primarily based on years of service and the
employee’s compensation. It is the Company’s policy to fund such plans in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. The following disclosures regarding defined benefit plans and other postretire-
ment benefit plans for the fiscal 2003 period reflect the combined data of the Successor for the ten
months ended January 3, 2004 with that of the Predecessor for the two months ended March 1, 2003.
The benefit obligations and related assets under these plans with respect to the 2004 disclosures have
been measured as of January 1, 2005.

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003

{In Thousands)
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year . .. .. $(12,482) $(13,774) $(76,932) $(61,425)
Additional benefit obligations . ... ............... — — — (3,566)
Service costs ... .. — (280) (2,361) (1,904)
Interestcosts . ....... ... ... . ... (784) (841) (4,231) (3,492)
Participant contributions . . . .. ....... ... ... ... .. — — {496) —
Plan amendments . ......... ... ... ... . ..... — — — —
Actuarial (loss)/gain . . ........ ... ... . . {1.098) 700 (7,080) 3,916
Currency translation adjustment and other .. ....... — — (6,211) (11,802)
Benefit payments. . . ....... .. ... .. L 1,925 953 2,543 1,341
Curtailment . . ... ... ... .. . (65) 760 — —
Projected benefit obligation atend of year. . .. ... ... $(12,504) $(12,482) $(94,768) $(76,932)
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U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003

(In Thousands)
Change in Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . ... ... $ 9121 $ 8,113 $71,141 §$ 57,064
Actual returnonplanassets. . .................. 881 1,223 3,705 1,971
Employer and plan participant contributions . ....... 1,247 738 6,447 1,864
Planamendments . ........ ... .. ... . ......... — — — —
Actuariai (loss)/gain . . ... ... . . — — — —
Benefitpayments. ... ........ .. .. ... .. ... (1,925) (953) (2,543) (1,341)
Currency translation adjustment and other . ........ — — 5,475 11,583
Fair value of plan assets atend of year. ... ... ..... $ 9324 $ 9,121 $84225 $71,141
Funded Status:

Funded status atyearend ..................... $ (3,180) $ (3,361) $(10,542) $ (5,791)
Unrecognized actuarial net (gain) loss ............ ‘ (493) (1,358) 4,573 (2,446)

Unrecognized transition net (liability) . . ............ — — _— —
Unrecognized net (gain)loss .. ................. — — — —
Unrecognized prior servicecost .. ............... — —

Currency translation adjustment and other ...... ... — — 105 (296)
Accrued benefit cost recognized . . .. ............. $ (3,673) $ (4,719) $ (5.864) $ (8,533)
Accumulated benefit obligation . .. ............ ... $12,504 $ 12,282 $85357 $ 63,333

The Company has plans whose fair value of plan assets exceeds the benefit obligation. in 2004 and
2003, the total amount netted in the funded status above for such ptans approximates $0.5 million and
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$0.4 million, réspectively. The total amount of prepaid benefit cost included in the net prepaid (accrued)
benefit cost recognized related to these plans approximates $0.5 million in 2004 and $0.4 million in 2003.

u.s. Non-U.S.

Postretirement Postretirement

Benefit Plans Benefit Plans

2004 2003 2004 2003

(In Thousands) (in Thousands)
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year. ... ... .. $(7,754) $(5,032) $(6,389) $(5,283)
Additional benefit obligations . . .. ............ ... . ... —  (2,464) — —
Service costs .. ... . L e (372) (301) (45) (27)
Interestcosts .. ... .. . (496) (428) (287) (362)
Participant contributions . . ..... ... ... ... o (52) (38) — —
Planamendments. . .. ... ... i 164 — — —
Actuarial (loss)/gain . ... ... . .. . e 101 342 1,431 (32)
Currency translation adjustment and other . ... ... ...... — — (386) (1,114)
Curailments. .. ... ... 4,623 — — —
Benefit payments ... ... ... . . e 314 167 394 429
Projected benefit obligation atend ofyear .. ........... $(3,472) $(7,754) $(5,282) $(6,389)
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year........... $ — 8% — 8 — & —
Actual returnon planassets ....................... — — — —
ACQUISItIoON . . . .. e e — — — —
Employer and plan participant contributions . . ....... ... 262 167 393 429
Planamendments. .. ... ... .. .. . o 52 — — —
Benefitpayments . ... ......... ... oo (314) (167) (393) (429)
Currency translation adjustment and other .. . .......... — — — —
Fair value of plan assets atend ofyear ............... $8 — 8% — 8% — & —
Funded Status: ‘
Funded status atyearend. ... ........ ... .. ... .. .. $(3,472) $(7,754) $(5,282) $(6,389)
Unrecognized actuarial net (gain) loss . ............... — — — —
Unrecognized transition net (liability) .. ............... — — — —
Unrecognized net (gain)loss. ......... ... . it (650) (271) (1,210) 32
Unrecognized prior service cost. .. . ... ... (164) _ — —
Currency translation adjustment and other ... ........ .. — —_ {100) 3
Accrued benefit cost recognized . ........... ... ... $(4,186) $(8,025) $(6,592) $(6,354)
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U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
{In Thousands, Except Percent Data)

Components of net periodic
benefit cost:

Current service costs . ... ... $ — $ 280 $ 295 $ 2362 $ 1,904 $ 2,061
Interest costs on projected
benefit obligation and other. 783 841 896 4,231 3,492 3,198
Return on pian assets . ... .. (881) (1,222) (856) (3,705) (1.972) (3,621)
Net amortization of transition
obligation and other . ... .. 299 (103) 533 (939) (1,470) 634
Periodic benefitcost, net .... $ 201 $ (204) $ 868 $ 1949 $ 1954 § 2272
Weighted average assumption
rates:
Return on pian assets ... ... 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 6.575% 6.580% 658.0%
Discount rate on projected
benefit obligations . ...... 6.0 6.5 6.5 5.25-6.1 5.7-6.5 5.7-6.5
Salary and-wage escalation
rate . ... N/A 4.0 5.0 2.0-3.0 2.5-3.0 2.5-3.0
Non-U.S.
U.S. Postretirement Postretirement
Benefit Plans Benefit Plans

2004 2003 2002 2004 2002 2002
(in Thousands, Except Percent Data)

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Current servicecosts. . . ................. $ 372 $301 $140 $ 45 $27 $ 11
Interest costs on projected benefit obligation

andother .......... ... .. ... . . .. ... 496 428 273 287 362 197
Plan amendment. ... ................... — — — — — 2,037
Net amortization of transition obligation,

curtailmentand other . .. ... ............ (4,445) (72) 13 (188) — 23
Periodic benefitcost, net . . ............... $(3,577) $657 $426 $ 144 $389 $2,268

Weighted average assumption rates:
Discount rate on projected benefit obligations . . 6.0% 65% 65% 6.0% 6.0% 6.5%

The assumed annual composite rate of increase in the per capita cost of Company provided health
care benefits are reflected in the following table:

Composite
Rate of

Year _Increase
2005 . e 10.0%
2006 ... 10.0%
2007 e e e 8.0%
2008 .. e e e e e e e e 8.0%
2009 and thereafter . . . .. .. . .. e 6.0%
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A one-percentage point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have increased
aggregate service and interest cost in 2004 by $0.6 million and the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation as of January 1, 2005 by $0.1 million. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed health
care cost trend rate would have decreased aggregate service and interest cost in 2004 by $0.5 million
and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of January 1, 2005 by $0.1 million.

The plan sponsor selects the expected long-term rate-of-return on assets assumption in consulta-
tion with their investment advisors and actuary. This rate is intended to reflect the average rate of
earnings expected to be earned on the funds invested or to be invested to provide plan benefits.
Historical performance is reviewed, especially with respect to real rates of return (net of inflation), for the
major asset classes held or anticipated to be held by the trust, and for the trust itself. Undue weight is not
given to recent experience, that may not continue over the measurement period, with higher significance
placed on current forecasts of future long-term economic conditions.

Because assets are held in a qualified trust, anticipated returns are not reduced for taxes. Further,
solely for this purpose, the plans are assumed to continue in force and not terminate during the period
during which assets are invested. However, consideration is given to the potential impact of current and
future investment policy, cash flow into and out of the trust, and expenses (both investment and
non-investment) typically paid from plan assets (to the extent such expenses are not explicitly estimated
within periodic cost).

The plans’ weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows:

2004 2003
Equity Securities . . .. ... . 72%  72%
Debt Securities .. ....... ... . . . . 18 17
Other . .o _10 n

TOAl . et 100%  100%

The trust funds are sufficiently diversified to maintain a reasonable level of risk without imprudently
sacrificing return, with a targeted asset allocation of 15%-20% fixed income debt securities, 70%-80%
equity securities and the remainder in cash or cash equivalents. The investment Manager selects
investment fund managers with demonstrated experience and expertise, and funds with demonstrated
historical performance, for the implementation of the Plans’ investment strategy. The Investment Man-
ager will consider both actively and passively managed investment strategies and will allocate funds
across the asset classes to develop an efficient investment structure.

It is the responsibility of the Trustee to administer the investments of the Trust within reasonable
costs, being careful to avoid sacrificing quality. These costs include, but are not limited to, management
and custodial fees, consulting fees, transaction costs and other administrative costs chargeable to the
Trust.

The Company’s practice is to fund amounts for its qualified pension plans at least sufficient to meet
the minimum requirements set forth in applicable employee benefit laws and local tax laws. Liabilities for
amounts in excess of these funding levels are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Employer
contributions to its pension plans in 2005 are expected to approximate $6.0 million.
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Expected Benefit Payments

The following table reflects the total benefits projected to be paid from the plans, or from the
Company’s general assets, under the current actuarial assumptions used for the calculation of the
projected benefit obligations and, therefore, may differ from projected benefit payments.

The expected level of payments to, or on the behalf of, participants is as follows (in thousands):

Pension Postretirement

2005 ... $ 4,007 $1,049
2008 ... 4,215 1,060
2007 . 4,443 1,125
2008 .. 4,916 540
2009 .. 5,109 539
2010-2014 . . .. 29,087 2,860

In December 2004, the Company approved amendments to various postretirement benefit plans
which curtailed or eliminated defined benefits previously available under the plans. The amendments as
adopted will eliminate, by January 1, 2008, the postretirement benefit plans for all current retirees of the
Company and substantially all active employees. The three-year phase-out period was granted to
provide current retirees and other eligible employees an acceptable period to transition to other alterna-
tive medical plans. In accordance with SFAS No. 106 “Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions” (as amended), the gain on the plan curtailments was recognized upon the
adoption of the plan amendments. The gain of $3.6 million was reported as a component of Cost of
goods sold and Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Opera-
tions in the amounts of $3.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (the “Act”) was enacted and introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as a
subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans. As permitted under FSP 106-1, the Company
made a one-time election to defer accounting for the effect of the Act until the authoritative guidance on
the accounting for the federal subsidy under the Act is issued. Given that the Company curtailed most of
its U.S. postretirement pians in 2004, it will likely not be eligible to receive the federal subsidy under the
Act. Accordingly, any measures of the periodic benefit cost, benefit obligation and related disclosures for
the U.S. and other postretirement benefit plans do not reflect the effect of the Act.

The Company sponsors several defined contribution plans through its domestic subsidiaries cover-
ing employees who meet certain service requirements. The Company makes contributions to the plans
based upon a percentage of the employees’ contribution in the case of its 401(k) plans or upon a
percentage of the employees’ salary or hourly wages in the case of its noncontributory money purchase
plans. The cost of the plans was $1.9 million, $3.0 million and $2.8 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

During 2002, the Company recorded charges of $2.6 million related to retiree pension and
post-retirement costs associated with certain Canadian benefit plans of Dominion Textiles, Inc. (“Domin-
jon”). Such costs were previously agreed to be shared with Galey & Lord, Inc. (“Galey”) under a Master
Separation Agreement, associated with the 1998 acquisition of Dominion, which was subsequently
rejected by Galey in fiscal 2002 as part of their bankruptcy proceedings. The Company has classified
these costs under the caption Other retirement costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for
fiscal 2002.
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Note 14. Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plans
Stock Option Plan—Successor Company

On December 11, 2003, the Company awarded the initial non-qualified stock options avaitable
under the 2003 Stock Option Plan (the “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan was approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors and shareholders and is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors. The options have a ten-year life and vest, based on the achievement of various service and
financial performance criteria, over a four-year period beginning January 4, 2004. As of January 1, 2005,
400,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2003
Plan of which 174,687 stock options are available for future grants.

The Company has elected to account for the 2003 Plan in accordance with the intrinsic value
method as prescribed by APB No. 25. All options granted under the 2003 Plan had an exercise price
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. However, as a
percentage of the options vest based on achievement of financial performance criteria, compensation
costs are recognized over the performance period when it becomes probable that such performance
criteria will be achieved.

The compensation cost related to the 2003 Plan for the year ended January 1, 2005 was $0.6 million
and was included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations. Had the compensation expense methodology defined in SFAS No. 123R been applied, the
Company's net earnings and earnings per common share would have been impacted as summarized in
the discussion of the Company’s stock-based compensation accounting policy in Note 2 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

The following table summarizes the option activity related to the 2003 Plan for the year ended
January 1, 2005 and the ten months ended January 3, 2004:

Ten Months
Ended
2004 January 3, 2004

Unexercised options outstanding—beginning of period . . . ... .. ... ... 240,000 —

Granted .. ... ... — 240,000

Exercised . . ... .. e — —

Forfeited . . . ... . . e e e 14,687 —

Expired/canceled .. ......... ... . . ... — —

Unexercised options outstanding—end of period . ................. 225,313 240,000
Exercisable options:

Exercisable optionsasofyearend . . .. ....... ... ... ... .. ..., — —

Shares available for future grantas ofyearend . . . .. ............. 174,687 160,000

Weighted average exercise price pershare . ..................... $ 6.00 $ 6.00

Stock Option Plan—Predecessor Company

The Predecessor’s stock option ptans included the 1996 Key Employee Stock Option Plan (the
1996 Plan™) and the 2001 Polymer Group Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”) that was approved by
the Predecessor’s Board of Directors and shareholders during 2001. The Stock Option Committee
selected the participants and determined the terms and conditions of the options. Each plan provided for
the issuance of 1.5 million shares of common stock. Options granted under the plans were either
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incentive stock options or such other forms of non-qualified stock options as the Stock Option Commit-
tee determined. Option prices were not less than the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant.
All stock options under these plans were canceled as part of the Company’s Modified Plan.

Restricted Stock Plan

In May 2004, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2004 Restricted Stock Plan for Directors
(the “Restricted Plan”), which expires in 2014, for issuance of restricted shares to Directors of the
Company, as defined in the Restricted Plan. The Restricted Plan approved for issuance 200,000
restricted shares and is administered by a committee of the Company’s Board of Directors not eligible to
receive restricted shares under the Restricted Plan. In 2004, the Company awarded 18,720 restricted
shares to members of the Company’s Board of Directors for their Board service to the Company and, as
further described in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 25,000 restricted shares were
awarded to the Company’s Chairman of the Board for consulting services. In fiscal 2004, the Company
charged compensation costs of $0.6 million to Selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the restricted shares awarded under the Restricted Plan. As of
January 1, 2005, 200,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were reserved for issuance
under the Restricted Plan, of which 156,280 shares are available for future grants.

Note 15. Series A Convertible Pay-in-kind Preferred Shares

In conjunction with the Company'’s refinancing in April 2004 of the Restructured Credit Facility, the
Company’s majority shareholder exchanged approximately $42.6 million in aggregate principal amount
of the Junior Notes it controlled for 42,633 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares. Also, during
2004, $10.1 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s Junior Notes were exchanged for
10,083 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares. Following this exchange, no Junior Notes
remained outstanding.

The dividends on the PIK Preferred Shares accrue at an annual rate of 16% and are payable
semi-annually in arrears on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2004, and are payable at the
option of the Company, (i} through the issuance of additional shares of PIK Preferred Stock; (ii) in cash;
or (ili) in a combination thereof. Dividends are cumulative and accrue from the most recent dividend
payment date to which dividends have been paid or, if no dividends have been paid, from the date of
original issuance.

On June 30, 2012, the Company must redeem all of the PIK Preferred Shares then outstanding at a
price equal to $1,000 per share plus $1,000 per share for all unpaid dividends thereon whether or not
declared, which amount will be payable by the Company (*“mandatory redemption price”), at the option
of the Company, (i) in cash; (i) through the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock; or (iii) through
a combination thereof. If paid in stock, the number of shares to be delivered by the Company will be the
mandatory redemption price (as defined earlier) divided by the then market price of a share of Class A
Common Stock.

At any time prior to June 30, 2012, the holders of the PIK Preferred Shares may elect to convert any,
or all, of their PIK Preferred Shares into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at a conversion
price equal to $7.29 per share. Also, at any time prior to June 30, 2012, provided certain conditions have
been met, the Company may elect to redeem the shares, which redemption price may be paid by the
Company, at the option of the Company, (i) in cash; (ii) through the issuance of shares of Class A
Common Stock; or (i) through a combination thereof. If paid in stock, the number of shares to be
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delivered by the Company will be the optional redemption price (as defined by the preferred stock
agreement) divided by the then market price of a share of Class A Common Stock.

In January 2005, the Company declared a dividend of approximately $5.6 million, payable in the
form of additional PIK Preferred Shares to holders of record as of December 15, 2004. Accordingly, the
accrued dividends at January 1, 2005 are included as a component of the Company’s PIK Preferred
Shares in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Note 16. Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage market risks and reduce its exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates. All hedging transactions are authorized and executed under clearly
defined policies and procedures, which prohibit the use of financial instruments for trading purposes.
SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities (an Amendment of SFAS No. 133),” requires the Company to recognize all
derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value and establish criteria for designation and effectiveness of
hedging relationships.

The Company uses interest-rate derivative instruments to manage its exposure related to move-
ments in interest rates with respect to its debt instruments. As indicated in Note 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, to mitigate its interest rate exposure as required by the Bank Facility, the Company
entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap, thus effectively converting the interest
payments associated with approximately 50% of the debt to fixed amounts at a LIBOR rate of 3.383%. As
of January 1, 2005, the notional amount of these contracts, which expire on May 8, 2007, was $212.5 mil-
lion. Cash settlements are made quarterly and the floating rate is reset quarterly, coinciding with the reset
dates of the Bank Facility debt.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, the Company designated the swap as a cash flow hedge of the
variability of interest payments under the senior secured term loans and applied the shortcut method of
assessing effectiveness. The agreement’s terms ensure complete effectiveness in offsetting the interest
component associated with the Bank Facility. As such, there is no ineffectiveness and changes in the fair
value of the swap are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The fair value of the interest rate swap as of January 1, 2005 of $0.3 million was based
on current settlement values and was included in Other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

The impact of these swaps on Interest expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
for fiscal 2004 was an increase of $2.4 million. In 2003 and 2002, there were no interest rate swap
agreements.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company used foreign currency options to establish a
predictable range for the movements of the Euro in an effort to protect its European operations from the
impact of a sudden change in the Euro. Approximately $0.3 million of expense was included in Foreign
currency and other in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal 2004. In 2003 and 2002, there
were no foreign exchange option transactions. The fair market value of the outstanding currency option
as of January 1, 2005 of $0.1 million was based on the actual settlement value and was included in Other
current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Note 17. Shareholders’ Equity

As of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, the Company’s authorized capital stock consisted of the
following classes of stock:

Type Par Value Authorlzed Shares
Preferredstock . .................. ... e $.01 173,000
Class Acommonstock ............ ... ...... $.01 39,200,000
Class B convertible common stock . . . ........... $.01 800,000
Class C convertible common stock. . ............ $.01 118,453
Class D convertible common stock . . ............ $.01 498,688
Class E convertible common stock . . ............ $.01 523,557

All classes of the common stock have similar voting rights. In accordance with the Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Class C common stock has special rights to annual dividends and
all shares of Class B, C, D and E common stock may be converted into an equal number of shares of
Class A common stock. The shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time with such
designation, preferences, participation rights and optional or special rights (including, but not limited to,
dividend rates, voting rights, maturity dates and the like) as determined by the Board of Directors. See
Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information related to the Company’s
PIK Preferred Shares.

In April 2004, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina resolved certain
pending claims filed against the Company in connection with the Modified Plan and, as a resulft,
approved the issuance of 1,327,177 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and 19,359
shares of the Company’s Class C Common Stock which were issued on a pro rata basis to holders of the
Predecessor Company’s Class 4 General Unsecured Claims per the Predecessor Company's Chapter
11 Plan of Reorganization. If these shares had been outstanding for all Successor periods presented, the
pro forma net loss per common share for the year ended January 1, 2005 and the ten months ended
January 3, 2004 would have been $(0.08) per share and $(3.30) per share, respectively.

Note 18. Segment Information

The Company’s reportable segments consist of its primary operating divisions—Nonwovens and
Oriented Polymers. This reflects how the overall business is managed on a regular basis by the
Company’s senior management and the Board of Directors. Each of these businesses sells to different
end-use markets, such as hygiene, medical, wipes, industrial and specialty markets. Sales to P&G
accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s sales in each of the three years ended January 1, 2005.
Sales to this customer are reported primarily in the Nonwovens segment and the loss of these sales
would have a material adverse effect on this segment. The Company recorded charges and/orincome in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the fiscal year 2004, the ten months ended January 3,
2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year 2002 relating to asset impairment, plant
realignment, arbitration settlement, net, financial restructuring expenses and other retirement costs,
which have not been allocated to the segment data.
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Financial data by segment is as follows (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Ended Two Months Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002
Net sales
Nonwovens ................ $ 672,600 $ 515,735 $ 108,359 $ 608,232
Oriented Polymers ........... 172,541 129,683 24,536 146,205
Eliminations .. .............. (407) (525) — —
$ 844,734 $ 644,893 $ 132,895 $ 754,437
Operating income
Nonwovens ................ $ 60,356 $ 38,856 $ 7,759 $ 32,379
Oriented Polymers ........... 12,699 8,489 1,465 6,698
Unallocated Corporate ........ (18,958) (12,648) (3,509) (20,5086)
Eliminations . ............... 203 124 115 12
54,299 34,821 5,830 18,583
Asset impairment .. .......... (2,253) (1,207) — (317,898)
Plant realignment .. ........... (1,867) {6,802) (4) (1,054)
Arbitration settlement, net . ... .. 13,112 — — —
-Othercharges .............. — — — (6,242)
$ 63,291 $ 26,812 $ 5826 $ (308,611)
Depreciation and amortization
expense included in operating
income (loss)
Nonwovens ................ $ 41,923 $ 34,283 $ 5,766 $ 55935
Oriented Polymers . .......... 8,217 6,912 1,349 8,347
Unallocated Corporate . ....... 1,120 (272) 272 57
Eliminations ................ — 125 — —_
$ 51,260 $ 41,048 $ 7,387 $ 64,339
Capital spending
Nonwovens ................ $ 23,766 $ 32,836 $ 2,732 $ 13,088
Oriented Polymers .. ......... 1,025 3,828 330 2,291
Corporate. .. ............... — 11 — —_
$ 24,791 $ 36,675 $ 3,082 $ 15,379
Division assets
Nonwovens ................ $ 716,532 $ 706,347 $ 950,473
Oriented Polymers .. ......... 148,188 147,075 159,445
Corporate. . ................ 16,191 7,039 2,567,353
Eliminations . ............... (127,558) (141,399) (2,865,952)
$ 753,353 $ 719,062 $ 811,319
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Geographic Data:

Export sales from the Company’s United States operations to unaffiliated customers approximated
$60.2 million, $61.5 million and $70.2 million during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Geographic data
for the Company’s operations, based on the geographic region that the sale is made from, are presented
in the following table (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Ended Two Months Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002
Net sales
UnitedStates . . ............... $381,421 $289,064 $ 60,219 $ 360,216
Canada ..................... 111,591 88,088 16,416 97,058
Europe ............ ... ..., 190,470 152,608 33,631 175,794
Asia........ ... 32,384 26,730 4,773 25,374
Latin America. . ............... 128,868 88,403 17,856 95,995
$844,734 $644,893 $132,895 $ 754,437
Operating income
UnitedStates . . ............... $ 3,402 $ 895 $ (1,582) $ (22,025)
Canada . .................... 5,491 4,152 1,233 5,788
Europe .......... ... ... ..... 17,384 12,176 2,330 12,952
Asia. ... .. e 3,442 3,075 848 4,211
Latin America. . ............... 24,580 14,523 3,001 17,657
54,299 34,821 5,830 18,583
Assetimpairment .. ............ (2,253) (1,207) — (317,898)
Plant realignment . .. ........... (1,867) (6,802) 4) (1,054)
Arbitration settlement, net . .. ... .. 13,112 — — ‘ —
Specialcharges . .............. — — — (6,242)
$ 63,291 $ 26,812 $ 5,826 $(306,611)
Depreciation and amortization expense
included in operating income (loss)
United States . . . .............. $ 24,240 $ 20,880 $ 3,658 $ 39,469
Canada . .................... 6,015 5,045 950 5,392
Europe ........ ... ... ... ... 8,862 6,991 1,166 9,678
Asia......... ... ... o 4,014 3,141 628 3,569
Latin America. . ............... 8,129 4,989 985 6,231
$ 51,260 $ 41,048 $ 7,387 $ 64,339
Identifiable assets (including intangible
assets)
United States . . ............... $165,264 $153,437 $ 374,705
Canada . .................... 99,382 106,428 110,181
Europe ..................... 294,811 279,269 159,637
Asia. . ... i e 35,996 37,987 39,643
Latin America................. 157,900 141,941 127,153

$753,353 $719,062 $ 811,319
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Note 19. Foreign Currency and Other

Foreign currency and other consists of the following (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Ended  Two Months Ended
2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Foreign currency losses. . . . . $3,073 $3,745 $1,814 $ 8,598
Loan acquisition cost write-off

related to Restructured

Credit Facility. . .. ....... 5,022 — — —_
Write-down of investment in

jointventure ........... — — — 4,400
Other,net . .............. (379) 2,063 (380) 1,021

$7,716 $5,808 $1,434 $14,019

During fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a $4.4 million charge in the Consoclidated Statements of
Operations for the write-down of its 45% minority position in a start-up nonwovens production line in
Saudi Arabia (the “Saudi Line”). The investment represented the Company’s funding of its pro-rata
share of the construction costs of the Saudi Line. The write-down was necessary when it became
apparent that an agreement could not be reached between the Company and its partner concerning
ownership and operation of the Saudi Line. The Company has settled this issue and no ionger has any
investment interest in the Saudi Line. ‘

Note 20. Commitments and Contingencies
Non-affiliate Leases

The Company leases certain manufacturing, warehousing and other facilities and equipment under
operating leases. The leases on most of the properties contain renewal provisions. Rent expense (net of
sub-lease income), including incidental leases, approximated $4.0 million, $3.2 million and $5.9 million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. For the Successor ten month period and the Predecessor two
month period of 2003, the rental expense was $2.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively. Rental income
approximated $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $1.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The Company sold its South
Brunswick facility in December 2002. Prior to this transaction, the Company leased the entire facility to a
non-affiliated third party (‘“Medicia”) and then sub-leased a portion of the facility back from Medicia for
use as administrative office space within the Nonwovens Division and corporate. The approximate net
minimum rental payments required under non-affiliate operating leases that have initial or remaining
non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at January 1, 2005 are presented in the following table.
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See Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of leases between the Company
and affiliated entities. ,

Gross Lease Net
Minimum and Minimum
Rentai Sub-Lease Rentai
Payments (Income) Payments

(In Thousands)

2005 . .ttt $2,523  $ (226) $2,297
2006 .+ oot 1,779 — 1,779
2007 © oot e 887 — 887
2008 . oottt 554 — 554
2009 .\t 353 — 353

$6,006 $ (226)  $5,870

Purchase Commitments

At January 1, 2005, the Company had commitments of approximately $29.6 million related to the
purchase of raw materials, maintenance and converting services. Additionally, as part of its efforts to
enhance the business, the Company has made commitments to expand its worldwide capacity. Cur-
rently, the Company has several major committed projects, including the installation of a new line in Cali,
Colombia, an adhesive bond line in Nanhai, China and line enhancements in Benson, North Carolina.
These commitments and other minor projects total approximately $22.0 million at January 1, 2005.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

At January 1, 2005, the Company had approximately 3,233 employees worldwide. Approximately
1,399 employees are represented by labor unions or trade councils, which have entered into separate
collective bargaining agreements with the Company. Approximately 29% of the Company’s labor force is
covered by collective bargaining agreements that will expire within one year.

Environmental

The Company is subject to a broad range of federal, foreign, state and local laws and regulations
relating to pollution and protection of the environment. The Company believes that it is currently in
substantial compliance with applicable environmental requirements and does not currently anticipate
any material adverse effect on its operations, financial or competitive position as a result of its efforts to
comply with environmental requirements.

Litigation

On August 18, 2003 an affiliate (" Affiliate”) of the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company filed
a claim seeking damages associated with a lease agreement and an alleged services agreement,
between the Company and the Affiliate, associated with the lease by the Company of its former
corporate headquarters and the provision of shared administrative services. The damages sought in the
complaint total $7.7 million, plus attorney’s fees. The claim is currently in the discovery phase and the
Company intends to vigorously defend this action and believes that the ultimate outcome will not have a
material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.
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On Aprit 23, 2002, the Company filed a demand for arbitration against Johnson & Johnson (“J&J").
The primary issue in the arbitration was the Company's assertion that J&J breached a supply agreement
when J&J and certain of its affiliates failed to purchase certain products from the Company and to aliow
the Company a reasonable opportunity to compete for certain sales. On June 28, 2004, the Company
entered into a new supply agreement with a subsidiary of J&J. The Company also ended the arbitration
and received approximately $17.0 million from J&J as settlement of the arbitration issues. Net settiement
proceeds of $13.1 million, after providing for $3.9 million of costs and expenses associated with the
arbitration, were included in Arbitration settlement, net in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for
the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005.

Note 21. Related Party Transactions

The Company leased office space, previously serving as the Company's corporate headquarters,
from an affiliate of the former Chief Executive Officer of the Company through August 31, 2003 at an
approximate annual rental charge of $0.2 million. Shared service costs were charged to the Company
and approximated $0.6 million and $0.8 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company is currently
involved in litigation with the aforementioned affiliate of the former Chief Executive Officer with respect to
the lease and shared services. See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
details.

During 20083, the Company reached an agreement with its former Chief Executive Officer and with its
former Chief Financial Officer related to the termination of their management roles with the Company
and the settlement of compensation matters. These agreements resulted in the payments to the former
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of $3.7 million and $2.3 million, respectively, and have
been accounted for as fair value adjustments in fresh start accounting.

The Company executed a consdulting agreement in December 2004 with the Chairman of the Board
of Directors to provide certain consulting services as an independent contractor on a month-to-month
basis. The consulting agreement provides for payment of $20,000 per month plus the issuance of 25,000
shares of the Company’s restricted shares authorized pursuant to the Restricted Plan. Compensation
expense recognized with respect to the consulting agreement during 2004 totaled $0.4 million and is
included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Note 22. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial data for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005, the ten months ended January 3,
2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 is presented below (amounts in thousands, except for per
share data). All 2004 and 2003 fiscal quarters were comprised of 13 weeks, except for the fourth quarter
of 2003 which was comprised of 14 weeks, and include the reclassification of customer rebates,
promational incentives and freight billed to customers, as discussed in Note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Quarterly data for fiscal 2004:

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter  First Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
January 1, 2005 October 2, 2004 July 3, 2004 April 3, 2004

Operating data:

Netsales ..................... $223,535 $204,554 $210,403 $206,242
Grossprofit. .. ................. 43,173 35,534 36,779 37,976
Net income (loss) ............... 8,375 (596) 5,723 (8,770)
Accrued dividends on PIK Preferred

Shares. . ......... ... ........ 2,342 1,953 1,271 —
income (loss) applicable to common

shareholders ................. 6,033 (2,549) 4,452 (8,770)
Income (loss) per common share—

basic............... ... .. ... $ 058 $ (0.25) $ 045 $ (1.00)
Income (loss) per common share—

diluted . . ......... ... ... $ 046 $ (0.25) $ 036 $ (1.00)

The fourth quarter of 2004 includes a curtaiiment gain of $3.6 million related to amendments to
various postretirement benefit plans as described in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recognized an income tax benefit of $0.2 million.
The effective tax rate for the quarter was favorably impacted by profits generated in certain jurisdictions
which experienced losses in previous periods for which no tax benefit had been realized, as well as an
adjustment for excess tax accruals in previous quarters.

Quarterly data for fiscal 2003:

Successor Predecessor
Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter One Month Two Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended

January 3, 2004  September 27, 2003 June 28, 2003 March 29, 2003 March 1, 2003

Operating data:

Net sales....... $197,327 $184,753 $198,648 $ 64,165 $132,895
Gross profit . .. .. 35,886 32,535 33,570 11,512 21,785
Net income (loss) . (18,257) (7,264) (11,115) (1,349) 532,364
Net income (loss)

per common

share—basic

and diluted . ...  $ (1.53) $ (0.84) $  (1.29) $ (0.16) $ 16,63
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Note 23. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash payments of interest and taxes consist of the following (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor
Ten Months Two Months
Ended Ended

2004 January 3, 2004 March 1, 2003 2002

Cash payments of interest, net of amounts
capitalized ... ........ ... ... ... ... $37,764 $42,066 $12,409 $42,179
Cash payments of income taxes, net of refunds . 6,827 6,102 1,120 5,501

Noncash transactions in 2004 included (i) the issuance of 1,327,177 shares of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock and 19,359 shares of the Company’s Class C Common Stock in accordance
with the ruling of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina, (ii) the conversion
of $2.7 million of the Company’s Junior Notes into approximately 371,382 shares of the Company’s
Class A Common Stock, (iii) the exchange of $42.6 million of the Company’s Junior Notes into approxi-
mately 42,633 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares, (iv) the exchange of $10.1 million of the
Company’s Junior Notes into approximately 10,083 shares of the Company’s PIK Preferred Shares and
6,719 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock, (v) the payment in kind in lieu of cash payment
of $1.8 million of interest expense on the Junior Notes and (vi) the payment in kind in lieu of cash
payment of $5.6 million of dividends on the PIK Preferred Shares.

Noncash transactions in 2003 included the payment in kind in lieu of cash payment of $3.7 million of
interest expense on the Junior Notes.
Note 24. Subsequent Events

On March 16, 2005, the Company entered into an amendment to the Bank Facility. The amendment
generally provides the Company with additional financial flexibility relative to capital expenditures for
2005 and 2006 and refinements to the excess cash flow definition, which provide the Company with full
credit for any prepayments of debt under the Bank Facility.

Additionally, on March 22, 2005, the Company announced that it will install a new spunmelt line at its
Mooresville, North Caraclina facility.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company evalu-
ated its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of January 1, 2005.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended January 1, 2005 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Man-
agement” in the definitive proxy materials of the Company, which information is incorporated herein by
reference.

Information on the beneficial ownership reporting for the Company’s directors and executive
officers is contained under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in
the definitive proxy materials of the Company, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Information on the Company’s Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert is set forth
under the caption “Information About the Board of Directors” in the definitive proxy materials of the
Company, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has a Code of Conduct that applies to all officers and employees, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other key financial and accounting
officers. The Code of Conduct can be found on the Investors’ page of the Company'’s publicly-available
website (www.polymergroupinc.com). The Company will post any amendments to the Code of Conduct,
and any waivers that are required to be disclosed by SEC regulations, on the Company’s website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required under this Item is set forth under the captions “Executive Compensation’ and
“Compensation of Directors” in the definitive proxy materials of the Company, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required under this Item is set forth under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters' in the definitive proxy materials
of the Company, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table provides certain information as of January 1, 2005 with respect to our equity
compensation plans:

(a) (b)

-
Number of securities

Number of securities Weighted-average remaining available for
to be issued upon exercise price future issuance under
exercise of of outstanding equity compensation plans
outstanding options, options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 225,313 $ 86.00 174,687
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders — — —
Total. ................... 225,313 $ 6.00 174,687

- ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information required under this ltem is set forth under the caption “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” in the definitive proxy materials of the Company, which information is incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

information required under this ltem is set forth under the caption “Fees Paid to Ernst & Young LLP”
in the definitive proxy materials of the Company, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements and report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm required by this [tem are filed herewith under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

* Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
* Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004.

« Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005, the ten months
ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year ended Decem-
ber 28, 2002.

* Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficity and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005, the ten months ended January 3, 2004,
the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.

» Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005, the ten months
ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year ended Decem-
ber 28, 2002.

* Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2005, the ten
months ended January 3, 2004, the two months ended March 1, 2003 and the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2002,

{a) 2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (“Schedule II'). Supplemental schedules other
than Schedule 1l are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or
because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or in the notes
thereto.

(a) 3. Exhibits

The accompanying Exhibit Index beginning on page 87 hereof sets forth the Exhibits that are both
filed and incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Document Description

2.1

2.2

3.1
3.2
41

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

47

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

Amended Modified Joint Plan of Reorganization of Polymer Group, Inc. and its Affiliated
Debtors dated November 25, 2002.(1)

Confirmation Order entered by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South
Carolina dated January 16, 2003.(2)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.(3)
Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company.(4)

Indenture, dated as of March 5, 2003, among the Polymer Group, Inc., the Guarantors named
therein and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee.(5)*

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 30, 2003, among Polymer Group, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and Wilmington Trust Company, a
Delaware banking corporation, as trustee.(6)*

Senior Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement (the “Note Purchase Agreement”), among
Polymer Group, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and MatlinPatterson Global Opportunities
Partners L.P(7)

Amendment No. 1 to the Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 30, 2003 to the Note
Purchase Agreement.(8)*

Certificate of Designation, Powers, Preferences And Rights Of 16% Series A Convertible Pay-
In-Kind Preferred Stock of Polymer Group, Inc.(9)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Polymer Group, Inc.(10)
Amendment No. 1 to Shareholders Agreement

Credit Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2004 among Polymer Group, Inc., as Borrower, the
Lenders referred to therein, Citicorp North America, Inc., as Administrative Agent,
Documentation Agent, First Lien Collateral Agent, Second Lien Collateral Agent and
Syndication Agent, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole
Bookrunner.(11)

Security Agreement by Polymer Group, Inc., and the domestic subsidiaries party thereto, as
Grantors, and Citicorp North America, Inc., as First Lien Collateral Agent and as Second Lien
Collateral Agent, dated as of April 27, 2004.(12)

Pledge Agreement by Polymer Group, Inc., and the domestic subsidiaries party thereto, as
pledgors, and Citicorp North America, Inc., as first lien collateral agent and as second lien
collateral agent, dated as cof April 27, 2004.(13)

Guarantee Agreement dated as of April 27, 2004, among each of the subsidiaries listed on
Schedule | thereto of Polymer Group, Inc., and Citicorp North America, Inc., as First Lien
Collateral Agent, Second Lien Collateral Agent and Administrative Agent. Third Amended,
Restated and Consolidated Credit Agreement, dated March 5, 2003, by and among the
Company, the Guarantors named therein, the lenders named therein and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, as agent.(14)

Shareholders Agreement, dated March 5, 2003, among Polymer Group, Inc. and Matlin
Patterson Global Opportunities Partners L.P.(15)
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Exhibit
Number Document Description

10.6  Letter Agreement, dated April 11, 2003, between Polymer Group, Inc. and MatlinPatterson
Global Opportunities Partners L.P.(16)

10.7  Master Separation Agreement, among Polymer Group, Inc., Galey & Lord, Inc. and DT
Acquisition Inc., dated January 29, 1998.(17)

10.8  Consulting Agreement executed on December 15, 2004 between Polymer Group, Inc. and
William B. Hewitt (effective as of December 9, 2004).(18)

10.9  Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement(19)
21 List of Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes—OxIey. Act of
2002 -

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.1 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

32.2  Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(1) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2004.

{(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2004.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on November 12, 2003.

(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with
the SEC on May 19, 2003 (the “First Quarter 2003 10-Q").

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the First Quarter 2003 10-Q.

(8) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11 of Schedule 13D/A filed by MatlinPatterson Global Opportu-
nities Partners L.P, MatlinPatterson Global Opportunities Partners (Bermuda) L.P, MatlinPatterson
Global Opportunities Partners B, L.P, MatlinPatterson Global Advisers LLC, MatlinPatterson Global
Partners LLC, MatlinPatterson Asset Management LLC, MatlinPatterson LLC, Mark R. Patterson,
and David J. Matlin with respect to the Company on June 5, 2003 (the “Schedule 13D").

(7} Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the First Quarter 2003 10-Q.
(8) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Schedule 13D.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on April 30, 2004 (the “April 30 8-K”).

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the April 30 8-K.

(10)
(11)
(12) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the April 30 8-K.
(13) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the April 30 8-K.
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Exhibit
Number Document Description

{14) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the April 30 8-K.

(15) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the First Quarter 10-Q.
(16) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the First Quarter 10-Q.
(17)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with
the SEC on April 14, 1998.

(18} Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 17, 2004.

(19) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on March 21, 2005.

All of the Senior Subordinated Notes have been retired and therefore there are no obligations
remaining under the related documents. These documents are filed as exhibits to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Item 601 (b)(10) of Regulation S-K which requires the filing of every
material agreement that was entered into not more than two years before the filing of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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POLYMER GROUP, INC.
SCHEDULE 1I—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in Thousands)

COLUMN A COLUMN B COLUMN C COLUMND COLUMNE
ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS
Charged to
Balance at Charged To other Balance at
beginning of  costs and accounts end of
Description period expenses (Describe) (Describe) period
Successor:
Fiscal Year ended January 1, 2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts. .. $ 13,570 (1,427)(1)  869(4) 2,082(2) $ 10,930
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets . ........... . ... . ... 100,751 3,103 — — 103,854
Plant realignment ............. 4,564 1,867 39 5,909(3) 561
Ten months ended January 3,
2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ..  $ 13,394 1,670 408(4) 1,902(2) $ 13,570
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets . ......... .. ... . ... 85,677 10,651 — (4,423)(4)(6) 100,751
Plant realignment .. ........... 785 6,802 — 3,023(3) 4,564
Predecessor:
Two months ended March 1, 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . 12,945 507 120(4) 178(2) 13,394
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets . . ... 160,614 5,699 — 80,636(5) 85,677
Plant realignment . ............ 893 4 1,158(5) 1,270(3) 785
Fiscal Year ended December 28,
2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts ... $ 11,998 2,769 40 1,862(2) $ 12,945
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets . ............ ... ..., 57,088 105,505 — 1,979(4) 160,614
Plant realignment ............. 6,242 1,054 — 6,403(3) 893

(1) Reserve adjustments of $2,577, net of current year provision of $1,150.
(2) Uncollectible accounts written-off and price concessions.

{3) Cash payments and adjustments.

(4) Foreign currency translation adjustments.

(5) Fresh start adjustment.

(6) Basis study adjustment.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

PoLyMER GROUP, INC.

Date: March 29, 2005 By: /s/ JAMES L. SCHAEFFER
James L. Schaeffer

Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 29, 2005 By: /s/ WiLLis C. MooRe I

Willis C. Moore Il
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been

signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities indicated on
March 29, 2004.

Signature Title

/s/ JAMES L. SCHAEFFER
James L. Schaeffer

Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ WiLLIaM B. HEWITT
William B. Hewitt

Chairman of the Board of Directors

/s/ PEDRO ARIAS

; Director
Pedro Arias
/s/ RAMON BETOLAZA )
Director
Ramon Betolaza
/s/ Lap WalI CHAN i
X Director
Lap Wai Chan
/s/ EUGENE LINDEN )
- Director
Eugene Linden
/s/ JAMES OVENDEN .
Director
James Ovenden
/s/ MICHAEL WATZKY )
- Director
Michael Watzky
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James L. Schaeffer, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Polymer Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum-
stances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial report-
ing that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua-
tion of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commit-
tee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis-
trant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2005 /s/ JAMES L. SCHAEFFER

James L. Schaeffer
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Willis C. Moore Ill, certify that:

1.
2,

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Polymer Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum-
stances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this repont, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal controi over financial report-
ing that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reascnably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua-
tion of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commit-
tee of the registrant’'s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regis-
trant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2005 - s/ WiLuis C. Moore, Hll

Willis C. Moore, Il
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

Cetrtification Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Polymer Group, Inc. (the “Company’’) on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 1, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ‘Report”), |, James L. Schaeffer, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully compiies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 29, 2005 /s/ JAMES L. SCHAEFFER

James L. Schaeffer
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant To 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Polymer Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 1, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report™}, |, Willis C. Moore lll, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuantto 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

{2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 29, 2005 /s/ WiLuts C. Moore, il

Willis C. Moore, lll
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.
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